Minnesota State University, Mankato



Cornerstone: A Collection of Scholarly and Creative Works for Minnesota State University, Mankato

All Graduate Theses, Dissertations, and Other **Capstone Projects**

Graduate Theses, Dissertations, and Other **Capstone Projects**

2024

Prompting and Protecting Radical Environmental Justice Activism

Ava Corey-Gruenes Minnesota State University, Mankato

Follow this and additional works at: https://cornerstone.lib.mnsu.edu/etds



Part of the Gender and Sexuality Commons

Recommended Citation

Corey-Gruenes, Ava. (2024). Prompting and Protecting Radical Environmental Justice Activism [Master's thesis, Minnesota State University, Mankato]. Cornerstone: A Collection of Scholarly and Creative Works for Minnesota State University, Mankato. https://cornerstone.lib.mnsu.edu/etds/1444/

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by the Graduate Theses, Dissertations, and Other Capstone Projects at Cornerstone: A Collection of Scholarly and Creative Works for Minnesota State University, Mankato. It has been accepted for inclusion in All Graduate Theses, Dissertations, and Other Capstone Projects by an authorized administrator of Cornerstone: A Collection of Scholarly and Creative Works for Minnesota State University, Mankato.

Prompting and Protecting Radical Environmental Justice Activism

By Ava Corey-Gruenes

A Thesis Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Master of Arts in Gender & Women's Studies

> Minnesota State University, Mankato Mankato, Minnesota April 2024

Dr. Paul Prew (Committee Member)

April 29 th , 2024	
Prompting and Protecting Radical Environmental Just	cice Activism
Ava Corey-Gruenes	
This thesis has been examined and approved by the fo	ollowing members of the student's
committee.	
	Dr. Laura Harrison (Advisor
	Dr. Yalda Hamidi (Committee Member

Acknowledgments

I want to thank all defenders of the earth and its inhabitants. Capitalism would have destroyed everything by now if it weren't for the speed bumps you've built. Thank you for your enormous sacrifices. I hope that one day you will rest without worry.

I want to thank Dr. Laura Harrison, my thesis advisor, for your patience and flexibility, invaluable feedback and guidance, and constant encouragement throughout this process. I appreciate all the time you spent making this research better. I want to thank Dr. Yalda Hamidi, my undergraduate advisor and thesis committee member. You work too hard for your students, which benefits me time after time. Your support has been so valuable to me. To Dr. Paul Prew, my committee member and informal advisor, thank you for helping me sort out environmental and economic theory, and for your crucial guidance in designing this study. I appreciate my discussions with each of my academic supporters so immensely, and I have learned so much from each of you. Thank you.

Thank you to my family. Thank you, Jenny, for trying to help me figure out when to use "that" vs "which," (I still don't get it, it feels subjective), and for raising me and listening to my many frustrations. Thank you, Jeremy, for showing me how to complain about how everyone in charge of anything is always evil. This is my favorite thing to complain about (see: pages 1-167 of this document). Thank you to Rosa for warning me (sometimes) before I do things that would compel people to make fun of me. Thank you to Pratyush, for saying what no one else will, and more importantly, saying it in style. I want to thank my cats: Marie, Pitsy, Eleanor, Leila, and Mio. You are each a different platonic ideal of a cat. I especially want to thank Leila for loving me and hating everyone else. She has no idea what it does for my ego.

Table of Contents

Prompting and Protecting Radical Environmental Justice Activism	i
Acknowledgments	ii
Abstract	v
Chapter 1: Introduction	1
Chapter 2: Literature Review	5
Schools of Environmental Theory and Activism	6
Intersectional and Single-Issue Change-Making	6
Individual and Systemic Change-Making.	10
Extreme and Palatable Change-Making	16
Drivers and Inhibitors of Pro-Environmental Behavior and Activism	20
Internal Factors	21
Situational Factors	28
Chapter 3: Methods and Methodology	38
Methods	38
Methodology	41
Limitations	43
Reflexivity	44
Chapter 4: Results and Analysis	47
Prompting and Sustaining Activism and Theory	48
Experiences with Nature, Its Destruction, and Its Protection	48
Moral Emotions: Anger, Guilt, Shame, Responsibility, Moral Obligation vs Delegation, Complacency	
Anticipatory Emotions: Hope, Trust, Fear, and Expectations	59
Personality and Practices: Openness, Creativity, Empathy, Independence, Motivation, Intention, and Locus of Control	66
Social Support	
Knowledge and (College) Education	
Barriers to Activism and Theory	
Institutional Backlash and Co-optation	
Social Backlash and Lack of Support	
Burnout: Time, Energy, Money, and Employment	
Lack of Physical Access to Activist Spaces: Pandemic, Disability, and Transportation	
Theoretical Perceptions	

Extreme and Palatable Activism	93
Intersectional and Single-Issue Environmentalism	100
Individual and Systemic Activism	107
Conclusion	112
Appendices	119
Appendix A: Aggregated Participant Demographic Data	119
Appendix B: Individual Participant Demographics Responses	120
Appendix C: Consent Form and Demographics Survey	121
Appendix D: Interview Questionnaire Guide	129
Bibliography (Chicago Notes/Bibliography)	132

Prompting and Protecting Radical Environmental Justice Activism

Ava Corey-Gruenes

A Thesis Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Master of Arts in Gender & Women's Studies

Minnesota State University, Mankato Mankato, Minnesota April 2024

Abstract

As environmental crises are systemic, intersectional, and extreme, this thesis frames corresponding action as a necessary and appropriate response. Using semi-structured interviews with people who identified as having engaged in radical environmental justice (EJ) activism, this study explores the following two research questions: the types of environmental actions and attitudes these activists report engaging in, and the types of factors and experiences they report as inhibiting and encouraging those actions and attitudes. This information might help unearth actions and policies that can help prompt, sustain, and protect engagement in radical EJ activism, which is here defined as activism that addresses environmental issues "at the root" and is systemic, intersectional, and extreme. While some research investigates factors associated with environmental activism, there is almost no research on the factors associated with radical EJ activism specifically. Participants in this study cited several internal factors, such as environmental knowledge (particularly about environmental issues and activism strategies), emotions (particularly anticipatory and moral), and several personality and practice-based traits that influence their engagement in radical EJ activism. More commonly and consistently, participants cited situational factors, in particular, direct experiences with nature, its destruction, and its protection, social support and a lack thereof, burnout (including temporal, energy/emotional, financial, and professional costs of activism), and institutional backlash and cooptation as influencing their activism. Participants also shared tips for prompting and sustaining radical EJ activism, including tips on how to palatably present radical ideas, mitigate organizational conflict, and make space for a diversity of tactics within the movement.

Chapter 1: Introduction

Environmental activists worldwide face a stark reality; protecting the planet can come at a heavy cost. Le Billon and Lujla found between 2002 and 2018, upwards of 1734 "environmental and land defenders" were murdered globally, and that "income level, foreign direct investment, dependency on mineral extraction, regime type, frequency of protest movements, and size of Indigenous populations" were the national "determinants of killings." ² Indigenous people were most vulnerable, composing almost 1/3 of eco-defenders murdered. ³ Environmental activists interviewed for this study reported experiencing varying levels of backlash for their activism and described barriers that made it impossible or extremely difficult to do activism. Despite these barriers to activism, environmental crises continue, which means activism to stop these crises must also continue. This thesis rests on the assumption that because environmental crises are systemic, intersectional, and extreme, corresponding action is a necessary and appropriate response.

This thesis aims to uncover factors that might be useful in prompting, sustaining, and protecting an environmental justice activist theory and praxis that is: 1. systemic, 2. intersectional, and 3. open to extremism. This kind of activism is what I call radical Environmental Justice (EJ) activism. Cultivating radical EJ activism requires understanding each tenet of this framework, factors that commonly prompt people to reach this understanding and motivate them to take action around it, barriers that make it difficult to engage in this type of activism, and factors that help people overcome these barriers and sustain their activism. For this reason, this study reviews the literature on these factors and barriers and analyzes themes that emerged across eleven interviews on this topic with people who identified as socialists, communists, or anarchists who have engaged in environmental justice activism. The primary

research questions are as follows: What types of environmental actions and attitudes do environmental activists report engaging in, and what barriers, experiences, and emotions do they consider influential to those actions and attitudes? I argue that for some radical EJ activists, several internal and situational factors are influential in prompting, protecting, and inhibiting their activism and its radical orientation. These internal factors environmental knowledge (particularly about environmental issues and activism strategies), emotions (particularly anticipatory and moral), and several personality and practice-based traits (such as openness, creativity, and empathy). These situational factors included direct experiences with nature, its destruction, and its protection, social support and a lack thereof, burnout (including time, energy/emotional, financial, and employment costs of activism), and institutional backlash and cooptation.

While there is significant research on the factors associated with developing environmental attitudes (EA) and concern (EC) and engaging in pro-environmental behaviors (PEB) broadly, there is very little research on the factors associated specifically with environmental activism, and almost no research on the factors associated with engaging in *radical* EJ activism specifically. Given the need for this kind of activism, this gap in research would be shocking if not for its direct challenge to capitalist forces that determine what kind of research can be funded and published. To fill this gap in research, this study assesses the type of environmental actions and theoretical frameworks participants engage in and what sort of lived experiences and attitudes they report contribute to this action and theory. This provides information about the factors that might increase people's likelihood of engaging in various types of environmental activism, particularly radical EJ activism. This knowledge may equip educators

and policymakers to create systems to facilitate these beneficial lived experiences and attitudes to encourage radical EJ activism.

Chapter two, the literature review, discusses three schools of environmental theory and activism and reviews the drivers and inhibitors of environmental behavior and activism frequently studied in the existing literature. Schools of environmental theory and activism include intersectional vs. single-issue change-making, individual vs. systemic change-making, and extreme vs. palatable change-making. The difference between intersectional and single-issue environmentalism is that single-issue environmentalism focuses solely on environmental concerns, while intersectional environmentalism recognizes that these issues are interconnected with other social justice concerns. Individual versus systemic change centers on whether people prioritize personal and lifestyle changes (individual) or advocate for broader structural transformations (systemic). Extreme versus palatable environmentalism depends on whether activists propose solutions that differ significantly from the current norm and embrace unconventional methods to achieve that change (extreme) or prioritize incremental changes accepted by mainstream society (palatable). Literature on drivers of environmental behavior and attitudes focuses on established psychological models of pro-environmental behavior and factors that may inhibit or encourage systemic, intersectional, and open-to-extreme environmental activism. These factors are divided based on whether they're primarily internal or external/situational to the person experiencing them, although there is always an interaction between the internal and external.

Chapter three discusses the methods and methodology I used to carry out this study, focusing specifically on how I logistically gathered and analyzed data, the theory behind these methods, and any limitations that result from these methods and methodologies. In addition, I

engaged in a reflexivity process, reflecting on the relationship between the researcher (me) and the research. Chapter four discusses the results and analysis of the interviews, which focused primarily on four themes: prompting and sustaining activism and theory, barriers to activism and theory, theoretical perceptions, and finally, strategies, sidenotes, and recommendations by the activists. Throughout this thesis, I show that participants have a wide variety of experiences with environmental and social justice activism and express a wide variety of perspectives on activist issues. This study found that internal factors such as environmental knowledge, emotions, personality traits, and practices, as well as situational factors like direct experiences with nature, environmental destruction and protection, social support and lack thereof, burnout, time, energy, employment, and institutional backlash influenced participants' engagement in radical EJ activism.

Chapter 2: Literature Review

Extreme floods and storms have displaced an average of 19,000 children globally each day from 2016 to 2021. Environmental scholars argue effective environmental action is crucial, given the increasingly uninhabitable planet.⁵ However, there is debate over what kind of environmental action is most effective. This debate tends to revolve around whether effective environmental action and theory is intersectional vs. single-issue, 6 whether it aims for individual vs. systemic change, ⁷ and whether it seeks extreme vs. palatable change. ⁸ For this reason, this literature review covers literature debating each of these theories of change and studying factors associated with the likelihood of engaging in each of these types of environmental action. The division between intersectional and single-issue environmentalism hinges on whether the focus is specifically on environmental issues (single issue) or on recognizing environmental issues as inextricable from other social justice issues (intersectional). The division between individual and systemic change revolves around whether people focus on personal and/or lifestyle changes to address environmental challenges (individual) or advocate for broader, structural transformations (systemic). Finally, the division between extreme and palatable environmentalism depends on whether activists propose solutions that significantly diverge from the current norm and employ unconventional methods of change (extreme), or if they prioritize incremental adjustments that align with mainstream acceptance (palatable). The final section of this literature review covers literature studying both internal and situational factors associated with environmental action and focuses (when this literature is available) on factors associated with environmental activism specifically.

Schools of Environmental Theory and Activism

Intersectional and Single-Issue Change-Making

Scholars like Leslie King and Deborah McCarthy frame environmental and social problems as inseparable. This is called intersectional environmentalism. Extensive literature has documented unequal distribution of environmental privileges and hazards along national, species, and gendered, ability-based, arcial and ethnic, act colonial, caste, and class are lines, and proponents of intersectional environmental justice argue challenging this inequality is crucial to addressing what Archbishop Desmond Tutu calls climate apartheid. Terms like Climate Apartheid and Environmental Racism describe the unequal impacts of climate change and environmental pollution based on some of the above systems of oppression. More recently, these terms have been broadened to include the exclusion of marginalized groups in the development of environmental policies. Environmental Justice movements are widely considered to be intersectional, as Dorceta Taylor asserts, they employ an "injustice frame," focusing on environmental disparities frontline communities face and working toward "improved quality of life, autonomy and self-determination, human rights, and fairness."

Rather than leaning purely on Crenshaw's legal framework of intersectionality, which explains how identities connect and combine to form unique positions and experiences of oppression within individuals and emphasizes the need to address these overlapping inequalities in legal systems, ²² intersectional activists and theorists sometimes use a frame rooted in Angela Davis's intersectionality of struggles. In her book *Freedom is a Constant Struggle*, Davis argues that while intersectionality initially focused on "bodies and experiences," it's useful also to bring "social justice struggles together, across national borders" because of the structural similarities

and connections between the forces oppressing various struggles. ²³ Dorceta Taylor describes an effective environmental justice (EJ) movement as centering unity across "various struggles" through coalition building. ²⁴ Nadine Naber refers to this as a "Joint Struggle," ²⁵ and David Featherstone refers to this as solidarity, which he defines as "a relation forged through political struggle which seeks to challenge forms of oppression," particularly across different struggles. ²⁶ By practicing solidarity between movements for liberation, such as environmental and indigenous movements, ²⁷ Environmental Justice and abolitionist movements, ²⁸ and Black and Palestinian liberation movements, ²⁹ intersectional Environmental Justice advocates have argued we can strategically amplify each other's movements and create political power greater than the sum of their parts. ³⁰

In addition to intersectional environmentalism, single-issue environmentalism is also prominent, with some single-issue frameworks being somewhat extreme. Non-intersectional frameworks like deep ecology, biocentrism, eco-centrism, ³¹ eco-fascism, Malthusianism, and population control address environmental problems through a single-issue lens. These frameworks often promote the idea that since people and animals will continue to suffer until environmental issues are resolved, fixing environmental issues must take priority over fixing social issues. ³² Eco-centrism is one prominent single-issue framework, which Robyn Eckersley identifies as an approach prioritizing "our proper place in the rest of nature" above "appropriate social and political arrangements for human communities." ³³ Malthusianism, connected with an idea that Paul Robbins refers to as the "eco scarcity model," is a particularly extreme eco-centrist worldview that argues that because there are limited resources, and humans are consuming those resources, the human population needs to be controlled. ³⁴ Extreme single-issue environmentalists often take a Malthusian or eugenics-oriented focus on population growth

(particularly in countries with lower incomes, with higher concentrations of people of color, and dealing with impacts of colonization) ³⁵ as a cause of environmental crises. ³⁶ Non-intersectional extreme environmentalists often argue either in favor of authoritarian solutions or that authoritarian solutions will naturally arise if growth isn't limited. Giorel Curran refers to this rhetoric as a type of "authoritarian environmentalism." Authors such as Garrett Hardin (in *The Tragedy of the Commons*), ³⁸ William Ophuls' (through his analysis of "a Hobbesian sovereign"), ³⁹ Paul Ehrlich (in *The Population Bomb*), ⁴⁰ Commoner (in *The Closing Circle*), ⁴¹ and Robert Heilbroner (in *An Inquiry Into the Human Prospect*) ⁴² employ this type of environmentalism.

Deep ecology's support for population control is often in tension with its declared principles of diversity, egalitarianism, and classlessness. ⁴³ *The Shallow and the Deep, Long Range Ecology Movement* distinguishes "shallow ecology" from "deep ecology," with the former addressing "pollution and resource depletion," in "the developed countries," and the latter addressing "principles of diversity, complexity, autonomy, decentralization, symbiosis, egalitarianism, and classlessness." ⁴⁴ In this instance, deep ecology is framed as paradoxically prioritizing diversity while maintaining population control perspectives. Arne Naess outlined eight key points of deep ecology. These principles include valuing diversity, valuing all life regardless of utility, reducing "human interference with" nature, resisting constant pressure to raise the standard of living, promoting a smaller human population (which Naess claims is compatible with "flourishing of human life and cultures"), and implementing policy change in alignment with these principals. ⁴⁵ Today, scholars argue that current environmental challenges are not triggered primarily by population growth, but rather by an increase in production for profit (primarily by higher-income, whiter, imperialist countries). ⁴⁶

In addition to critiquing the more extreme schools of single-issue environmentalist thought, scholars such as Ramachandra Guha and Archbishop Desmond Tutu critique singleissue environmental and conservation efforts broadly, arguing that they widen environmental disparities even when it's not their explicit aim. Mario Diani states that, as was the case in 1900s Britain, single-issue environmentalism can sometimes result from the lack of communication between environmental and other social justice movements, rather than from an articulated logic of environmental priority.⁴⁷ In other words, a harmful single-issue environmentalism can sometimes result from implicit bias and social positionality, rather than from explicitly or intentionally oppressive attitudes. Guha and Tutu provide examples of this: adaptation apartheid and conservation imperialism. Tutu argues that non-intersectional environmental solutions particularly those aimed at adaptation rather than mitigation—can alleviate the impacts of environmental crises on privileged communities while ignoring marginalized ones. Tutu refers to this phenomenon as "adaptation apartheid." 48 Guha notes that inequalities can also be perpetuated through conservation or environmental efforts that directly harm marginalized communities, such as through displacing tribal people from their homes in the name of conservation. Guha refers to deep ecology, which he connects with this phenomenon, as "conservation imperialism." ⁴⁹ In these cases, while the rhetoric isn't as extreme or explicit as eugenics, the impact is similar.

As I've outlined in this section, there's significant tension within environmental movements between single-issue and intersectional theory and action. Louise Chawla identifies concern for the environment and concern for social justice as *distinct paths to* environmentalism, ⁵⁰ and tension between these paths has characterized a significant volume of environmental theory in the past century. Where single-issue environmentalism stresses the

urgency of environmental crises and advocates focusing on environmental issues at the expense of other social issues, intersectional environmentalism argues that environmental and social justice issues are bound up with each other, and no one issue can be wholly addressed without addressing the others. This research aims to cultivate intersectional environmental activism by investigating the factors participants report as influencing their path toward understanding environmental issues as intersectional.

Individual and Systemic Change-Making

The issue of individual vs systemic change-making is another area of tension within environmental movements. Where individual change-making stresses the importance of making personal lifestyle changes to protect the environment, systemic approaches change larger political structures to protect the environment. Academics such as Luiz Barbosa argue the systemic nature of environmental destruction requires corresponding systemic change. 51 This systemic change is radical in that it goes beyond individual changes and addresses environmental issues "at the root." Other academics argue that the choices we make (such as eating vegetarian) within these systems significantly influence the environment in ways we individually have control over. These scholars advocate for individuals to take personal actions to adjust their environmental footprint, a position that seems to have public support. 53 Within Dorceta Taylor's framework outlining four types of social movements, systemic activism could be categorized as either reformative or transformative (with reformative movements seeking partial systemic change and transformative movements seeking total systemic change), whereas individual change-making could be categorized as alterative or redemptive (with alterative movements seeking partial individual change and redemptive movements seeking total individual change).⁵⁴ Many researchers advocate for both individual and systemic changes. For instance, one study on

personal water footprints in Taiwan indicated that while households should take personal water conservation steps, cities also need to take larger steps (such as reusing and recycling industrial wastewater), as per capita water footprint in any given area is significantly impacted by the type of industry in the area.⁵⁵

Academics frequently argue our energy is better spent on political actions to hold corporations accountable than on individual consumer choices to encourage corporate responsibility. There are several layers to this argument. Shigeto Tsuru critiques the idea of "voting with your dollar" for healthier corporate environmental practices by pointing out that some people have more dollars than others, and those who are most affected by and concerned with environmental issues are likely not to have enough money to make much difference, while those who benefit from environmental destruction are given exponentially more financial votes. ⁵⁶ Joshua Axelrod illustrates a related point, which is the idea that large corporations have the greatest environmental impact compared to individual consumers or small businesses. ⁵⁷ Another layer to this argument is the idea that individual consumption choices are influenced by social factors and systems of power, ⁵⁸ causing many sustainable consumption behaviors to be inaccessible to those without access to certain resources.

The question of green consumerism and green capitalism showcases tensions and connections between individual and systemic, intersectional and single-issue, and extreme and moderate environmental frames. Green consumer frames, which Elkington and Hailes' Green Consumer Guide employ, encourage individual sustainable consumption. ⁵⁹ Early critics of green consumerism include Carrier, Irvine, and Hawken. Carrier and Irvine argue that there is no ethical consumption under capitalism and that the system itself needs to be destroyed, rather than simply navigated differently, ⁶⁰ and Hawken frames "green marketing" as paradoxical. ⁶¹ In

contrast, Elizabeth B. Goldsmith's Social Influence and Sustainable Consumption, advocates for green marketing and sustainable consumption, acting as a how-to guide for using social influence theory to increase consumption of sustainable products. ⁶² Similarly, John Grant's books, Green Marketing Manifesto and Greener Marketing, claim to provide readers with sustainable marketing strategies that meet social and environmental objectives, rather than greenwash. ⁶³

Critics label green marketing "greenwashing," arguing it places an environmentalist label on activities that exploit people and the environment. The terms "greenwashing" and "green sheen" typically describe corporations misrepresenting their environmental performance to consumers. Vance Packard argued in 1960 that because companies introduce sustainable products without removing unsustainable ones, the company's motivation isn't to improve their environmental impact but rather to provide an apparent upgrade that will motivate consumers to spend money on a "better" version of the products they already own and improve the brand's image. Greenwashing also has broader applications. Greenwashing campaigns.

Beder attributes this decision to an organization's desire to appeal to donors who could financially support the organization and to corporations that could provide career opportunities to its staff, which led to a shift, in the case of Greenpeace, from radically opposing government and business practices to working with businesses and governments for incremental environmental solutions. Greenpeace, Greenpeace and governments for incremental environmental solutions.

Systemic change-making isn't always or necessarily intersectional or extreme/radical.

Market-regulation-based environmental frames are a systemic equivalent of the green consumer frame, which is neither intersectional nor radical. Do Amaral et al. frame sustainable consumption as a systemically oriented legal framework demanding corporate responsibility to

consumers and the environment and asserting the government's responsibility to regulate corporations in line with public interest. They argue that sustainable consumption is the responsibility of corporations and governments, rather than consumers. ⁶⁸ Market-based, capitalist, and neoliberal environmental frameworks utilize systemic solutions, but critics such as Bookchin and Lloréns assert that they very rarely address ecological crises completely or for everyone, as the areas in which they're implemented and the processes used to create them tend to perpetuate existing power structures. ⁶⁹ Scholars such as Naomi Klein argue that the reason why these environmental frameworks are insufficient is because they fail to dismantle capitalism, which is the root cause of environmental destruction. Klein frames capitalism's model of infinite growth as paradoxical and argues that capitalism, which by design places the profit motive over all other motives, is inherently environmentally destructive. For these reasons, Klein argues capitalism must be not just regulated, but transcended. ⁷⁰

In addition to market regulation-based environmental solutions, sustainable development is another systemic solution frequently proposed to reconcile the relationship between capitalism and the environment. Several scholars critique this proposal. Similarly to Klein, Arturo Escobar argues sustainable development is not a sufficient change because capitalism as a system is in inherent opposition to environmental justice."71 Other scholars, such as Michael Redclift and Andrew Stables, support this idea, with Redclift framing sustainable development as "an oxymoron,"72 and Stables referring to it as "an inherently paradoxical policy slogan."73 Samir Amin highlights the social and environmental costs of development, arguing economic analysis is inadequate at evaluating the benefits of any given intervention to a community. Amin uses the example of tourism, which can stimulate local economies but also cause significant environmental pollution.⁷⁴

Sustainable development initiatives are often framed as a top-down and global-to-local systemic "solution" which scholars argue devalues local knowledge and causes local environmental destruction. Guha provides an example of this, framing eco-tourism as a problematic development initiative typically imposed by wealthy outside forces, marketed as a pro-environmental activity, and resulting in local environmental destruction. ⁷⁵ Escobar further challenges the assumptions present in a sustainable development frame that ecological problems are disconnected from local/cultural factors, that environmental problems are best defined globally, and that everyone is equally responsible for environmental crises. ⁷⁶ This devaluation of local knowledge involved in development discourse, Elora Halim Chowdhury argues, disempowers people living in the aftermath of colonization, "who come to see themselves and their cultural heritage in a negative light,"⁷⁷ and Vandana Shiva similarly stresses the importance of honoring local environmental knowledge. 78 Shiva argues the pervasive appeals to science made in the name of "progress" and "development" rely on this devaluation of the local, and tend to justify and contribute to patriarchal oppression, destruction of nature, and exploitation of the "Third World."⁷⁹

Some scholars consider science and technology to provide systemic solutions to environmental crises compatible with capitalism; ⁸⁰ however, many scholars who advocate for intersectional systemic environmentalism resist this solution. Neha Vora, for example, argues that because "modern science has…been the primary source of environmental destruction" and imperialism, it cannot be the primary solution. Francisco Toro likewise critiques the supposed solution of technology as tied up in "bureaucratized power and a vertical and linear way of managing problems," and Huey Newton warns that any technology within a capitalist system will be controlled by and used toward the interests of the rich, rather than the working majority. ⁸³

Participants in this study, who tended to align with systemic, intersectional, and open-to-extreme activism, rejected techno-capitalist environmental solutions, viewing them as distractions that give people a false sense of sustainability while fueling the capitalist environmental destruction machine, as I will discuss in the analysis section.

In addition to these critiques of the political orientation of science favoring the powerful, scholars such as Samir Amin critique the apolitical illusion of science." ⁸⁴ Many scholars identify a split between "political ecology" and "conventional" or "apolitical" ecology, ⁸⁵ where political ecology identifies political systems as instrumental environmental influences and apolitical ecology and traditional environmentalism tend to frame "the science of ecology" as separate from political systems. ⁸⁶ Escobar argues for a political ecology that frames nature, economy, and ecology as political and socially constructed. ⁸⁷ This frame differs dramatically from a traditional/pure ecological framework. Mario Diani frames the split between the "conventional ecology sector" and the "political ecology sector" as being entangled in issues of moderate vs extreme environmentalism, which the next section will discuss. ⁸⁸

As was covered in this section, environmentalist perspectives range widely from promoting tips for environmentally conscious consumption to advocating for an overhaul of the capitalist system. Intersectional/single-issue, individual/systemic, and extreme/palatable frameworks are all at play within specific debates such as those surrounding green capitalism, market regulation, sustainable development, and technological/scientific solutions. This section covered individual change-making as oriented largely around personal and lifestyle changes and systemic change-making as oriented toward changing broader social and political systems and institutions. The examples used in this section represented several issues that fall at various points between being purely individual and purely systemic. This thesis aims to examine the

factors that might encourage activists to work toward larger-scale systemic changemaking, without discouraging individual changemaking. It also attempts to examine the factors which might contribute to a more radical/extreme approach to extreme environmental and social problems, without discouraging more palatable approaches in the process. This next section will outline these extreme and palatable approaches to environmental change.

Extreme and Palatable Change-Making

Scholars and activists have diverse perspectives on the utility of extreme/radical and moderate/palatable environmental frameworks and strategies. In this study, extreme/radical frameworks and strategies are defined as lenses of environmental understanding and techniques for environmental change that significantly diverge from the currently accepted norms. In contrast, moderate/palatable environmental frameworks and strategies will be defined as those that appear pragmatic, ⁸⁹ appeal to a broader range of people, and directly oppose fewer powerful structures. 90 Jackie Smith argues that more moderate, palatable, incremental, and compromisefocused environmental steps tend to be favored by governments and politicians who are often concerned with change visible during their short terms in office, rather than longer-term environmental change. 91 As the scale of environmental crises intensifies, however, scholars and activists such as Best and Nocella, Ted Trainer, and members of the original climate justice movement argue these extreme crises must be addressed through equally extreme aims and action. 92 Extreme/radical activists sometimes frame environmental issues as a result of capitalism/neoliberalism and colonialism and suggest that systems built to profit from environmental destruction will never be adequately changed through palatable action from the inside, such as market solutions, partnerships between climate institutions and corporations, 93 and lobbying of colonial governments.94

The extreme/palatable split is similar to the conflict vs consensus division. McCarthy and Wolfson differentiate between conflict and consensus movements, defining conflict movements as confronting organized opposition and lacking widespread support. They define consensus movements, in contrast, as enjoying overwhelming support, with minimal organized opposition. 95 Conflict movements would typically be considered extreme, whereas consensus movements would be considered palatable/moderate. Marc Michaelson frames Kenya's Green Belt Movements as a consensus movement to argue in favor of consensus strategies, particularly within repressive environments. 96 McCarthy and Wolfson similarly find that consensus movements effectively create social change, 97 while others 98 argue that conflict movements are more effective instigators of social change. Dennis Downey identifies "a pattern of strategic eclecticism" linking consensus and conflict strategies to complement each other as effective, ⁹⁹ and William Gamson argues that entirely consensus or conflict movements are not all that common, as movements typically use a combination of consensus and conflict frames and strategies. 100 The idea of dual power, which the analysis section of this study will discuss, is relevant to this strategic combination of moderate and radical strategies.

There is some debate over whether working within or outside of systems of power is the most effective way to dismantle or reform these systems. CrimethInc argues that institutions of hierarchy reproduce hierarchy regardless of "who holds the reins." ¹⁰¹ In Audre Lorde's words, "the masters' tools will never dismantle the masters' house." ¹⁰² Anarchists such as Black Flag Sydney tend to oppose working within government systems on similar grounds. Black Flag Sydney argues that more "combative" direct street action is more effective and that legal action diverts energy away from these actions. They criticize environmental organizations that pursue legal routes of change "even when they know they will lose" due to the structure of the state. ¹⁰³

Murray Bookchin is an anarchist-adjacent academic who makes a similar critique, arguing against an "environmentalism that is based more on tinkering with existing institutions, social relations, technologies, and values than on changing them." ¹⁰⁴ Some scholars such as Petra Kelly have more faith in the state, arguing for "anti-party parties" that can work within the recognized political system to model alternative ways to structure political action while working for material policy change. ¹⁰⁵

Critique of capitalism is one of the most prominent radical environmental perspectives. Kohei Saito argues that Marx viewed ecological destruction as capitalism's "fundamental contradiction," 106 and Joel Kovel argues that capitalism's requirement of constant growth (fueled by the consumption of natural resources) contradicts the possibility of sustainable capitalism. 107 Rosa Luxemburg similarly theorizes that as capitalism exhausts resources locally, it needs new areas to extract resources from and naturally takes up imperialism. 108 It follows that once all the resources have been exhausted in areas subjected to this environmental imperialism, there would be nothing to feed the capitalist machine. Samir Amin argues social and environmental injustice is "rooted in the very structure of the capitalist economic and social system" and points out how industrial plants are often established in "third world" countries where environmental regulations are lower and labor is less expensive. 109 Through this process, capitalism, imperialism, and environmental destruction intersect.

Amin's linking of capitalism, imperialism, and environmental destruction is echoed by several academics, including Vandana Shiva and Winona LaDuke. Shiva similarly frames colonization and imperialism as central causes of environmental destruction. She speaks of the conflict between a system of "earth democracy and biodemocracy" and the dominant system of "ecoimperialism, bioimperialism, and ecoapartheid" and argues for uplifting local knowledge of

agriculture and land management, rather than relying on capitalist systems imposed by imperialism which have very little concern for the health of the local environment. Winona LaDuke is another scholar-activist who radically links decolonization, economic justice, antimilitarism, and environmentalism. LaDuke refers to "political decolonization" as centering "the dismantling of settler-imposed political and economic institutions," as involving "tangible support for indigenous struggles to protect land, territories, and ecosystems" and as necessitating the reversal of "military, political, economic, cultural, and religious imperialism." 111

Scholars arguing for anticapitalism and decolonization are one example of an intersectional extreme/radical environmental group working for systemic changes. In addition to this type of framework, some extreme/radical environmental justice advocates work for individual change. 112 One example of an extreme/radical movement advocating for individual change is vegetarianism as a practice of individual anarchism, which Carl Tobias Frayne reviews a history of.¹¹³ This type of anarchism frames practices of veganism and vegetarianism as opposing the capitalist system which runs on animal and earth exploitation. Joseph Parampathu argues "capitalism has doomed us to a path of death and destruction, and the only way forward is total and immediate animal liberation and earth liberation." Anarchism's frequent links with environmental issues seem to be a natural result of its core values, which are in opposition to authority and hierarchy, including hierarchies that place certain humans, governments, and corporations above nature, animals, and other humans. 115 This deconstruction of hierarchy lends itself to environmental thinking. Esther Dolgoff frames acceptance of our "animal origins" as central to anarchism. 116 Similarly, Flower Bomb emphasizes that as humans are animals, human and animal liberation are inseparable, and links anti-speciesism with anarchism and anticapitalism, arguing for "an anti-social" (not palatable) lifestyle that combats hierarchy in all

forms. 117 While the ideology behind this action is systemic, extreme, and intersectional, the action itself is individual.

This section has covered several sects of the environmental movement, if it's even possible to refer to it as one movement. This review of perspectives makes it easier to understand how and why distinctions in environmental thought can hinder or promote environmental organizing. Learning about these different perspectives might also prompt opinions on the types of environmental thought you find ideal. To encourage preferable types of environmental thought and action, it's helpful to first understand the factors associated with pro-environmental thought and activism broadly, which the next section will cover.

Drivers and Inhibitors of Pro-Environmental Behavior and Activism

The second component of the lit review will focus primarily on factors associated with pro-environmental activism. Since research on environmental activism is limited, I supplement this research with research on PEB broadly. I will first review the literature addressing individual factors influencing the likelihood of engaging in pro-environmental behavior (PEB), such as environmental knowledge, values, motivation and intention, emotions, and various personality traits, practices, and experiences. Then, I will discuss literature addressing external factors, including social norms and support, perceived consequences such as institutional support or backlash, physical violence such as murder and rape carried out by governments, corporations, and the people they hire, legal and media suppression of activism, time, energy, and money limitations, and opportunities for activism.

Internal Factors

Environmental Knowledge

Many academics have studied the factors contributing to environmental knowledge (EK) and awareness (EA), as well as whether EK and EA translate to PEB. Scholars identify several types of environmental knowledge. Alexander Grob defines environmental awareness as encompassing "factual knowledge about the environment and recognition of environmental problems."118 Kaiser and Fuhrer distinguish between declarative, procedural, effectiveness, and social knowledge around the environment, and find that each type of environmental knowledge must combine to create the conditions necessary for PEB. 119 Both Grob and Fliegenschnee and Schelakovsky found that environmental "domain-specific factual knowledge" or in-depth technical environmental knowledge was not correlated with PEB. 120 In contrast, Levine and Strube did find a significant and independent association between basic (scientific) knowledge about environmental issues and PEB. 121 Notably, Hines et al.'s meta-analysis found an association between knowledge of environmental issues and action strategies and PEB. 122 The present study supports this finding, as participants consistently cited knowledge of environmental and social issues and action strategies as crucial to their activism. Participants didn't frame indepth technical or scientific knowledge as particularly influential to their social, political, and environmental framework, but did report that knowledge of issues and strategies to address them was influential, which the results section will discuss further.

Other sources look at environmental knowledge more broadly. For instance, Abdul Latif et al. and Bamberg and Moser found a relationship between EK and PEB but did not distinguish the type of EK.¹²³ In contrast, Kempton et al. found that environmental knowledge isn't required

for PEBs, as lack of environmental knowledge was equally prevalent among pro- and antienvironmentalists. 124 Similarly, Ajzen and Fishbein, as well as Liu et al., found that EK did not
significantly or directly impact PEB. However, Ajzen and Fishbein argued that this knowledge
can be viewed as desirable for its own sake, and Liu et al. found that EK does positively impact
environmental attitude, which significantly positively impacts environmental intentions and
behaviors. 125 Some studies investigating the impact of *perceived* environmental knowledge on
PEB yield conflicting results. Das and Ramalingam found a positive relationship between
perceived EK and "ecologically conscious consumer behavior." 126 In contrast, McCright and
Dunlap found that for conservative white men, perceiving themselves to have a high level of EK
was associated with a higher likelihood of denying climate change. 127 Despite the conflicting
results on the effectiveness of EK in prompting PEB, there is no research to suggest a negative
association between *legitimate* EK and PEB, which indicates that efforts to increase EK as a
means of increasing PEB are not misguided.

Emotions

Several academics have studied the connection between knowledge and emotion in sparking PEB, with the consensus being that high levels of reason-based and emotional responses are correlated with higher PEB. Both Grob and Kollmuss and Agyeman found that higher strength of affective (emotional) reactions significantly correlated with PEB. ¹²⁸ In addition, Wendy Horwitz found that emotions and reason together played significant roles in helping environmental activists develop their environmental ethical framework. ¹²⁹ Concerning this reason-emotion connection, scholars such as Fliegenschnee and Schelakovsky focus on how lack or abundance of knowledge about environmental issues can set the stage for lack or abundance of emotional attachment to environmental issues, which then impacts the likelihood

of PEB.¹³⁰ Researchers have also investigated emotions more deeply by breaking down the roles of more specific emotions, including guilt, shame, pride, hope, denial, worry, fear, denial, sense of responsibility, and anger, in prompting PEBs.

Anticipatory Emotions: Fear, Worry, Hope, and Denial About Environmental Crises

Fear, worry, hope, and denial are all anticipatory emotions that often surround environmental crises. This section focuses on the fear of environmental crises, however, activists in this study also reported a fear of negative consequences for their activism, which I will discuss later. Kleres and Wettergren, who interviewed 41 young environmental activists, found that every interviewed activist expressed fear of the climate crisis. Activists in their study reported fear to be personally mobilizing, rather than paralyzing, but tended to frame fear tactics as ineffective mobilizing tools. 131 Similarly, Maria Ojala found that each environmental volunteer she interviewed reported worry, with the majority reporting that worry was the first emotion related to the environment that they felt, and many volunteers framing worry as motivating their action. 132 Likewise, Norgaard and Reed found members of the Karuk Tribe in California who felt distressing emotions around environmental crises tended to view these emotions "as a signal function confirming structures of power in relation to identity, social interactions, and ongoing colonialism."¹³³ This is significant to my research because the majority of activists in the present study viewed distressing emotions around the environment (such as anger, guilt, and feelings of betrayal by existing systems of power) as a kind of fire alarm that prompts them to take action. This indicates that emotions that cause discomfort are likely necessary to prompt radical EJ activism.

Hope has been found to be effective in helping people move past fear and worry. One study found that hope was positively associated with recycling behavior for people highly worried about environmental issues, but negatively associated with recycling for people with little worry about environmental issues. ¹³⁴ Hope and denial are also sometimes analyzed together. For instance, Maria Ojala found that while "constructive' hope" was positively related to PEB, "hope based on denial" was associated with a lower likelihood of PEB. ¹³⁵ Kleres and Wettergren frame denial as a method to diffuse the potentially mobilizing potential of fear, and hope (particularly around the potential for one's own actions to create change) as mitigating "the potentially paralyzing effects of fear." ¹³⁶ Lisa Kretz similarly argues hope is crucial to prompting environmental action, ¹³⁷ and Carl Cassegård suggests that even in some postapocalyptic environmentalist frameworks that appear to be built on hopelessness, hope is often present. ¹³⁸

Moral Emotions: Anger, Guilt, Shame, Sense of Responsibility, Moral Obligation vs Delegation

Scholars frequently analyze the role of moral emotions in influencing PEB, with guilt and shame taking center stage. Many studies find that guilt and shame prompt PEB. For example, Moore and Yang conducted two studies on eco-guilt and found that "it was the strongest and most consistent predictor of environmental behavioral intention in both studies." Adams et al. conducted two similar studies on guilt two years later, which both indicated that guilt mediated the relationship between past environmental performance and future PEB, with guilt being associated with increased PEB. Reinforcing these findings, young environmental volunteers in Maria Ojala's study reported more specific feelings of guilt over participation in "an overall unjust Western lifestyle." In addition, Rees et al. found references to human-caused environmental destruction were effective in sparking a guilty conscience (feelings of shame and guilt), which was then associated with increased PEB. This indicates that not only can shame

and guilt prompt PEB, but exposing people to specific types of information may be an effective method to prompt this productive shame and guilt. There is, however, one study by Bissing-Olson et al. indicating that guilt was not associated with higher PEB, ¹⁴³ This might indicate that feelings of guilt may have different impacts on different people.

Anger is another moral emotion frequently cited in activists' accounts of their feelings around climate change. Anger around the environment is frequently found to predict environmental activism. For instance, Gregersen et al. found the strength of anger "was the strongest predictor" of climate activism in their survey of 2,046 people. 144 Likewise, Freiling and Matthes found "climate change-related anger positively predicted political environmental activism over time." ¹⁴⁵ A couple of other academics have also investigated the relationship between anger, the environment, and the nation. For example, Kleres et al. framed anger as politicizing, and noted that climate activists from the global south practiced "angry ascription of responsibility/guilt and power to the north" which created hope and managed the acute fear they felt about their material realities. Meanwhile, Northern activists framed anger as an emotion to be subdued. 146 A similar study by Kari Marie Norgaard examined deterrents to environmental action among Norwegians and found participants shifted blame to America when discussing their country's environmental injustices, but in this case, ascription of guilt to America acted as a kind of scapegoat which allowed them to remain inactive. 147 This contrasts with Southern activists' ascription of guilt to the north in Kleres et al.'s study, where the ascription of blame sparked an activating anger. Carl Cassegård is another scholar who highlights anger as an initial emotion prompting environmental engagement, with a subsequent discovery of "gratitude and love" behind the anger. Cassegård also highlighted ethical reasoning and moral obligation (feeling the need to "do the right thing" regardless of whether it will lead to the desired outcome) as

underlying motivators to action, particularly for those who aren't particularly hopeful that their action will create the desired outcome. 148

Personality and Practices: Openness, Creativity, Empathy, Locus of Control

Self-efficacy, perceived behavioral control, and locus of control are frequently researched as prominent determinants of pro-environmental behavior. Locus of control refers to a person's sense of whether events in their life result from internal or external factors. ¹⁴⁹ Perceived behavioral control refers to a person's feelings of how much control they have over their behaviors, or how do-able a given behavior feels. ¹⁵⁰ Perceived self-efficacy is a kind of combination of the former two concepts which refers to a person's feeling about whether they can perform a behavior and successfully achieve the ideal outcome. ¹⁵¹ While Alexander Grob did not find any correlation between PBC and PEB, ¹⁵² researchers including Antonetti and Maklan, Hines et al., and Carducci et al. have found these factors to be associated with a higher likelihood of engagement in PEB. ¹⁵³ Kollmuss and Agyeman also suggest these factors influence PEB, but acknowledge that due to unequal power distribution, low self-efficacy often reflects a political reality. ¹⁵⁴ Norgaard and Reed reflect on this idea, highlighting feelings of "shame related to one's inability" to protect the environment and hopelessness and "powerlessness in the face of institutional forces" like capitalism and colonialism. ¹⁵⁵

Additional prominent personality traits and practices that scholars highlight as determinants of PEB include self-direction, creativity, independence, curiosity, openness to new ideas, experiences, and change, honesty-humility, and creative thinking. ¹⁵⁶ Researchers have also found activation in parts of the brain associated with empathy (which means a person's care for other people's experiences) ¹⁵⁷ when participants viewed ecosystem degradation, ¹⁵⁸ and Moore

and Yang similarly found empathy to predict PEBI. ¹⁵⁹ In addition, there is encouraging research suggesting that rather than being an inherent trait, empathy can be *practiced* to promote PEB. ¹⁶⁰ If traits like openness, creativity, curiosity, honesty-humility, empathy, and locus of control can be practiced and cultivated, and if they have a role in shaping environmental activism, creating circumstances conducive to these traits might allow us to create circumstances conducive to environmental activism. For this reason, this study examines the relationship several environmental activists have to these traits and practices.

Values, Attitudes, Motivation, and Intention

Several scholars believe environmental values, attitudes, motivation, and intention play a big role in whether we engage in environmental activism. Sloot et al. and Prendergast et al. found biospheric (caring for nature)¹⁶¹ values were associated with environmental activism and community efforts.¹⁶² Sloot et al.'s study linked social change actions and activist identity to altruistic (caring for others)¹⁶³ values and linked "pro-environmental lobbying" to egoistic (caring for oneself)¹⁶⁴ values.¹⁶⁵ In contrast, Steg et al. found egoistic values were negatively associated with environmental activist intention.¹⁶⁶ Most existing research suggests that feeling motivated to engage in PEB and reporting intention to engage in PEB are both positively associated with, but do not guarantee PEB.¹⁶⁷ Pro-environmental attitudes can be viewed as similar to biospheric values and are also consistently associated with PEB.¹⁶⁸ Steg et al. emphasize that understanding environmental values can help us cultivate PEB because this understanding gives us the tools to prompt the values necessary to prompt the PEB.¹⁶⁹ In addition, Stern et al. suggest the values a movement holds can influence the mobilization strategies that are most effective for them.¹⁷⁰

Situational Factors

Direct Experiences With Nature and Environmental Destruction

There are many situational factors that scholars widely consider to influence the likelihood of engaging in PEB, including direct experiences with nature and environmental destruction. Both Louise Chawla and Wendy Horwitz found direct experience in nature was a leading contributor to participants' environmental commitment, and that experiences with proenvironmental organizations were frequently reported as sparking environmental commitment during adulthood. ¹⁷¹ Scholars such as Stephen Kraus, Liu et al., Evans et al., and Kathy James have revealed similar findings. ¹⁷² In addition to positive experiences in nature, experiences with environmental destruction also contributed to environmental commitment in Chawla and Horwitz's studies. 173 Jessica Smartt Guillion's Fracking the Neighborhood provides another example of environmental destruction as a call to action, with Smartt Guillion examining the experiences of "reluctant activists" who are drawn to action out of necessity—because of environmental issues happening right in their backyard and impacting their immediate quality of life. 174 This is in line with the experiences of many land defenders globally, who are forced either into action or out of their land, and with the experiences of participants in the present study, several of whom reported direct experiences with environmental destruction prompted their environmental activism.

Opportunities

Opportunities are another major factor scholars widely consider to influence the likelihood of engaging in PEB. The Motivation Opportunity Ability Model describes opportunity as "overall and situational conditions," and ability as including habit and knowledge of the pro-

environmental task, which when combined with motivation and opportunity, leads to PEBs. ¹⁷⁵ Fietkau and Kessel's 1981 Model of Ecological Behavior argues that possibilities and opportunities to act pro-environmentally influence the likelihood of engaging in PEBs. ¹⁷⁶ Stern et al. provide a similar finding, suggesting given an individual supports a movement ideologically, "the particular type of support that results is dependent on the individual's capabilities and constraints."

One opportunity some scholars highlight is the opportunity to participate in action within an organizational environment that meets your cultural needs—something frequently denied to environmental activists of color in the U.S. In one study investigating barriers to participation in environmental education for people of color, cultural norm disparities were the most frequently cited obstacle, followed by a lack of access to nature and to information about job opportunities and environmental issues. Participants also emphasized organizational shortcomings in addressing community needs and in prioritizing diversity, racism, and the prevailing idea of environmentalists being white, male, and rural as significantly hindering racial diversity in environmental education.¹⁷⁸ The present study also examines opportunity as a primary factor in radical EJ activism, with participants reporting a wide variety of opportunity-related factors influencing their ability to engage in activism. The results section analyzes this more thoroughly.

Costs and Perceived Consequences: Time, Money, Energy, and Burnout

There is significant literature addressing characteristics of environmental activist experiences that influence people's ability to continue engaging in environmental activism. ¹⁷⁹

There is also literature centering how the perceived cost of comparably safe forms of PEB correlates with the chance of engagement. For instance, Kollmuss and Agyeman's 2002 Model

of Pro-Environmental Behavior, based on Fliegenschnee and Schelakovsky's 1998 model, suggests awareness of consequences that might arise from a PEB influences the likelihood of engaging in that PEB. ¹⁸⁰ Fietkau and Kessel's 1981 Model of Ecological Behavior similarly suggests higher perceived consequences of behavior lower likelihood of engaging in PEBs. ¹⁸¹ Consequences can include factors like time, financial, and monetary restrictions, burnout, institutional support or backlash, physical violence, and legal and media suppression, which I will now discuss in detail.

Limited time and energy is often cited as a significant barrier to environmental activism and PEBs broadly. Carducci et al., for example, identify time in the day as a barrier to PEB. ¹⁸² It's also worth acknowledging that systems of power influence the amount of time available to people; for instance, Lawton et al. found female respondents were especially likely to report a lack of time due to the expectation to perform unpaid domestic labor. ¹⁸³ Linder et al. found that the time minoritized students have to take to advocate for themselves and their communities reduced their capacity to take advantage of educational and career opportunities, and sometimes resulted in decreased academic performance. ¹⁸⁴ The amount of time it takes to achieve concrete progress has also been cited as a barrier, with Conner et al. finding "the slow progress of change" to be a primary cause of burnout among activists in their study. ¹⁸⁵

A related cost of environmental action is money. Das and Ramalingam found that the relationship between perceived EK and "ecologically conscious consumer behavior" is moderated by price fairness, indicating that perceived costs of PEB influence the likelihood of engaging in PEB. ¹⁸⁶ Carducci et al. similarly found that cost was the biggest barrier to choosing less environmentally destructive products for participants in their survey. ¹⁸⁷ Most of the literature surrounding financial barriers to PEB relates to green consumerism, despite the obvious

intersection of time and money scarcity that comes from having a lower economic class and therefore needing to spend time working to pay for living expenses and having little time to dedicate to activism and other PEBs. Despite some existing literature on burnout and other social justice activism, ¹⁸⁸ there also seems to be a lack of literature on time and energy constraints and burnout within radical environmental movements, indicating a potential need for research on this topic.

Social and Institutional Support, Backlash, and Norms

Social support, backlash, and norms are prominent situational factors that scholars such as Carducci et al. and Kaiser and Fuhrer consider to influence PEB, since a sympathetic social environment might incentivize PEB while a social environment opposed to PEB will discourage it. 189 Family can be a significant part of this social environment. Both Louise Chawla and Wendy Horwitz found having family members who valued environmental and social justice issues was a leading contributor to participants' environmental commitment, ¹⁹⁰ and Evans et al. found children whose mothers were more educated and held more pro-environmental attitudes grew up to engage in more PEBs on average. 191 Social norms can also decrease the likelihood of engaging with environmental issues. For instance, one participant in Kari Marie Norgaard study also reported that while they would like to act more pro-environmentally, it would cause tension in their family life. Norgaard describes another example of this, explaining how the norm within the field of education to be optimistic interferes with educators' ability to represent environmental issues realistically to their students. 192 In addition, Linder et al. found that isolation from their communities and a lack of social support for their activism can cause student activists to experience mental health issues, including suicidal ideation, which may discourage students from engaging in this activism, 193 and Conner et al. found social backlash to be a significant cause of

burnout.¹⁹⁴ Raminder Kaur argues this hostile social environment is also sometimes more intentionally engineered by the forces that benefit from environmental destruction, suggesting that the state of India creates "a culture of vilification" of anti-nuclear and environmental activists as a means of suppression.¹⁹⁵

Institutional backlash and lack of institutional support is another significant inhibitor of PEB. Carducci et a found that "lack of support from institutions was the most cited" barrier to PEB in their survey. 196 In addition, Weselink et al. found "perceived organizational support for the environment" and "leadership behavior" were associated with both PEB and PEBI of individual employees in the workplace, indicating that institutions have significant influence over the environmental behaviors of their employees. 197 There is also a particularly strong case for educational institutions to support student and staff activists. Nikolas Matteis provides an example of a lack of institutional support within education, arguing that legal sanctions for school absence and interactions with truancy officers or police who confront students about their "truancy" can "coerce children" out of participating in environmental protest during school hours. 198 Linder et al. illustrate the heavy toll activism takes on students' academic, social, and professional well-being and advocate for universities to protect and compensate student activists whose efforts improve these institutions. 199 Gardner et al. argue that because research and education don't automatically or immediately create impact, it's essential for environmental academics to engage in action and advocacy based on their research. They further argue that to make this possible, it's the responsibility of universities to defend academics' right to protest and alleviate fear of employment repercussions for advocacy. 200

Physical Violence: Murder, Rape, and Surveillance by States, Corporations, and the Anti-Environmental Movement

Backlash for activism can involve physical violence, including murder, rape, and surveillance. Raminder Kaur's participant observation revealed that states and industries employ several strategies to sabotage the livelihood and social power of subaltern (extremely oppressed) people and environmental and anti-nuclear activists. One strategy Kaur highlights is "overt and punitive violence" including threats, imprisonment, and murder. ²⁰¹ Kaur, in addition to Helvarg, Le Billon and Lujala, Menton and Le Billon, and Rowell, states these murders are sometimes carried out by government officials and police, but often by "middlemen" hired by corporations, governments, and ranchers. ²⁰² Scholars also highlight surveillance as a form of suppression, with Yanwei Li identifying suppression of activism using state "security" forces as a response by the Chinese state to environmental conflict. ²⁰³ In addition to this state violence, Helvarig and Rowell also cover organized movements like the Sahara Club, which focused on eliminating "ecoterrorism" through collecting and distributing environmental activists' personal information alongside instructions for leaving threats, carrying out assaults, and mailing dangerous objects to the activists. ²⁰⁴

Several scholars argue that environmental suppression impacts frontline and indigenous communities first and worst. One suppression strategy Kaur identifies is "a silent and encroaching death" somewhat inherent to the process of placing pollutive and exploitative industry in marginalized communities, which subjects residents of the area and industry workers "to a life of environmental uncertainty, exploitation, and health hazards." ²⁰⁵ In *Environmental Defenders: Deadly Struggles for Life and Territory,* Menton and Le Billon highlight first-line defenders, who are often indigenous people facing theft and degradation of their land at the

hands of corporations and governments while also facing violent suppression, including murder and rape, for any activism they participate in. ²⁰⁶ Le Billon and Lujla found violence against land defenders is most common in Asia and Latin America. They found between 2002 and 2018, upwards of 1734 "environmental and land defenders" were murdered, and that "income level, foreign direct investment, dependency on mineral extraction, regime type, frequency of protest movements, and size of Indigenous populations" were the national "determinants of killings." Indigenous people were most vulnerable, composing almost 1/3 of eco-defenders murdered. ²⁰⁷ This literature points to many environmental activists being situated between a rock and a hard place; they can accept the unlivable conditions corporations and government have placed them in, or they can resist these conditions and accept violent suppression.

Legal and Media Suppression and Eco-terrorist labeling

Scholars broadly define eco-terrorism as use of force to draw attention to environmental issues or sabotage environmentally destructive projects. ²⁰⁸ Ecoterrorist scholars make a clear distinction between ecoterrorism and environmental terrorism. Environmental terrorism is the use of violence against an environment or ecosystem to "terrorize or frighten people" ²⁰⁹ or to "deprive others of its use." ²¹⁰ These acts are generally performed on a larger scale by militaries and governments, whereas eco-terrorist acts are typically done by individuals and small groups. ²¹¹ Douglas Long notes in *Ecoterrorism* that prominent ecoterrorist organizations such as the Sea Shepherd Conservation Society, the Earth Liberation Front, and EarthFirst! maintain "strict guidelines against harming humans or animals," and destroy almost exclusively "machines and tools" that corporations and governments use to "destroy life." ²¹² Alpas, Berkowicz, and Ermakova similarly state in *Environmental Security and Ecoterrorism* that "ecoterrorists focus their energy on harming property and not people." ²¹³

Several activists and academics have argued the "ecoterrorist" label, which media, state legislatures, and enforcement agencies frequently employ against environmentalists, unjustly suppresses environmental justice activism, because it provides a justification for imprisoning activists and acts as a defamatory label that poisons public perception of activists. ²¹⁴ In a similar vein, Le Billion and Lujala identify defamation as a suppressant of environmental activism. ²¹⁵ Yanwei Li provides an example of this, suggesting the Chinese government sometimes ascribes defamatory labels to acts of protest as a strategy to suppress environmental activism. ²¹⁶ The US government in particular has passed significant legislation criminalizing environmental and animal rights activism including the 2006 Animal Enterprise Terrorism Act, which makes harming the profits of any industry based on animal products an act of "terrorism." ²¹⁷ Despite the discouraging reality of governmental suppression, scholars have explored how activists work around these barriers, with Adam Simpson finding that suppression of environmental activism sometimes leads to an "activist diaspora" who advocates for change with less threat of governmental suppression.²¹⁸ These studies on backlash and support for activism are crucial to the present study, as environmental activists in this study frequently reported institutional and social support and backlash significantly impact their activism.

Conclusion

This literature review explored key debates and schools of thought within the environmental movement. These environmental frames and change-making strategies included intersectional and single issue, individual and systemic, and extreme and moderate change-making. Intersectional lenses emphasize the interconnectedness of environmental and social problems, whereas single-issue strategies emphasize the importance of focusing specifically on environmental issues. Individual change-making focuses on small-scale choices people can make

to improve their environmental impact, whereas systemic approaches frame institutions and systems as the root causes of environmental crises and argue that they must be targeted to fix environmental issues. Finally, extreme approaches argue that the scale of our interventions must address the scale of the crisis, and push for changes that are often unpopular, while moderate or palatable approaches used in consensus movements use widely supported strategies and solutions to enact change.

In addition to covering various streams of environmental thought and action, this section reviewed literature on the factors associated with pro-environmental behaviors (PEBs) broadly and environmental activism specifically. These factors included internal factors, such as environmental knowledge, values, motivation and intention, emotions, and various personality traits, practices, and experiences. External factors, including social norms and support, perceived consequences such as institutional support or backlash, physical violence such as murder and rape carried out by governments, corporations, and the people they hire, legal and media suppression of activism, time, energy, and money limitations, and opportunities for activism were also reviewed, as they significantly impact PEBs. This literature lays the groundwork for understanding the diverse approaches environmental activists take.

While existing research has addressed some aspects of environmental engagement, there is a need for literature on the factors influencing the likelihood of engaging in various types and frames of environmental activism. Additionally, there is a need for research examining how barriers to activism and needs for sustaining activism might vary across diverse backgrounds, identities, and experiences. This kind of research is necessary to promote environmental activism, and particularly radical EJ activism, that is, environmental justice activism that addresses environmental issues "at the root" and is systemic, intersectional, and extreme. 220

This includes understanding the factors that influence the type of environmental ideologies and activist strategies people adopt, including more radical approaches that are often excluded in environmental psychology literature that tends to simplify environmental frames.

Chapter 3: Methods and Methodology

This section focuses on methods, methodology, limitations, and reflexivity used in this study. This study aims to gain insight into the following two research questions: the types of environmental actions and attitudes environmental activists report engaging in, and the types of factors and experiences they consider influential to those actions and attitudes. This information might help unearth some common experiences and approaches associated with engagement in radical EJ activism and provide frameworks for future research. Gaining insight into this topic is important because it might allow educators and activists to more effectively cultivate the experiences and approaches that promote radical EJ activism. Due to the varied backgrounds of participants in environmental movements and the small sample size of this study, I approached this research without a rigid hypothesis on what participants would report and remained aware that the responses of participants in this study cannot represent the perspective of the whole environmental movement.

Methods

To find detailed, in-depth information about experiences that have informed people's environmental actions and attitudes, I carried out eleven semi-structured interviews with people who identified themselves as socialists, communists, or anarchists who have engaged in environmental activism. Semi-structured interviews are characterized by utilization of an interview guide comprised of predetermined questions to be asked in the interview. Coverage of each question is necessary in semi structured interviews, but the flow is relatively free, allowing for the interviewer to adapt to the interviewee and uncover new themes.²²¹ Interviews are beneficial because they allow in-depth information and a "high recovery rate from the collected

respondents."²²² They also have an advantage over other research methods, such as archival research and literary analysis, in that the data available is determined by the participants, rather than made available by the systems of power that determine what is worth archiving or publishing. Interviews are often helpful when researching lived experiences and trying to uncover subjugated knowledge, and they pair well with a feminist lens that accounts for the impacts of power on research.²²³

I used purposive sampling to select participants and contacted potential participants and organizations with activist connections through email and direct message. I also made social media posts on my personal Instagram, Facebook, Snapchat, and LinkedIn pages, and on several environmental-oriented Reddit and Discord servers. Purposive sampling is a common method in qualitative research in which researchers choose the subjects most able to provide in-depth information of value for the study's focus.²²⁴ The time-consuming nature of interviews makes purposive sampling especially useful, as it prevents researchers from spending excessive time interviewing participants who aren't particularly useful to the study. I had initially carried out sixteen semi-structured interviews with people who identified themselves as having engaged in environmental activism; however, I realized after conducting the interviews that there was variation in results between participants who identified as progressives, liberals, or democrats, and participants who identified as being socialist, communist, or anarchist. Due to the scope of this project, I limited my dataset and only included data from the eleven participants who identified as socialist, communist, or anarchist, which allowed me to better focus on radical EJ activism.

I grouped the interview questions into the following four objectives:

- 1. Understanding their work: What kind of environmental work have they done?
- 2. Formative environmental experiences: What turning points, emotions, and experiences impacted their approach toward environmental issues?
- 3. Barriers to environmental action: What issues have hindered their environmental activism?
- 4. Their environmental approach: What characteristics does their activism have (Intersectional vs single-issue, extreme vs moderate, and individual vs systemic)?

These questions are central to the focus of this study because they allow participants to address the factors that have influenced their environmental action. To find themes and commonalities between the interviews, I used a "middle-order approach" combining deductive and inductive coding. ²²⁵ I developed codes ahead of time based on intersectional environmental theory while remaining open to discovering new codes and themes throughout the data analysis process. After transcribing interviews, I asked all participants for their preferred pseudonym. Prakrit, Silas, JD, Cliff, and Beyoncé were the only participants who provided one, while the rest suggested that I choose one for them. For this reason, I asked ChatGPT to randomly assign names to the remaining participants. It happened to choose nature-related names, which was unexpected. I then performed thematic analysis to find themes between codes and across interviews. I noticed how frequently each code and theme emerged to determine which are most relevant, and then summarized my findings. In refining quotes, I sometimes removed common filler words and phrases such as "like," "um," "so," "I think," and "you know?" and occasionally made similar minor adjustments for clarity (such as removing any repetition of words that didn't seem intentional) when making these adjustments didn't significantly change the meaning of the

quotes. I also adjusted some of the quotes to remove information that might be used to find participants' identities, while retaining the original meaning of each quote.

There were some instances in which participants shared information with me "off the record." This information typically related to their engagement in or association with somewhat more radical action, or involved intra-movement discourses that they felt were not beneficial to share outside of the movement. In these cases, I omitted that information from my analysis completely. While this caused slightly less radical and exciting results, honoring participants wishes about the conditions under which they feel comfortable disclosing sensitive information is necessary for ensuring this research doesn't harm the communities it studies. To support this goal of non-harm, I provided a copy of the results to participants to ensure they were content with the way they were represented.

Methodology

I center an intersectional antihierarchical lens, which encompasses anticolonial/anti-imperial, antiracist, anti-capitalist, disability justice, transfeminist, ²²⁶ and animal rights politics throughout this thesis. I choose this lens because hierarchical systems of nationalism, ²²⁷ speciesism, ²²⁸ cisheteropatriarchy, ²²⁹ ableism, ²³⁰ racism, ²³¹ colonialism and imperialism, ²³² casteism, ²³³ and classism ²³⁴ are intertwined root causes of our current environmental crisis, and the same groups marginalized by these systems are being doubly marginalized by environmental crises. In this section I will briefly explain the applications of this framework to environmental justice, however this topic is explained more fully in the literature review chapter under "intersectional vs single issue changemaking."

There is a robust pool of literature linking capitalism, racism, colonization and imperialism. Rosa Luxemburg refers to imperialism as "capitalism in the final stage of its historical career" and theorizes that as capitalism exhausts resources locally, it needs new areas to extract resources from and naturally takes up imperialism. ²³⁵ Four years later, Vladimir Lenin published "Imperialism, the Highest Stage of Capitalism." In the same vein, Samir Amin refers to anti-capitalist struggle as being necessarily "a struggle against imperialism." Martin Luther King Junior similarly described "the evils of capitalism" as "as real as the evils of militarism and the evils of racism." Flores and Greenwood state that "any effort to undue structural racism must seek a racial capitalism lens. A true anti-racist is distinctly anticapitalist." Even in literature that focuses on one of these systems of power, the other systems are consistently analyzed.

These frameworks of an interconnectedness between capitalism, colonization and imperialism, racism, and cisheteropatriarchy are particularly useful in explaining both root causes and impacts of environmental destruction. ²⁴⁰ Archbishop Desmond Tutu uses the phrases "adaptation apartheid" and "climate apartheid" ²⁴¹ to describe the life and death impacts of unequal distribution of environmental hazards on marginalized communities. In relation to race specifically, activists and researchers use terms like environmental racism. ²⁴² Some scholars, such as Ramachandra Guha, note that inequalities can also be perpetuated through conservation or environmental efforts that directly harm marginalized communities, such as tribal people being displaced from their homes in the name of conservation. Guha refers to deep ecology, which he connects with this concept, as "conservation imperialism," ²⁴³ and Douglas Long notes similarly that deep ecology is frequently critiqued "for valuing animals above humans." ²⁴⁴ In the context of energy justice, Sovacool et al. posit that "feminist, Indigenous, anti-racist and

postcolonial approaches offer an important remedy to theories of justice with underlying colonial, liberalist, majoritarian, utilitarian, or masculinist assumptions."²⁴⁵ These lenses are useful in my analysis in that they allow me to understand the causes and impacts of environmental crises, which provides valuable insight into activist responses to these crises.

Limitations

Interviews do have drawbacks, as they can be time-consuming and carry a high labor cost, researchers can have difficulty collecting a large sample, and the interviewer's skill and experience can highly impact the validity of the results, especially if there are multiple interviewers.²⁴⁶ In contrast to archival research or literary analysis, through which the sources themselves are not impacted by the process of study,²⁴⁷ interview data might be skewed depending on the way it is conducted. Social desirability bias may skew participants' answers.²⁴⁸

Because I am completing this thesis as part of a Gender & Women's Studies program, it's worth addressing ecofeminism, which I perceive to be an incomplete lens to analyze environmental violence. Despite the absence of anticolonial, anti-capitalist, antiracist, and trans liberation analysis throughout much of ecofeminist theory, Masatsugu Maruyama shows in *Deconstructive Ecofeminism*²⁴⁹ and Lois Ann Lorentzen argues in *Indigenous Feet* ²⁵⁰ that effective ecofeminist approaches must account for context and culture beyond solitary gender analysis. Ynestra King argues that the nature/culture and woman/man dualisms are socially constructed and should be socially reconstructed,²⁵¹ and Susan Griffin argues that the social construction of "women" and of "nature" must be understood together.²⁵² Brinda Rao critiques ideas of a woman-nature connection that paints women (and particularly indigenous women) as both victims and activists, promoting "an essentialist construction of women and" indigenous

people.²⁵³ Due to my educational background in gender studies, this thesis uses feminist sources more heavily than others. However, I attempt to avoid the limitations of ecofeminism through employing an anti-essentialist and anticolonial environmentalism.

This study's anti-essentialist and anticolonial approach aligns with the experiences of participants in this study, who did not report identification with essentialist or traditional womanhood as influencing their activism. When participants did refer to gender and sexual identity, it was more commonly related to their LGBTQ+ identities than to ideas of womanhood. Overall, issues of colonization, militarism, and control of land seemed far more relevant for most participants in comparison to gender and sexuality. For instance, ten of the eleven participants brought up the genocide of Palestinians as a primary concern of theirs. This genocide certainly impacts women, but occurs primarily on racial, ethnic, and economic grounds and is executed using military forces that dispossess people of the lands they have cared for and relied on for generations. This tactic of forced alienation from land is a common characteristic of colonial genocide (for instance, in the U.S. governments genocide of Indigenous Americans). This shift in focus might indicate that many radical environmentalists have departed from ecofeminism and adopted a more relevant and applicable decolonial environmentalism.

Reflexivity

Feminist standpoint theorists such as Patricia Hill Collins,²⁵⁴ Donna Haraway,²⁵⁵ and Sandra Harding²⁵⁶ emphasize the importance of positionality and experience in knowledge production and critique positivist research. Transnational and postcolonial feminist theorists such as Chandra Mohanty²⁵⁷ and Gayatri Spivak²⁵⁸ have critiqued how the white feminist gaze can perpetuate colonial dynamics and fail to accurately depict experiences of subaltern women. As

the impacts of environmental crises disproportionately impact marginalized groups who are rarely centered in environmental decision-making, it's essential to ensure that marginalized groups are not spoken over or misrepresented in this research. It's also important that I continue to conduct research and engage in environmental justice activism in solidarity with frontline communities. This means I need to confront how my standpoint influences the biases I approach this research with and ensure that I am not positioning myself as a definitive authority, but rather as a person making observations from a specific identity within a specific cultural context.

I'm pulling heavily in this research from my experiences with environmental justice activism, which is situated within a white, relatively feminine, and mostly able-bodied standpoint. White femininity provides a fragile image that has protected me from policing and allowed me to be inflammatory in my actions and statements in a way that people of color can rarely safely do. While this can be leveraged for activist purposes (as has been done by the raging grannies, for instance), it also carries a potential for harm within activist organizations (as was also the case for the raging grannies²⁵⁹) and when constructing knowledge. This positionality has shaped my experience with activism, and it's not possible for me to separate myself from that bias. This might impact interviews, as it would be perfectly reasonable for activists of color to be distrustful of me, given the role white people have played within environmental movements throughout history. My environmental work, however, might provide me some insider status, making interview participants somewhat more trustful. I hope that through strong objectivity and reflexivity²⁶⁰ practices, I can stay mindful of my bias to avoid misrepresenting or causing harm to the communities I'm studying. These practices include continuous self-reflection throughout the interview and analysis process, transparency about my background, and seeking input from mentors and peers.

Chapter 4: Results and Analysis

This chapter provides the results from my interviews with eleven participants who identified as communists, socialists, and/or anarchists who have participated in environmental justice activism. I will discuss recurring themes related to participants' political-environmental theory and praxis that emerged across interviews. Specifically, these themes relate to factors that prompted and sustained their political-environmental theory and activism, barriers to their theory and activism, and strategies and recommendations activists had for others who are interested in creating positive social and environmental change. At the end of this section, I have included additional observations and insights that didn't fit within the above theme categories. Along with each theme, I will provide direct quotes from the interviews as well as findings related to the theme from existing research.

Of eleven participants, five identified as socialist, four as both communist and socialist, one as only communist, and one as anarchist. Four participants identified as women, three as men, three as nonbinary/genderqueer, and one as both a man and nonbinary/genderqueer. Six participants identified as white, three as a race that wasn't listed, one as Asian, and one as Black. None of the participants identified as Middle Eastern or North African, Native American or Alaska Native, or Native Hawaiian or Pacific Islander. Two participants identified as Hispanic or Latino (one of whom identified as white, and another identified as a race that wasn't listed) while nine identified as not Hispanic or Latino. The average age was 32.3 years, with the youngest participants being 20 and the oldest being 72. Four participants identified as Upper-Middle Class, three as low-income, two as Middle-Class, one as lower-middle class, and one as high income. Seven of the eleven participants were LGBTQ+. To break this up further, seven participants identified as cisgender, three as transgender, and one as an identity not listed. Four participants

identified as straight, three as bi/pan/multi-sexual, two as gay/lesbian, and two as a sexuality that wasn't listed. None of the participants identified as asexual. Most participants were not religiously affiliated. Three participants were atheist/agnostic, two were spiritual but not affiliated with a religion, and one reported no religious affiliation. There were, however, some religious participants. Two were Muslim, one was Buddhist, one was Jain, and one was Jewish. No participants were Hindu, although one mentioned growing up Hindu. Likewise, no participants were Christian, although several mentioned being raised Christian. Nine participants identified as not disabled, and two as disabled, however, three participants who identified as not disabled mentioned that their health conditions have made activism difficult. This indicates that while medical conditions impact their ability to engage in some of the actions they'd like to participate in, they might feel "not disabled enough" to identify as such on a survey.

Prompting and Sustaining Activism and Theory

Experiences with Nature, Its Destruction, and Its Protection

Nearly every participant listed experiences in nature as a primary contributor to their care for environmental issues. They also frequently included feelings of oneness with nature in these stories. When asked what sparked her interest in the environment, Fern, a 43-year old cishet low-income white woman who identified as a socialist, responded:

The main thing that got me interested was growing up outside and being part of nature. And then wanting to protect it... and show that we were part of this, not separate from it. That was the main thing that turned me into an activist. Like, "Wow, this is beautiful, and I want it to stay safe."

Forest, a 21-year old cishet white socialist similarly stated that spending time in nature with other people was formative to his care for the environment.

I would spend a lot of time outside just with friends and family growing up. And I think that definitely got me interested in caring about the environment from early on.

Cliff, a 20-year-old multisexual white trans man who identified as a socialist and a communist, provided a similar answer, suggesting that spending time in nature helped him appreciate the environment. He noted that he didn't have as much time in nature as he would like, and listed structural barriers to spending time in nature, such as lack of natural spaces in cities with carcentric urban design and having caretakers who discourage spending time outside. Cliff expressed that learning about environmental destruction after he'd already developed an appreciation for nature evoked an emotional reaction, where he felt sad about the idea that people in the future wouldn't be able to experience this connection with nature. Once he was emotionally involved in the issue, becoming aware that there were activist efforts to protect the environment inspired him to take action as well. Cliff reported:

I started to value environmentalism when I started valuing nature... Going out in nature and learning about things like deforestation and natural habitats being destroyed and thinking "Other people in the future might not be able to do this same thing that I really value" is really emotionally affecting and saddening, especially since going out in nature wasn't something that I did super often, but I really loved it... There are a lot of kids where the adults in their lives don't want them going outside, or they live in towns where there's not much natural space. It's just four-lane divided highways and fast-food places on either side... And then I saw people were trying to fix that... Getting that experience was really important to leading me into activism."

Sky, a 25-year-old non-binary/genderqueer Black trans anarchist, similarly felt that witnessing the 2020 Black Lives Matter uprisings prompted a period of confronting their previous beliefs about systems of power such as policing. Sky noted:

The 2020 uprisings were very critical because I think it forced me to also reconcile with what I had long held inside internally and perhaps what I didn't say, but also really forced me to do a lot of hard unlearning.

The participants indicated that spending time interacting with nature created a connection with nature. This connection with nature (or in Sky's case, with other people) meant that when they later encountered its destruction (as will be discussed later), they were upset. Participants also noted that their anti-capitalist and anti-hierarchical radicalization came about through seeing that when the environment was destroyed, corporations and governments were typically behind the destruction. Seeing activists combat this destruction showed the participants that they, too, could take action, and inspired them to learn more about the issues and get involved in activism themselves.

Activists also reported that they became involved in activism when they found *environmental issues in their backyard*. Beyoncé, a 72-year-old cishet woman, expressed that she began her anti-CAFO (Concentrated Animal Feeding Operation) activism when a neighbor alerted her that plans were in place for a CAFO to be built. She was initially relatively unconcerned, assuming that it was somewhat distant, but once she realized the CAFO would be built a mile from her house, she "went into high gear."

He [Beyoncé's neighbor] called one afternoon and said, "How do you feel about a CAFO coming in south of you?" And I'm thinking down by [name of city], and he said, "No, it's a mile from you." And I'm thinking, "Oh, my." I wrote a flyer, and I was out canvassing the neighborhood by 5:30, trying to get people to know about this. This was on a Monday. We had 25 people at our house on Friday, and we started an organization... I've always thought, "Oh, the environment, that's really terrible." But the environment is not "out there." I'm part of the environment. When I breathe, I'm part of the environment.

In a similar vein, JD, a white nonbinary socialist, stressed the temporal and geographic immediacy of environmental crises. They argued that to justify inaction:

We sustain the illusion that "it's coming," and it's not. It's here. We're in it. We are it. Now, I don't go into the classroom and go "our time is limited, so rise up!" That would be insane, because again, what I'm advocating is learning how to live with this knowledge. And it's a terrible knowledge.

Ocean (a 24-year-old white Hispanic/Latino communist/socialist) similarly expressed that witnessing environmental destruction by nearby corporations contributed to their radical intersectional environmental orientation. As a firsthand observer of local human-made environmental crises, Ocean noticed they were causing suffering along intersectional (class, racial, and gendered) lines. In addition to witnessing its destruction, spending time in nature cultivated their connection to nature. Ocean explained:

Growing up, we spent a lot of time in the woods, and we'd spend the whole summer at the beach... The ocean is just very crucial to me. I've always felt most at home and most free in nature. What it brings and provides and how we're a part of it has always felt very clear. And then seeing that compared to the very clear degradation and exploitation of it and how that affects everyday people and people who are victims of the oil and gas industry. ..

I grew up in the Gulf South, where it's impossible to ignore the impact of the oil and gas and chemical industries. The coast is a beautiful, amazing part of the country that has been absolutely taken over by the fossil fuel industry. And it's suffering deeply from climate change. It's a really poignant example of how class, race, gender, and environmental issues all come together in one place. And then growing up and experiencing hurricane Katrina firsthand and experiencing hurricanes every year was a big part of it.

Brooke similarly emphasized the importance of recognizing environmental issues locally while making connections between these local issues and broader global environmental issues. Brooke invokes feelings of collectivity and connection, and suggests a moral obligation to care for other people within this collective.

There are so many things that are really important and have to do with literally where I live, the neighborhood that I'm in, and what's happening here. And it's important to see how all those movements that seem very local are connected to something bigger, like stopping the Dakota pipeline. Worrying about water safety in Flint, Michigan. All those things are connected to this larger idea of like we are a collective, and we need to care for one another.

For participants in this study, direct experiences in nature cultivated feelings of connection and oneness with nature, and direct experiences with environmental destruction both prompted action

to protect the environment and created more radical anti-capitalist, anti-racist, feminist environmental frameworks. Existing literature has consistently validated this finding that direct experiences with nature and with environmental destruction may encourage action to protect nature and combat environmental destruction. ²⁶¹ Participants reported that their radical frameworks arose when they noticed that corporations and industries tended to be causing the local environmental crises that impacted them and the people close to them. In addition, for Cliff, seeing that others were combatting environmental destruction inspired his activism. For Beyoncé, a neighbor's direct invitation to take action around a local instance of environmental destruction inspired her activism (I analyze this social aspect in-depth under "Social Support"). This implies environmental activism might effectively be cultivated by providing people with experiences in nature, bringing them to locations where nature is being destroyed (this destruction will likely be a direct result of capitalism, colonization, and/or imperialism, due to the nature of environmental problems), making the connection between environmental issues and the aforementioned systems of power explicit, and providing examples of concrete activist actions they can take to address these issues.

Moral Emotions: Anger, Guilt, Shame, Responsibility, Moral Obligation vs Delegation, and Complacency

Participants in this study frequently reported feeling emotions related to morality, including anger, guilt, shame, responsibility, and moral obligation. Prakrit, a 22-year old cishet Asian man, shared a story in which he *directly ascribed guilt to himself after causing harm* to an animal. This guilt was the primary motivator for his future actions. Prakrit grew up in a city with many street dogs, and when he ran over a puppy with his bike as a child, he started feeding the

puppy to make amends. Soon, other dogs in the area started coming to him for food as well.

Prakrit recounted:

One day in maybe fourth grade, I ran over a puppy with my bike, and he cried. I felt really bad that day. I felt guilty, and then I started feeding that puppy. When I started feeding him, the other dogs near my house also came in, and from that day, I fed them. I felt so bad. I was like, "Oh, why did I do that?" I did it because I thought puppies and dogs were just toys. I was not treating them as living creatures. I was being stupid, but I really did that, so I tried doing something good because I did something wrong. And the more I saw the dogs, the more I saw how skinny they were. So I had to help.

This realization – that his past disregard for street dogs had caused harm – prompted feelings of guilt. This motivated Prakrit to continue taking care of many more dogs, as he felt responsible for their well-being. Prakrit's story aligns with several studies outlined in the literature review section on moral emotions which reported that shame and guilt can effectively motivate PEB. ²⁶² In Prakrit's case, the sense of responsibility for the initial harm ("I really did that") may have led to a larger feeling of responsibility for the dogs in his city ("I saw how skinny they were, so I had to help") despite not having caused the larger issue of a lack of infrastructure to support the many unhoused dogs in his city.

While Prakrit's story aligns with much of the literature on guilt and PEB, it seems to contradict one study by Bissing-Olson et al. who found that guilt was not associated with higher PEB.²⁶³ Bissing-Olson et al.'s results may be due to a concept called "delegation." Kollmuss and Agyeman frame "delegation" (such as through ascribing responsibility to others) as "a means to remove feelings of guilt" that tends to decrease likelihood of engaging in PEBs – especially those involving personal sacrifice.²⁶⁴ Through delegation of responsibility, people can override feelings of guilt and justify inaction. Supporting this theory, Antonetti and Maklan found higher pride and guilt was associated with higher feelings of personal responsibility for environmental outcomes, which led to more PEB,²⁶⁵ and the Model of Responsible Environmental Behavior

(REB) similarly suggests a sense of responsibility is a prevalent factor involved in PEB engagement.²⁶⁶

Several activists in this study delegated guilt to systems of power and exempted themselves from guilt. These activists recommended that people try not to feel guilty about not doing enough, precisely because these issues are so much larger than us and it's legitimately not possible for us to fix these issues alone. Brooke critiqued how focusing excessively on making perfect individual consumption choices can yield a level of shame and guilt disproportionate to the real impact these choices have, and that it would be better to focus your energy on changing systems. As Brooke said:

It can't be just "did I make the right choice today," and then experiencing shame around that... I feel like there's a lot of misdirected shame and guilt around consumption. If that energy was directed at addressing these bigger issues, maybe more would get done.

On the other hand, Cliff suggested that excessive attachment to *huge systemic change* can make it easy to feel discouraged about not doing enough. He argues that change is created through the actions of many people over time and recommends trying not to hold yourself to an unrealistic standard of creating a huge revolution on your own. According to Cliff:

I see people talking about things like revolution, and it's like "if it isn't this great big visible change, it's not worth doing," but that's not true. Progress is made up of a whole bunch of tiny steps. You shouldn't feel discouraged because you're not doing enough. There's realistically probably more that you can do, but you shouldn't feel guilty about not doing enough because doing anything helps.

Cliff and Brooke's arguments seemed to frame guilt and shame as ideally avoided because they're exhausting. While these arguments could be used to justify inaction (e.g. "corporations are the real cause of climate change, so it's fine for me to stop recycling," or "the movement is bigger than me, so it's fine for me to skip this protest"), participants seemed to use these

arguments as strategies to avoid the burnout that might come with taking on too much personal responsibility for issues you legitimately have little control over.

Along these lines, some activists reported that feelings of obligation and the action they prompted were uncomfortable. For instance, a 20-year old cis lesbian named Iris found this discomfort was severe enough that it led to her disengagement from activism. She described social dynamics within environmental organizations that made her feel pressured to perform a certain type of environmental activism. While she didn't refer to her feelings about this as "shame" or "guilt" specifically, she did reference feeling like she "had to" engage in a certain type of activism to fit in. This social pressure (and the potential shame that might arise if she failed to be the perfect activist) was ultimately too much and contributed to her decision to stop engaging in environmental activism. Some activists similarly found that feelings of obligation were uncomfortable but were able to work through this discomfort. Sky, for instance, reported feeling obligated to make sure their mother was educated about social justice issues. This motivated difficult conversations with their mother, and while these conversations were uncomfortable, the discomfort wasn't strong enough for Sky to disengage. According to Sky:

This was really, really uncomfortable for me and really, really hard for me because *I had to* keep having these conversations with my mom about the things that I'm learning and really fight her on certain things so that she could understand and maybe even bring attention to things that she's considered normal for so long.

Other activists similarly ascribed guilt to systems of power without discouraging personal guilt/responsibility. This seemed to sustain their activism. For Silas (a 26-year-old Jewish Hispanic/Latino Communist/Socialist) this didn't lead to a disengagement in PEB, but instead, it led to an adjustment in expectations for the outcome of their actions. Silas reflects on this idea in more detail later. Beyoncé similarly expresses "They will keep building [CAFOs]...

so we just have to shame them." Both participants acknowledge that the issue is going to continue. Neither discourage feelings of guilt and shame, but they don't express any enormous personal guilt or shame for the issues, since they didn't cause the issues. This indicates that it's possible to ascribe responsibility to corporations, take the steps within our control to make as much progress as we can, and release as much attachment as we can to the outcome of our actions to preserve our mental health and avoid burnout.

Forest invoked a different kind of guilt, in which he directly and angrily ascribed guilt/responsibility to systems of power and oppression. In addition, he expressed a personal feeling of obligation to combat this oppression. While Forest hadn't caused the harm himself, he felt that knowing about the harm obligated him to address it.

If you're paying attention, you have to start caring about these issues because with the genocide in Palestine, if we let 26,000 people¹ just die without batting an eye, then we're fucked. We're totally fucked as humans. This drive to do something different has become just more and more of a drive for me over time. And yeah, I think a lot of it is just becoming older and more radicalized to how the world really works, and it's not any kind of world that I wanna live in. So I wanna do what I can to change it.

For Forest, this sense of responsibility to do something to address injustice is a significant motivating factor, even if paying taxes to the US government is the only harm he's caused Palestinians directly. The activating personal responsibility/obligation/guilthere is not tied to any feelings of direct personal responsibility to make amends for the harm you've caused. Rather, Forest reports a strong indirect feeling that when you are watching a government murder thousands of people, you'd be a monster not to do anything. It's worth exploring whether the "complacency is complicity" lens Forest is hinting at, which frames inaction as bad action, might be effective at increasing feelings of responsibility for those who haven't caused tangible harm.

¹ The incomplete count of Palestinians murdered since October 7th has now reached over 32,000.

Other activists have hinted at this moral responsibility as well. For instance, Ocean explained "We *have* to protect one another," and Brooke similarly stated "We *need* to care for one another," but other participants tended not to directly report such strong feelings of personal obligation for an issue they didn't create.

Every participant in this study ascribed guilt to systems of power such as corporations and governments for environmental destruction at some point in their interview, and this ascription of guilt to systems of power was not particularly de-activating for any of the participants. If anything, it seemed to trigger an activating anger which fueled participants' activism. Participants varied in terms of whether they brought up feelings of personal obligation or moral responsibility, although those who did framed it as motivating. This brings to mind Kleres and Wettergren's study which found that activists from the Global North "largely rejected" guilt, blame, and shame in their environmental frameworks, while activists from the Global South embraced guilt as a motivator. In Kleres and Wettergren's study, ascribing guilt to others was an activating factor when used to generate anger.²⁶⁷

Kleres and Wettergren also found that while Northern activists were largely "ambivalent" about anger as a motivator, anger was a prevalent motivator for activists from the Global South. ²⁶⁸ In the present thesis study, the activists' relationships to anger didn't have strong demographic correlates, but this might be due to the small sample size. Silas, Cliff, and Beyoncé embraced anger as the first emotion present in their relationship to environmental issues and activism. The other activists, however, tended to avoid discussing anger. This might have to do with the public perception of anger as scary, radical, violent, and ideally suppressed. Since activists in this study identified as radical, it's possible that some of the activists were more willing to transcend social stigma and express anger as a necessary and valuable emotion. In

explaining the way they perceive their anger, Silas, for instance, described a righteous anger a la feminist theorist and activist Audre Lorde:

I definitely feel anger. Hopefully in an Audre Lorde way, like this is the situation, it's frustrating, and I use that anger as fuel to fight it.

Cliff reported similar anger over responses (and lack thereof) to environmental issues:

There is some anger with the disregard for climate change, especially in America where it's treated as a political issue.

Beyoncé referenced anger as the first emotion she felt related to the environment but later expressed some critique of anger. Sky mentioned feeling emotions of sadness, hopelessness, and anger around watching people in power ignore environmental issues, but explained that having an "environmental justice perspective" helps them cope with these feelings. Sky explained:

There were lots of big emotions, like, I'm seeing all of these bad things happening but it seems like the people that are supposed to be dealing with it aren't, so that makes me sad or angry or feel a little hopeless at times, but also not. And I think that's also why having an environmental justice perspective is really helpful because then you have this historic reference to pull from of people of color who have also been in the same situations, time and time again who continue to fight and find some sort of a fire within themselves to continue going and then you have that support system.

Sky also mentioned that witnessing their brother's anger around being racially profiled was a turning point for them in gaining an understanding of racial and social justice issues in the U.S., recounting:

And then seeing my brother who would wear black hoodies, to then see other youth getting shot that looked like him and also seeing his frustration and his anger at that time, it was very much a bigger awakening in terms of social justice in a very short amount of time.

Anger and guilt were both mentioned much less frequently than I had anticipated, but did play a central role in motivating some participants. It's possible that participants felt uncomfortable discussing those feelings due to their social stigma. Feelings of moral obligation

or responsibility were frequently expressed, which I see as somewhat underrepresented in the literature on PEB. In addition, Forest's feelings of indirect guilt/responsibility (complacency is complicity) were particularly strong and compelling. This might indicate a need for more research on the role of feelings of duty, obligation, and responsibility in prompting environmental activism. In addition to demonstrating ascription of guilt to corporations and governments, participants also expressed distrust in the idea that corporations and governments would do anything to protect the environment, causing them to adopt personal responsibility for fixing these issues. Cassegård highlights ethical reasoning and moral obligation (feeling the need to "do the right thing" regardless of whether it will lead to the desired outcome) as underlying motivators to action, particularly for those who aren't particularly hopeful that their action will create the desired outcome.²⁶⁹ The next section will explore this activating distrust and hopelessness.

Anticipatory Emotions: Hope, Trust, Fear, and Expectations

Understanding the role of hope and trust for participants in this study requires viewing hope and trust as multifaceted political attitudes relating to specific political structures (e.g. "most of us have high trust for some things and low trust for others, and these levels of trust are deeply political"), rather than as a black and white personality trait (e.g. "there are hopeful/trustful people and hopeless/distrustful people"). Most participants reported high distrust in the idea that existing political-economic structures (like corporations and government) would combat environmental crises on their own, instead framing corporations and governments as being in (sometimes violent) opposition to environmental justice. Forest, a 21-year-old cishet white male socialist identified "trust in the political system" and in electoral politics as an "important divide" within environmental movements.

Based on the participants in this study, distrust didn't necessarily lead to a hopeless disengagement. Instead, it led to vigilance. Sky reported:

We're obviously living with this government that says they care about us. But through their actions, they don't. Reflecting on why we don't see a lot of like, revolutionary people of color in leadership anymore, it's because they might have been killed, or murdered rather, or exiled — things like that. I'm feeling all those feelings about that, but then also feeling hope through being able to show this to students in an education setting.

Sky considered the government to be the enemy and generated hope through engaging their community in the idea that we cannot trust the government to protect, or even refrain from murdering oppressed communities. They seemed to find hope in the idea that cultivating a distrustful awareness will spark a community urge to take issues into their own hands. Ocean also expressed distrust in the government and corporations, and (in separate quotes which I analyze later) framed activist experiences and college education as contributing to this understanding. Ocean stated:

When I was younger, I had more trust in the US government. I thought corporations were bad but the government's on our side. My distrust in the government built throughout my life.

Beyoncé similarly denounced any hope that the government or corporations would stop destroying the environment on their own, explaining:

I do feel hopeless that these are huge corporations and there's nothing we can do to fight... We have no fingers crossed. They will keep building. Because they see us as if it's all this open land, so we just have to shame them ... I won't see this fight done in my lifetime, but I can move it along a little bit the way those folks moved it along a little bit...

Beyoncé framed this lack of trust in corporations and her government to fix environmental issues as an alert that her activism is needed. Several activists, including Beyoncé, emphasized that

while they can't save the environment, they do hope to create some improvement. Silas similarly stated:

My friend's boss told them, and she's been in the movement for a really long time. She sees herself as a speed bump on the corporation's way to do whatever they want to do that is going to hurt people. Activists are like thorns in the side of Godzilla. I'm happy to be a thorn, but it is tiring... Especially when I was younger, and I think a lot of people get into any kind of activism and are like, 'Yeah, I'm going to change the world and we're going to fix this. It's going to be awesome,' then, getting to a point of being like, 'Okay, so there's not going to be like a big dramatic win necessarily. But if we can make that CEO's hair a little bit grayer by the end of this, then I'll take it, you know.'

While Silas originally felt hopeful that they could change the world, discovering how difficult it is to create change given the severe power imbalance between activists and decision-makers caused them to adjust their expectations so they could continue engaging in activism. Cliff reinforced this idea that while immediate change created by one person wasn't realistic, he could find hope in the idea that he was one of many people working for progress.

The reason that I continue to try and help is hope that like... more and more people will start to join in and even if you don't see this dramatic change right away, that's not usually how progress happens. So I think staying hopeful really helps.

Here, Cliff has hope that the cumulative efforts of many people can create change and frames this type of hope as a primary motivator for their activism.

Some activists emphasized the value of hope as a tool to motivate action, even when it isn't an intuitive response to the material state of the world. Ocean stressed the importance of finding a balance between understanding the urgency of environmental crises and avoiding the kind of "climate doomerism" that prevents people from even trying to act. Ocean explained:

I don't think broadly, a kind of immediacy has hit with most people of like, we really need to do this. But I find that a lot of times I talk to people, they're worried about climate change and all these things going on, but *they're kind of just like "We're fucked,"*

and like, no, dude. Like that can't be it because then we will be fucked... I hope things can be better."

Here, Ocean isn't claiming to believe we aren't fucked. Rather, they must believe there's hope to create the possibility of hope. The future is both hopeful and dire, but action is the only thing that will make it more hopeful. Silas similarly framed hope as a necessary practice, regardless of how realistic a safe future is.

This prison abolitionist Mariame Kaba, she says *hope is a discipline*, and I try to live by that. That even when I'm feeling discouraged or hearing about another big loss or something, I still have to hope. Even if it takes effort, we have to hope anyway. I really just pray that...we can't be collectively that dumb that we're going to let these literally made up entities (corporations and governments) kill all of us.

Kaba's hope goes beyond the passive notion of "thoughts and prayers" or simply trusting that everything will work out in the end. Hayes and Kaba talk about an activating "fire of hope," and make the compelling argument that even when hope is difficult to attain, "we know that hope is essential to social change because in order to make change, someone must first imagine that it can be so."²⁷⁰

Another activist, JD, reported conflicting perspectives on hope, mentioning a kind of idealized perspective on hope, moving to frame hope as enabling passivity, but (similarly to Ocean and Silas), asserting that they don't advocate for an acceptance of the idea that the fight is over. Still, the feelings of hopelessness linger.

It's ironic, because my mother used to say where there's life, there's hope. And I think for her generation, you know, that actually meant that that better times could come, and I'm finding the issue of hope...I don't want to call it disingenuous, but I think those that talk about hope are being disingenuous because just sitting around hoping for one thing and *inspiring hope in people to me is, is just...it's justifying passivity*...but I don't go into a classroom and go our time is limited, you know...that would be insane... You can get to the point of thinking "why bother living, other than the fact that I'm alive and I value life." It's complicated.

Most of the activists in this study had little trust that environmental justice would be reached in their lifetimes. They pushed back especially against the idea that governments or technocapitalists would fix environmental crises. This contrasts with the environmental volunteers in Maria Ojala's study, for whom trust in technology and politicians was a prevalent coping strategy to diffuse fear and activate hope. ²⁷¹ This finding is in line, however, with Grob's finding that "belief in science and technology" as solutions to environmental issues was slightly negatively correlated with PEB. 272 Activists framed their lack of trust in the political system and in capitalism as a factor motivating their activism. They also framed hope in several different ways: as generated through action, as easier to attain when paired with an awareness that largescale change happens through the efforts of many activists over time, as a necessary practice to motivate action, and as a reprehensible method to justify passivity. Participants did report some kind of hope, but it wasn't the kind of hope typically used to paint a sunny picture of activism. It was conflicted. It was accompanied by despair and rage, and it was in relation to the idea that their actions might bring about change, not that everything would turn out fine in the end, or that the people in power or systems of power would have any role in creating this change. If we are to encourage radical environmental justice activism, this is the type of hope we must cultivate.

Activists were somewhat split on their feelings around fear, both as influencing them personally, and as a mobilization tactic. Fern expressed some critique of fear rhetoric, suggesting:

I think the powers that be make things sound big and scary so we don't take action, and so we don't feel like we could ever make a difference. I think that sense of despair is the biggest thing that keeps people from engaging.

Here, Fern frames fear as inhibiting action, and discourages rhetoric that frames environmental crises as overly scary. In a similar vein, Kleres and Wettergren found "the danger-alerting

capacity of fear is embraced internally but rejected as an effective emotion in mobilization" for activists in their study. ²⁷³ In contrast to Fern's perspective, many activists in this study reported stigma around fear tactics, indicating that perhaps fear is an effective, but suppressed motivator of environmental activism. Sky, for example, expressed they'd experienced pressure to avoid using "scary" words and ideas when teaching about environmental justice because these ideas might contribute to climate anxiety. They suggested their empowerment-focused programming might have given students the skills needed to manage climate anxiety, and they also pointed out the contrast between being concerned for the climate anxiety of people in the global north while people in the global south watch their homes burn.

When one of our presenters putting together a presentation, someone was like, "don't include the two scary slides because you don't wanna make it sound too scary for the teachers." And I was thinking, yes, we don't want to trigger anybody. I do understand that. But I also feel like, especially here, "climate anxiety" has become a really big thing. A lot of people have asked us "do students feel climate anxiety?" And I've never seen a student in distress, or at least one has ever let me know of anything... I feel like a lot of climate anxiety can be avoided through the empowerment piece. And this concern is all happening while in the Global South, it's like, ok, but their actual house is burning. And our house is burning too, but it's a slow burn.

While the activists above critique rhetoric of climate anxiety, other activists expressed personal feelings of fear. Beyoncé expressed fear about health risks of CAFOs near her house as a motivating factor for her activism. This is in line with Séguin et al.'s finding that high perception of environmental health risks is the factor "most closely linked to environmental activism." Forest also framed fear as motivating, explaining that:

The environment was always important to me, and I knew climate change was a big, scary, looming issue. College is a big eye-opening, radicalizing experience for some people because they learn just how shitty everything is.

Iris similarly described climate change as "looming," however, Forest, and Beyoncé were the only activists who used any form of the words "fear" or "scared" to describe their feelings about

the environment. When I searched through transcripts for the various forms of these words, I found they were used primarily when referring to fear of the police, fear of being labeled as too radical, and fear of their university "cracking down on" them for their activism. The "Institutional Backlash and Cooptation," "Extreme and Palatable Activism," and "Lack of Social Support" sections of the analysis discuss this fear further.

Participants' conflicting feelings about whether and how change is made might support Huebner and Lipsey's model of a "situation-specific, multidimensional locus of control." This model suggests that people attribute outcomes internally, to "powerful others," and/or to chance. This recognition of different types of external loci of control (attributing outcomes to powerful others versus to chance) is useful in analyzing the perspectives of activists in this thesis study. Activists in the present study seemed to have a largely external locus of control but didn't attribute environmental outcomes to random chance. Instead, like activists in Huebner and Lipsey's study, they attributed outcomes largely to systems of power while trying to hold onto hope that their personal actions might contribute to a larger social movement. Huebner and Lipsey's model also suggests these attributions fluctuate based on the situations people are in. They found that for activists, their locus of control shifted further toward the "powerful others" dimension "after a disappointing political defeat." This seems to align with participants in the present study, who reported feelings of disempowerment after systems of power defeated their efforts. While this disempowerment could be demobilizing, it also seemed to evoke an activating feeling of anger or radicalization for activists in this thesis study as they begin to realize that systems of power and oppression have undue influence over environmental outcomes.

As I discussed in detail in the previous sections on moral and anticipatory emotions, activists in this study engaged in action without necessarily anticipating that their actions would

be successful or effective. For most activists, their reasons for engaging in activism seemed to be rooted in the idea that it was the right thing to do. Some activists expressed hopefulness or belief in their own ability to make things incrementally better, but they all seemed to determine that the state of the world is largely determined by systems of power bigger than themselves. In contrast, the Model of Responsible Environmental Behavior and Carducci et al.'s survey of Italian University Students both stress the importance of an internal locus of control (i.e. belief in your own ability to make change) in promoting PEB engagement. ²⁷⁶ It's important to note that participants did tend to advocate for engaging in actions that they viewed as being more effective at creating the desired change in comparison to other actions. This indicates that effectiveness of actions might influence which actions they choose to take, but not so much whether they choose to act.

Personality and Practices: Openness, Creativity, Empathy, Independence, Motivation, Intention, and Locus of Control

Literature frequently frames traits such as self-direction, creativity, curiosity, openness, and independence as contributing to pro-environmental behaviors and activism.²⁷⁷ Ocean mentioned that their rebellious/contrarian nature helped them reach certain anti-capitalist perspectives.

Where I went to school, a lot of people were like, "I wanna work in oil and gas." And I think I'm just kind of inherently a bit of a contrarian, so I was like, fuck y'all. I think that pronounced it a little bit more.

Similarly, Zibenberg et al. found independence and self-direction to be associated with PEBI and activism.²⁷⁸ Despite this, activists (including Ocean) repeatedly pushed back against the idea of independence, arguing consistently for living in community with others and creating structures

of support for everyone to benefit. This will be discussed in more detail under "Social Support." Ocean suggests "I don't really think there's truly any such thing as an individual," and explains 'building community is the most important avenue toward making the changes that need to be made." Sky, in contrast, expressed some critique of the idea of community, suggesting it's become so frequently used in social justice-related spaces that it seems to have lost its meaning.

I think community is an overused word. I was listening to this podcast, and Silvia Federici was saying, "I don't think we even know what community is anymore because community used to be tied to land and work and living in togetherness," And I think the groups that I've relied on that come through the most, we have this commitment to each other. We are not living quite literally together, but we are organizing in a long term way where we will eventually come to that point, and through this process have built trust. But it's just become like an icebreaker, like "how are you showing up for your community?" I'm like, ok. But what do you mean? Like, which one?

Despite their critique of the word "community," they still emphasize the importance of having one. This idea of community is somewhat inherent to socialist, communist, and social anarchist ideologies, which participants identified with. However, participants also indicated that holding these identities in North America requires willingness to go against the grain. This might suggest care for others alongside willingness to challenge social norms might be needed to engage in this kind of activism. This will be further discussed under "Lack of Social Support" and "Extreme and Palatable Activism,"

While none of the participants explicitly made any statements about their openness to new ideas or to change, their statements suggest that they all exhibited openness to new ideas and to change throughout their lifetime. For instance, the participants tended to explain that they didn't grow up within communist, socialist, or anarchist households, but rather developed these understandings through exposure to new ideas. Similarly, none of the participants framed attending protests or engaging in activism as being engrained in their early childhood experience.

Rather, when the opportunities to participate in protests and activism arose later in life, the participants explored those opportunities. In line with these observations, Zhou et al. found people with high openness to change had higher intentions to purchase organic food, and Grob found that openness to new ideas correlated significantly with PEB.²⁷⁹ When asked about practices they recommend for sustaining activism, Sky supported the benefits of a different type of openness: openness to rekindling connections and supporting others' efforts for change. In response to my question, Sky said:

Being open. When people float back and say "I know it's been a while. How are you? I have this great idea of how I can contribute to this organization," I'm like "Great! Yes, you can do that!" Keeping the door open to co-creation is important.

Sky emphasizes the importance of openness to connection and co-creation with people they've previously engaged in activism with, even when it isn't convenient. This aligns with a recommendation Forest and Beyoncé make in the next section to center community-building and connection with other activists as a means to sustain the movement and make activism enjoyable.

In addition to engaging in openness, participants frequently reported engaging in creative thinking as part of their environmental activism and as a strategy to sustain their activism. This is in line with the literature which suggests creativity is associated with PEB. For instance, Grob found the strongest correlation with PEB was creative thinking (tied with recognition of environmental problems),²⁸⁰ and Zibenberg et al. similarly found creativity and curiosity to be linked to PEBI and activism.²⁸¹ In the present study, Sky framed curiosity about the environment as important to generating pro-environmental action. In addition, a study by Daskolia et al. featuring interviews with teachers engaged in environmental education found that the teachers viewed "creative thinking as an inherent component of environmental problem-solving."²⁸² In this study, Ocean suggested engaging in creative thinking about alternative solutions and

creating community were some of their favorite parts about activism, explaining "what I love so much about organizing itself was creating community, talking to people, communicating ideas of 'what are alternative ways that we can think about the situation?" In addition, creating media to shift public consciousness toward a pro-environmental perspective is central to Ocean's current theory and practice of change. Fern similarly framed creativity as a tool to mitigate burnout and sustain activism. "I think that's one of the best antidotes to despair: creating things, instead of always fighting against things." On the whole, participants in this study frequently discussed creating, but typically in the context of creating just and equitable futures (for instance, JD's desire to "create a space for the least amount of suffering").

Participants also frequently expressed motivation and intention to protect the environment as prompting their activism, particularly toward the beginning of their activist journey. Research on PEBs generally asserts that both motivation and intention are positively associated with, but do not guarantee PEBs. Scholars have studied whether Pro-Environmental Behavioral Intention (PEBI) translates to PEB, and the factors involved in that translation. The Model of Responsible Environmental Behavior (REB) establishes that verbal commitments or intentions made to PEBs increases likelihood of PEB engagement. The Motivation Opportunity Ability Model describes motivation as encompassing beliefs, evaluations of outcomes, attitudes toward PEBs, and social norms. This motivation leads to PEBI, and opportunity and ability determine whether that PEBI is translated into action. ²⁸³ Participants such as Iris tended to frame motivation as a limited resource which tended to be a strong motivator at the beginning of their action, but dwindled with time. Iris recalled:

Especially in the beginning, I felt very passionate about everything that I was trying to work on and I felt very motivated at that point to learn as much as I could and to do the best that I could. And there were a lot of things that changed over the way I approached

climate activism specifically or just environmental activism in general. But at that point, I was just super motivated, and I thought activism is going to be everything that I do. And then as time went on, especially when I decided to stop doing it as much, there was just a lot of overwhelm and burnout. Plus, there was personal stuff going on that made it hard to balance that as well.

This brings to mind Silas's quote mentioned in the section on hope, where they similarly expressed feeling strong enthusiasm, motivation, and intention to engage in activism in the beginning of their activist experience, but encountered failure, which caused them to adjust their expectations.

I was surprised to notice that participants didn't spend much time discussing empathy specifically. Participants frequently used the word "care," but "empathy" and "sympathy" were not commonly referred to. Participants expressed deep personal care for environmental and social justice issues, and expressed frustration about people who don't share that care. For instance, when asked about barriers to activism, Fern explained "there's a lack of empathy – some people just don't care." JD, however, explained a shift they've made in their teaching strategy away from the focus on compassion and toward a focus on nonviolence:

What I landed on is called Ahimsa. It's a Jain philosophy and the principle of Nonviolence. I used to teach about understanding and extending compassion. I realized that's not enough because compassion is selective and sometimes exclusionary. Many people consider themselves compassionate but draw the line when it comes to other animals and so-called nonhumans. So, I thought, "Okay, Nonviolence, that's pretty direct and easy to recognize what constitutes violence. How can we continue teaching and living in a way that is about Nonviolence?"

It's possible that for JD, compassion as a kind of emotion people feel is less tangible and easy to determine than nonviolence. It's still worth considering how the shift toward a nonviolence frame might not always address the way violence is socially constructed. Most participants reported that they had always cared about other people and the environment, and struggled to find any experience that brought them from apathy to empathy. For instance, Cliff reported:

I'm not sure if I can pinpoint anything that flipped that switch for me, to be like, "oh, now I have empathy for people that are outside of my circle." It just kind of comes from getting older and developing like, my sense of like, what my values are.

Prakrit, whose story was discussed in detail under the section on guilt, was the only activist who reported developing a sense of empathy after a single specific experience. In his case, he developed empathy for animals when he hurt a puppy and felt guilt about the consequence of his original apathy. This indicates that people for whom empathy and care for others don't come easily might be able to reach these understandings through various practices. Literature that indicates empathy can be practiced to promote PEB supports this.²⁸⁴ Unfortunately, because the majority of participants reported that they had always felt a deep care and empathy for others and for the environment, I wasn't able to collect enough information to reach any conclusions about what kinds of experiences might prompt this transformation. This would be a great opportunity for further research on this topic.

Social Support

While many participants were unable to remember the origins of their activism, nearly every activism origin story involved a friend or family member who was interested in these issues and invited them to participate. When asked what inspired them to take their first environmental actions, Iris immediately responded:

I had a friend who was already doing some climate activism. And I personally also have a lot of like passion about that... so I decided to try and get involved.

Cliff responded similarly, explaining that their experiences in nature evoked an appreciation for the environment, but their parents' general disinterest in the outdoors reduced their intentions to engage in activism. Despite initially having low intention to engage in activism initially, they began engaging in environmental protests after a friend invited them to one. Cliff recalled:

I always loved going out and seeing Michigan. It's gorgeous and, I have an appreciation for it but... neither of my parents are very outdoorsy people. So I had kind of a base appreciation for it, but I never really thought it was... something that I would get invested in ... it was actually one with you [the researcher], I think, where we went to the capital. I think that was my first protest.

Supporting this, Schussman and Soule found "being asked to protest is the strongest predictor of participating in protest." For some activists, the social aspect prompting their activism was as simple as an alert. For Beyoncé, whose story was discussed in a previous section, they began their anti-CAFO² organizing when a friend called and suggested it. Silas similarly explained that when one of their college roommates became involved in work advocating for divestment from fossil fuels, they decided to help.

For divestment specifically, one of my roommates freshman year got really into it. So I would see her do things and I'd be like, "oh, hey, I'll help with whatever they were doing" because I was like, "yeah, you're right, and we're friends."

Many of the activists, including Silas, mentioned that they were encouraged by friends and family to spend time interacting with nature, which helped cultivate their concern for nature (as discussed in a previous section). Silas explained that they grew up helping their dad take care of plants, which was influential for them. Silas remembered:

I always cared about the natural world. My dad loves plants and he's very good with plants. So I would help him a lot and just kind of grew up doing that... that made a really big impact on me.

Ocean similarly expressed that their father's connection to nature influenced their environmental orientation, saying "for my dad, being outside was always really important to him." In a similar vein, Prakrit, a 22-year old cishet Asian man replied that watching his parents care for animals

-

² CAFO stands for Concentrated Animal Feeding Operation.

primed him to care for animals, however, this modeling wasn't a significant turning point for him. Prakrit explained:

My parents care about animals. My dad would bring up any injured birds, especially pigeons, and other birds that got hurt near our house... we have a space where my dad keeps injured birds... so I would see that and I would pick up injured birds. But I was not old enough to really understand yet. So I would just watch and see, but the interest was not strong.

Some activists also expressed that friends and family members influenced their political orientation. For example, Forest explained that their parents' values and care for social justice issues influenced his political orientation.

My parents both came from small Mennonite communities... a faith informed belief in social justice was always present for me growing up. And my parents always cared a lot about war and talked with me about Iraq and Afghanistan. They were politically aware. They were super democrat, neo-liberal, but now they have become much more radicalized.

Parents were frequently framed as influential to participants' care for environmental and social justice. This might indicate a need for future research on parenting strategies to encourage this kind of environmental and social care and concern (beyond cultivating the experiences this study finds influential).

Activists in this study also consistently reported that finding social support through their activism was crucial to sustaining their activism. Ocean for instance, explained they loved creating community and found that prioritizing joy and connection can help mitigate the impacts of the burnout which often accompanies activism. Ocean noted:

What I love so much about the organizing aspect was creating community, talking to people, communicating ideas of what are the alternative ways that we can think about the situation... Bringing joy into it has been something that I've seen people prioritizing, because they experience such intense burnout and mental health issues and all these

things because like, it's such a daunting task and you just see so much suffering and everything like that.

Beyoncé similarly emphasized the importance of having fun, and how that can sometimes be difficult to cultivate, but is necessary for creating a sense of community and trust among the people you're working with. Beyonce remembered:

At first people rolled their eyes. But I tried to make it really fun and people got to where they loved it, so you have to have fun. We get together, we're a great strike force. The five of us have just continued to meet in a friend's kitchen. And we don't really talk about CAFOs, we just have a lot of fun laughing, talking about the neighborhood, which I think is just important. We're all old. It's like we don't really have the energy to make it an ongoing "building your base," et cetera. But what I think is important is building relationships like just sitting around someone's kitchen having coffee and having a good time. Because you just learn who they are. You learn to trust them. You learn what their skill set is, so when it's time to go into action you're a real tight group, you trust each other.

In addition to framing community as necessary to avoid burnout, Forest expressed that the desire to be part of a community of people with similar values is a significant driver of his activism. He explained that while he is sometimes inclined to skip social connection and focus on the issue at hand, he feels that social connection is necessary to create a healthy movement.

I wanted to stay involved over time because these were things I really believed in... But a big part of it is just being a part of a community of people who share the same values and concern about the state of our world... When you're not living in the walkable city that is a university, it's hard to stay connected with people and be a part of communities... I think people need to connect better, focus more on building community, and support each other materially, psychologically and spiritually. Over my tenure in environmental activism, I've wanted to jump straight to working on the issue. But I think that what's more important is building healthier ways of relating to each other.

In other words, multiple participants reported that finding community through activism has helped them remain engaged in activism and suggested that other activists put effort into cultivating this kind of community. Supporting this finding, Conner et al. found that "A sense of

belonging to an activist community" was "a significant protective factor for mental health, physical health, and flourishing" for activists in their study.²⁸⁶

Knowledge and (College) Education

Participants across this study reported that gaining environmental and social justicerelated knowledge through a variety of educational experiences was instrumental in prompting
their action. Participants stressed the importance of various types of learning and knowledge.

Some participants emphasized knowledge gained through reading books or experiencing college
education with professors and other students who are passionate about the subject matter. Others
emphasized knowledge gained through social and real-world experiences. Participants also
stressed the importance of knowledge of activist strategies and techniques.

Participants consistently framed coursework, and especially college courses, as formative to their environmental frameworks. Brooke explained that college education was a major lightbulb moment for her.

When you come to college, you're like, "oh, the way that history has always been presented to me isn't actually factual." Like, here's Howard Zinn, the *People's History of America*, and you're like, "okay, it changes everything."

Ocean similarly framed history as crucial to developing their political consciousness. They recounted feeling frustration in primary and secondary school, where they were informed about social and political issues, but the importance was dismissed. Going to college, where they found instructors and students who were passionate and knowledgeable about these issues, they were able to make more connections and form a coherent and radical frame of understanding. Ocean reported:

History has always been crucial for me. I remember reading history textbooks in 7th and 8th grade and talking about colonialism and being like, "This is where racism comes from," and everyone being very casual about it, and I was like, "What the fuck?" I felt all these connections being made, but I still had this "history bends towards justice" idea... But I got more and more frustrated as I learned more... I got sort of radicalized but I had no language to express it. In college, my courses taught me so much about colonialism, slavery, and capitalism. Going to college, there was a whole universe of people who had dedicated their lives to these things I've been feeling, and I could learn from them, so a lot of things were clicking.

JD explained their strategy of bringing their activist knowledge into the classroom. They also emphasized knowledge for the sake of itself, even if it doesn't necessarily lead to much beyond a few students changing their minds and practices.

I now see that the time I spent in jail, out in the logging roads, and in the forests doing various demonstrations is now spent in the classroom as a form of activism, in a kind of bell hooks way, where teaching is activism. I feel like a secret agent in the classroom, where my aim is just to see some light bulbs go on. I can't do anything for anyone or have anybody do anything but come to terms with the reality of what's happening on this planet... And after some time of reflecting on the ineffectiveness of what I'm doing, in a larger scale, just recognizing that after working with people for a term, if there are 25 people in the class, well, maybe 15 of them will become vegan, and there will be a few fewer animals being exploited.

While they did frame attending college as formative to their environmental and political framework, Silas had some critique of traditional frames of education, emphasizing the importance of a "physical knowing" over a "brain knowing."

I feel like education is part of it. But lots of people know things and then they don't do anything with that... There's a brain knowing and then there's a more physical knowing. I think if you don't physically know, if you just brain know, that's not going to change your behaviors or your actions, and it's not going to make you more invested. Just because you can recite the facts or whatever, isn't necessarily always going to change your attitudes and your behavior.

Supporting Silas' critique, there are very mixed results regarding the value of "brain knowing." For instance, specific technical/scientific environmental knowledge hasn't been definitively shown to creating pro-environmental frameworks strong enough to prompt environmental

action.²⁸⁷ When it comes to the physical knowing, direct experiences with nature and with social systems that support environmentalism were two of the most prominent factors prompting environmental activism for participants in this study, and they were often reported to involve this kind of body knowledge Silas described, and the social learning Sky recounts here:

I didn't really think so deeply until in that moment about what that meant for myself personally. Until I was in that space and I was with the students, and we were just talking. And I was learning about myself through their experiences.

Sky also recalled that meeting and speaking with people their age during college was formative to their social and environmental justice framework, because it allowed them to learn about other people's experiences.

When I started meeting more people that were my age towards the end of college and around that age, and started to talk through it, and quite honestly got burned a little bit in terms of what I thought, because growing up, for instance, my family was not taught to be fearful of the police... and didn't really understand the deeper scars and how all that connected to slavery. But at the same time we have our own very different connections to slavery. So, yeah, it's definitely very complex, but college was a big thing.

While Iris had some knowledge of the issue, she cited a lack of knowledge about activist strategies and a lack of access to a network of activist mentors as barriers to activism. She explained that she had time, motivation, and intention, but didn't know how to implement her ideas.

The biggest barrier was the steep learning curve of figuring out what resources I needed and how to access them. I didn't know the pathways for anything. Unless you had networking connections, which are hard to get as a high schooler, it's hard to get the information and support you needed from people who are already in the field. There was just this big information barrier where I had the passion, and I had at least some time, but I just didn't know how to put it into use... I just didn't have any kind of training in anything. I needed a crash course on environmental activism. Like, everything you need to know to plan a protest.

Supporting Iris's experience, Hines et al.'s meta-analysis found an association between knowledge of environmental issues and action strategies and PEB. 288 Sky also emphasized the importance of education as an activism strategy, as a lot of their activist work revolves around providing environmental education so that young people have the tools they need to take action. Sky explained "What's really important is empowerment...the action of making sure that people have the tools and the knowledge to feel like they can do something." In the next section, participants explain what might happen when people have knowledge about environmental issues and action strategies, but institutions attempt to take opportunities for change away from these activists.

Barriers to Activism and Theory

Institutional Backlash and Co-optation

Participants reported environmental activism to be extremely difficult, with many barriers in the way. When I asked if she's encountered any challenges in her activism, Beyoncé laughed and replied, "oh, it's nothing but challenges." Several participants cited institutional backlash or fear of it (particularly backlash from their universities) as hindering their activism. For instance, Silas participated in divestment activism within a university setting, and explained:

There was a fear about repercussions. There were times when I wanted to get more into divestment, but I saw the University was cracking down on other people, and I don't need that in my life... They tried to suspend people and kick them out of housing. It was really bad... I have enough problems without making these powerful people my enemies.

For Silas, seeing the way the university reacted to divestment activism discouraged them from participating as much as they'd like to, as they were afraid of what might happen to them.

It's notable that while several activists briefly mentioned being arrested or getting into legal trouble, and another participant briefly discussed illegal actions "off the record," they didn't seem particularly eager to expand on these experiences. There is a culture within some more radical environmental circles where people are incredibly careful about when and where to share certain pieces of information regarding arrestable actions for their own safety. We often don't share our real names or anything illegal we've ever done, because there's always a possibility that the person you're speaking to is a cop. This fear of sharing information is a result of the many instances of police surveillance of environmental movements and state violence against environmentalists, which I have discussed in the literature review. For this reason, I chose not to push anyone to open up about experiences of arrest or illegal activity unless they seemed open to it, as that might involve sharing incriminating information or experiencing retraumatization through feeling pressure to recount traumatic experiences.

JD, however, did feel comfortable sharing some information about being imprisoned for environmental justice activism.

We were served a summons to appear in court and we were going to be charged. And of course...had we paid a fine, it would have disappeared... We all made the decision that we would not pay the fine and would thereby accept jail time to make a public statement.

In this case, the government charged a group of activists for engagement in nonviolent civil disobedience, and the activists had the choice between paying a fee and serving jail time. The time they spent in jail was a sacrifice they made to draw public attention to the issue. This sacrifice of time is inaccessible for people who have certain jobs (more on this under the "employment" barrier). The sacrifice of potential damage to one's legal record is something Prakrit mentioned he is unable to take on as an international student without risking deportation. In addition, the "option" to pay money for bail is clearly not accessible to those without money.

Several participants brought up the connections between police violence against people of color and police suppression of environmental movements, with Brooke mentioning Cop City construction in Atlanta, where the state patrol murdered environmental protector Manuel Estaban Paez Terán (also known as Tortuguita) in January 2023. Sky also addressed how the areas around pipeline construction grounds tend to be dangerous, as these man camps are "where many of the missing and murdered indigenous woman" are trafficked and/or killed. It's possible that this perception of various crucial environmental battle sites as dangerous, particularly for people of color, might inhibit participation in protests at these sites.

Some participants reported that less extreme institutional backlash can also serve as a barrier. Such backlash can take the form of condescension, lying, and manipulation. Ocean, who worked on a divestment campaign, reported that institutional condescension and gaslighting significantly damaged their relationship with their university.

People ask "did you enjoy college?"...honestly, the whole time, *I felt like I was at war with my university* ... they make an exorbitant amount of money on lands they're actively extracting oil and natural gas from... Oil and [the university] are married in a very clear way financially, so a lot of [interactions with university administration] involved being dismissed as unreasonable, being dismissed as if we don't understand like how the real world works, and really being punished for wanting to make change... It was beyond frustrating.

Ocean understood that the university was making their investment decisions based on profit, rather than on a sense of responsibility to students, and the university's false excuses and attempts to discredit activists left a sour taste in their mouth. Beyoncé similarly expressed that her anti-CAFO organizing had encountered strong institutional opposition, but also noted that even in one of the instances where they were successful, the government refused to acknowledge that their decision was a result of activist efforts, instead opting for similarly condescending rhetoric.

They said the reason they pulled the permits was because it was too late in the year to pour concrete, which is not true. Then they said, "since we pulled them, all those people don't have to meet anymore." They're so condescending.

This disrespectful behavior from government officials contributed to her feelings of animosity toward her local government similarly to how disrespect from university officials contributed to Ocean's animosity toward their university. Iris similarly experienced that the administration at her high school was dismissive of their activism. "The administration was very 'whatever' about it," she explained. "They were very 'let's not get into this.""

Ocean also described sneaky and creative ways that systems of power would manipulate issues to make it difficult for activists to make any ground. For instance, Ocean explained that their university organized their investments in such a way that some of the oil money was used to fund scholarships, which set administrators up to frame environmentalists as anti-scholarship, even though any system which requires oil rigs to fund college tuition is obviously absurd.

As we put more pressure on them, they made a policy where a lot of this oil money was funding scholarships and they'd say "oh, so you don't want people to have scholarships?"... *There was so much manipulation*.

In addition to these actions, Ocean explained that since the university intentionally made information about their investments inaccessible, they had to expend large amounts of energy to figure out "what's even going on." Ocean also suggests that some university offices and programs pushed for students to focus on relatively ineffective changes, like community gardens and soapmaking activities. These highly visible, but very small-scale changes made the university look good while they were actively repressing changes that would make a much larger impact while being less visible.

They tried really hard to dilute the activism. [The university] has a newer sustainability major that I was a part of, and in the institution itself, there is the Office of Sustainability.

They tried really hard to dilute the work that we're doing and to, push us toward "let's build a community garden and make our own soap and put composting on campus!" and then, they made those things even, really difficult. You're just having all these people who really care and really want to do stuff getting thrown into work that is important but isn't really addressing the root of the issue and most of the time is just burning people out more and preventing them from participating more. This university would teach me these things [about environmental and social justice] and I'd try to put them into action and the administration would be like, "no."... I got incredibly radicalized from my organizing experiences.

Ocean's experience of becoming radicalized through coming up against institutional opposition to relatively palatable requests aligns with Keith Makoto Woodhouse's suggestion that extreme or confrontational environmental activism strategies are a result of the perceived ineffectiveness of traditional change-making efforts, rather than of the activists' inherent extreme tendencies.²⁸⁹ This story also aligns closely with Silas's experience becoming radicalized through their university's response to their divestment activism.

The first time I sat in with Divest, I didn't stick around for the whole thing, but people got in big trouble over it. And that really ticked me off. Before that happened, I was just thinking "I want us to do the right thing as the university and make an impact that we can be proud of." But after that, I was like, "wow. Literally fuck this." Like this whole system of power is so entrenched, and they don't care if they incinerate all of their students. They don't give a fuck. Before, I thought it must just be a coincidence that they're doing this bad thing, and they probably just don't even know that it's bad yet, so we'll tell them. But then afterwards, I was like, "fuck those guys."

JD similarly highlights institutional cooptation of environmental rhetoric, critiquing the disingenuous "lip service" activism that governments and universities sometimes participate in. They provide an example similar to Ocean's, where the university provides an easy and palatable environmental change they can champion, which they use to discredit more radical solutions. When more radical solutions are proposed, the University once again uses their idea of "the students" (whom they haven't even consulted) being disinterested to deflect responsibility away from themselves.

I got put into a discussion table with campus food services, and their solution at this teach-in on climate change at the university was, "Let's use these reusable cups." And I said, "Wait a minute. What about Cambridge University or Oxford, those institutions in the UK that have voted to have completely plant-based campuses? What about that?" They say "Students aren't interested," and I think that's bullshit.

In my institution, I'm mostly alone in speaking of real climate breakdown... and making a real change instead of just paying lip service, like the governments are doing. The talk is "Let's mine the oceans for lithium!" And I'm thinking...we've just had it.

Ocean expressed similar frustration with the disconnect between environmental messaging and policies in his city with a progressive reputation. While the city promotes itself as being environmentally friendly, Ocean feels environmental initiatives they participate in are aimed at making the city look better while often perpetuating additional issues such as gentrification.

Ocean reports that the city's promotion of its environmental initiatives could be seen as a form of greenwashing, where surface-level actions are used to create a positive image without addressing underlying issues. This can lead to the marginalization of voices advocating for environmental justice and the prioritization of symbolic gestures over meaningful change. Ocean explained:

[Ocean's city] is like, "we're [so progressive!] It's so green and pretty here!" But every single policy they do promotes gentrification, pushes out people of color, and puts people of color in the way of environmental hazards. Anytime people try and speak out about these things, the city doesn't care. But then they're like, "we're planting more trees, man!" Like, who is this helping? Is it actually helping anybody? It just feels like a facade. It's incredibly frustrating...

Participants in this study experienced and witnessed institutional backlash for environmental activism. In addition, they experienced cooptation of environmentalism by institutions that wanted to appear pro-environmental but were in explicit opposition to larger pro-environmental policies behind closed doors. This cooptation and backlash made it difficult for them to accomplish their goals and sometimes discouraged them from engaging in activism. However, these challenges also seemed to have a radicalizing effect. Initially, activists believed that these institutions could be persuaded to prioritize human and environmental wellbeing if

made aware of the harm they cause. Yet, during negotiations, institutions such as universities, governments, and corporations conveyed that they must prioritize profit over ethics to survive under capitalism. This created a barrier where institutions viewed every demand motivated by ethics (rather than profit) as a direct threat to their profit-driven model. Surrendering to these demands would set a dangerous precedent that undermines their profit-motivated approach and, potentially, the capitalist system that necessitates it. Bearing witness to these judgements seemed to radicalize activists against both capitalism and these institutions.

Social Backlash and Lack of Support

In addition to reporting institutional cooptation of their movements, several participants identified a lukewarm lack of social support for their activism, which they found frustrating and isolating. Iris described her experience with environmental activism in a conservative high school.

There was this group of people who were like, "good for you doing this. But, like, I won't," and like, "oh, it's a bit too much..." any kind of left-leaning ideas were a little bit wild.

While people were typically outwardly polite to Iris, she got the impression that leftist activism was perceived as being socially unacceptable. Ocean expressed a nearly identical, but slightly less negative response by peers to their activism in college and outlined the feelings that evoked in them.

There is just like a little bit of like you care about this and that's great, but I'm not a part of it, you know... Which is fine. But when it's like such a total issue and like an existential issue and it's like, framed so much of like how I see the world, it can feel, like, frustrating or lonely sometimes.

Here, Ocean expressed that while some of their peers encouraged their activism, their response didn't align with the issue's gravity and personal significance, leading to feelings of frustration and loneliness. Beyoncé expressed a similar sentiment, stating that many people in their community appreciated their activism, but wouldn't support it materially due to fear of backlash. Rather than expressing distress over this response, Beyoncé stated they were happy to see that people were ideologically on their side.

In rural America, in a very small community, people don't want to stand up because they have neighbors, they don't be ridiculed. But people would come up to me in a grocery store and they would say, 'I really like what you're doing. Please keep doing the work. I just can't say anything because my husband's a farmer, or my husband owns a local business. We can't afford to lose business,' et cetera.. But it was gratifying that so many people were anti-CAFO³ in the community

Beyoncé did, however, later express some exhaustion around how difficult it is to motivate people to participate in activism, recounting how people tend to get angry when they first hear about the issue, which motivates them to attend meetings, but "once the crisis is over, it's very hard to motivate people."

Some activists, including Beyoncé, also identified more intense social backlash, recounting that her friend received death threats for his activism, which was alarming, but that she hadn't been harassed in that way.

My friend, who started 20 years ago doing this, got death threats... He said we're unlikely to get those because you can trace that stuff so much more easily now. We've never gotten anything like that. They don't like me, let me tell you. There are a lot of people in the county that do not like me at all because I'm outspoken. I don't care about that one bit. You don't like me, that's fine, right?

-

³ CAFO stands for Concentrated Animal Feeding Operation.

Notably, while Beyoncé was aware that many people don't like her, she didn't seem particularly affected by it. Beyoncé went on to say that she doesn't care about whether various people in the community like her because she wouldn't want to be friends with the kind of person who would oppose her activism. She also explained that she has a strong social circle with people who share her ethical beliefs, which makes it easier to ignore her critics. Iris similarly explained that while there were people at her school who staunchly opposed her activism, she was able to ignore them easily because she was detached from a lot of the social dynamics at her school.

Some people there were very against everything that I cared about... I didn't really face a lot of backlash personally. That's also because I just wasn't really locked in on the social scene. So, if people were talking, I was not listening.

In addition to describing social backlash within their broader community, some participants explained how activism can create strain in their own interpersonal relationships. For instance, Fern described activism as putting strain on family relationships, both because some family members felt her activism was too extreme or led her down a life path they didn't want for her, but also because activism takes time that she'd otherwise like to spend with family.

There's always family saying things like, "oh god, you're getting yourself arrested? Are you in with a bad crowd? Do you know what you're doing?" There's always some of that, especially when you're younger. There's this "go get a real job." There's that sort of a backlash all else. If you're seriously involved in environmental action, it takes a toll on relationships. It's hard to maintain relationships when you're always working or when you're in jail or when you're hyper focused on some issue. The other things need to take a step back.

Ocean similarly expressed difficulty balancing "taking care of relationships" with activism. While Sky mentioned having some difficult conversations with their mother, it's notable that no other participants reported facing significant backlash from their family or friends on account of their activism. In fact, participants frequently mentioned being motivated by their parents. This could indicate that experiences of significant backlash from friends and family are enough to

discourage people from participating in a study like this, or it could just indicate that no one in this small sample of people happened to be in a hostile family and peer environment.

While many activists reported social connection through organizing alleviated burnout, as the "Social Support" theme illuminated, Iris reported intra-movement conflict and organizational politics were a barrier to her engagement in environmental activism. She found that social dynamics within the organization and shifts in organizational structure were "hard to keep up with," and distracted from the work at hand. In addition, she critiqued the fast-paced nature and pressure to be a perfect activist within an organization she was in. Iris explained:

I wish there was a culture of bringing people up and laying the educational foundation. It was a "move it or lose it" feeling where there were a lot of changes, especially within the youth organizations. If you couldn't keep up with all of that… it became very hard to feel like you were making any impact. I think that left a lot of gaps in knowledge and ability.

I wanted to belong to those organizations, and people wanted others to feel they belonged, but if you didn't approach things in this one specific way, you didn't really belong... If you weren't posting everything on your Instagram story...then you didn't care enough... There were a lot of social things that divided people, instead of focusing on the action everybody was here to take.

Beyoncé also recounted conflict within her activist organizations and explained going through a conflict mediation process. Similarly to Iris, she recalled that smaller peripheral issues tended to distract from the organization's central goal and explained that returning back to the shared mission was helpful in mediating this conflict.

We ended up hiring someone to do mediation. That was very helpful. She talked to each of us individually about problems we saw and what goals we had. Then she set an agenda for us...The big recommendation I can remember is to put things out on the table. That allowed people to say, "okay, I'm saying this because we all agreed when we met with the mediator that we would be open with each other." Being able to say "in the spirit of our mediation, I think we're going into the weeds and we need to get back on track" allowed us to keep focused on our goal and step back to acknowledge when we were getting frustrated and distracted from it.

In addition to the tip of staying focused on the shared goal, Beyoncé emphasized being open with one another and "putting things out on the table." This advice echoes Sky's solutions to organizational conflict. Sky similarly noted the importance of conflict resolution skills and of tolerating the discomfort of airing grievances within movements.

Conflict resolution has been a significant learning curve. It's helpful to have a mindset of "these are our people, there's no leaving these people" unless it's super egregious. Most conflict is so petty that if we just communicate about it early, it'll be fine. But if we let it fester, it becomes much bigger... And granted, resolution is not always quick. The longest process I've been in has been two years. And that's because it's a lot of practice. There's a lot of healing, breathing, and understanding "this person is not thinking this way anymore because we've done this process, and I should assume best intent." Especially if things have been festering for a long time, it doesn't happen overnight.

And even if it isn't conflict that has to do with you, it touches the organization. For example, something was said about one of our staff members. One staff member was like, "I don't know if I should talk to this person about it." I'm like, "We cannot tiptoe around members of our team. So, as my mom would say, we need to squash it and wash it, or essentially feel comfortable having uncomfortable conversations." A lot of strong movements have died because of bad communication or lack of resolution.

Sky explained that conflict resolution is a difficult and lengthy but necessary process, and emphasizes the importance of assuming best intent, of addressing issues as they arise rather than pushing them under the rug, and of viewing our co-organizers as part of our long-term team, rather than as disposable. While conflicts both within and outside of their organizing circles proved difficult for activists, they demonstrated a wide variety of strategies to overcome these conflicts.

Burnout: Time, Energy, Money, and Employment

Every activist in this study reported feelings of burnout, exhaustion, or frustration with their work. Hayes and Kaba frame burnout as "a profound exhaustion paired with an injury to our dignity or sense of belonging or a violation of our boundaries," which frequently occurs through the process of activism.²⁹⁰ Silas reported feeling exhausted because their efforts to create change are consistently thwarted by powerful people and institutions, causing them to feel like they are unable to create the change they need.

I'm just running into a wall every time because we know we need to phase out fossil fuels, but we can't because these powerful entities have decided that's not going to happen. And I can't do anything about that, which is just exhausting to think about.

Many activists supported their statement, with Iris noting feelings of discouragement over not being able to accomplish everything she'd hoped, especially given the constraints on her time and energy. She expressed that distancing herself from activism helped alleviate immediate feelings of burnout but didn't seem to make returning to activism easier for her. Forest also expressed feeling significant burnout and explained that gaining a feeling of oneness with the issues you're working on and the people you're working on them with has been helpful in alleviating that burnout.

Burnout is so real. They always say that you need to understand your self-interest and you need to be one with why you are working for these things, because otherwise it's completely unsustainable and I was like, "oh, yeah. That's cool" for a while and I never really understood it, until this semester, and I'm getting tired, to be honest.

Cliff expressed that both mental health struggles like depression and the need to have a job have been primary barriers to his activism.

One of the main barriers has just been mental health affecting my ability to do a lot of things, including activism. With depression, it kind of affects your ability to care about anything, and especially things that aren't right there with you... I've also been too busy with things like work to be able to go to protests and stuff like that.

Fern suggested that she would engage in environmental activities with her community more if capitalism didn't force her to have a job to pay for her and her husband's basic needs.

I would like to invite people to come and walk the trails and see things and I'm not ready because I don't have the time to devote to that because I have to work. I have to work not only to pay the bills but to have health insurance for my husband and I. If I didn't have to do that, I would have a lot more time to create this faster.

Sky suggested that this constant cycle of business and of struggling under capitalism is so advantageous to the class of people who benefit from barriers to activism that it might as well be intentional.

I think they purposely make us busy and stuck in wage labor because they know if we have more time and if our material needs are actually met, we would be thinking "Why are things like this?"

Some participants also explained that they have felt unhappy or burned out in their jobs at environmental nonprofits. For example, Silas recalled:

There was a time when I wanted to make that my career and that didn't work out. I wish I had more time for environmental action, but I couldn't make it my job. And I need to have a job. All the jobs I was seeing were very administrative and donor focused, which I can't enjoy... It seemed like, not in the movement but in environmental nonprofit scene, it's computer work.

Silas later explained that they wanted to apply for "hands-on jobs" within the environmental movement but found that those positions don't tend to pay a living wage. Sky also expressed that they're struggling with a lack of flexibility in their current job within the nonprofit field because their organization stresses the importance of being active in the community while requiring that they be in the office from 9-5. This makes it difficult to engage in the activism and organizing that they'd like to be more active in. Sky reported:

I am struggling with this current job. I'm able to do more research and they're okay with that. But I think the other jobs that I did were also open to me doing events and organizing and stuff like that, and this job is a little bit more of a "9 to 5 you must be in the office"... So, I think, this is just like a newer barrier... A good solution I've been playing around with has been sharing roles across organizations. For example, for our education programming, we share an educator... It allows for more job security and flexibility.

Activists in this study explained that the amount of time it takes to engage in effective activism and the time and energy demanded by the jobs they need to survive under capitalism leave little to no time and energy to spend meeting their other basic human needs. This led to burnout, which caused some activists to abandon activism. This decision is made because while they can abandon activism without putting themselves in significant danger, quitting their jobs would lead to homelessness and inability to pay for basic needs such as healthcare. In addition, the emotionally, intellectually, and sometimes physically draining nature of environmental activism and nonprofit work, combined with difficulty achieving "wins" when combatting systems of power was emotionally draining for activists in this study. They found that nonprofit jobs tended to be relatively restrictive and tied to funding, which made it difficult for them to engage in the activist projects that energize them.

Lack of Physical Access to Activist Spaces: Pandemic, Disability, and Transportation

Another less frequently discussed theme was lack of physical access to activist spaces. In this study, the main barriers to this were transportation, the pandemic, and disability. It's quite possible that if this study hadn't been conducted through the internet, I might have had access to participants who might have framed the internet as an activist space they don't have access to. Both Iris and Cliff expressed that a lack of transportation made it difficult to engage in environmental activism. Iris explained:

The other barrier was transportation. As a high schooler, it's much harder than as an adult. I can go to anything now. But when I was doing this, I didn't really have a car yet. When I started out, that made it really hard to say that you're gonna go to a protest an hour away. That is a huge thing living in a rural area. Now I live in Boston, and if I want to get to a protest in the city, I just take the train, walk, or bike. But in rural areas, it's much harder to get anywhere without a car.

Iris highlighted that this barrier is particularly difficult to overcome for people who don't have a license or car (often young people, low-income people, and disabled people) and people living in rural areas. Cliff echoed this statement, suggesting that because protests are typically held in bigger cities and not small towns, it's difficult to find protests within a reasonable driving distance.

The town that I live in has been a barrier. It's a small town, there's not very much surrounding it. The bigger towns are at least 40 minutes away. The protests are all held in bigger cities, which are at least an hour away sometimes.

Three activists in this study framed the COVID pandemic as a point at which their activism stopped or slowed down. Beyoncé explained her experience of meeting less with her activist group since the pandemic began and reported that her mold illness made it difficult for her to meet in the houses of her neighbors for activist projects.

With the pandemic, we haven't met much. We need to get back in the habit. Some of it is when I got mold illness, I couldn't be in a lot of places without having mold reactions. All the houses in the country are old farmhouses and they all have mold. People are very kind, and sometimes we just sit outside, but we're all old.

When asked about barriers to their activism, Silas also reported "Covid was a big one; that made it hard." Ocean explained that before the pandemic, they were doing "on-the-ground organizing, but when Covid happened, they "took a big step back" for their "own well-being." Their activism since the pandemic has related mostly to communication and art, which they enjoy and feel aligns with their strengths. In contrast, Forest explained that when Covid began and everything moved online, it was easier for him to participate in activism because the organizing meetings were done through Zoom, so getting to meetings physically wasn't an issue.

I came to college during when COVID was raging. And I was basically just in a dorm room. It was super easy to hop onto a bunch of Zoom meetings. That was a big social

outlet for me that first year, joining and becoming a part of these environmental activist communities.

Participants reported being unable to meet in person because they remain immunocompromised despite mainstream attention to Covid dwindling. They also had difficulty finding transportation to in-person events, causing them not to attend many meetings and events that they otherwise would have. In addition, one participant expressed that they began attending activist meetings and events partially because it felt easy for them to join through Zoom. This indicates that continuing to hold activist meetings online, or at least to provide an online option, would make it significantly easier for a wide variety of people to engage in activism.

Theoretical Perceptions

Extreme and Palatable Activism

Participants described varying stances on each theoretical framework I introduced in the literature review. I focus in this section on the participants' perspective on each framework, and I note specifically any instances in which participants described turning points that helped them reach their understanding of that framework. I discuss any instances in which one of the frameworks has influenced their likelihood of engaging in activism and the type of activism they chose to engage in. I also note any instances where these splits have caused conflict or infighting within any organizations the activists have participated in, and I begin first with the issue of extreme versus palatable activism.

Validating my identification of divisions between extreme and palatable tactics within the environmental justice movement, Ocean stated that the division between extreme and palatable action was present in the organizations they worked with. Ocean recounted:

That was a big split in the organization I started in college with my friend because I was more like, "I think we should do divestment," which at the time felt really extreme. And she was like, "I think we should focus on cleaning up this creek" and everything like that.

Ocean described their stance on extreme and palatable action, stating that they lean toward extreme/radical thought and are sympathetic to extreme/radical action. Their support for this was linked to the idea that extreme responses are justified in the face of extreme circumstances.

Ocean explained:

I listened to a podcast recently that talked about Buddhism and Marxism and violent and nonviolent revolution and how for the civil rights movement for instance, you need your Martin Luther King and you need your Malcolm X. You need the NAACP and you need the Black Panthers and I think that now we need people creating communities, and going out and creating beauty, and we also need people going out and destroying the things that are inhibiting that and killing us. My stance on violence is that it's hard to say "We should be killing people" or anything like that. But those in power will gladly and enthusiastically use violence to hold onto that power. So I think there is a line where you need to say "I'm not being listened to and I need to protect myself and my community, And so if they're not going to get rid of this pipeline, then I'm going to get rid of this pipeline."

While Ocean feels uncomfortable with the idea of hurting people and sees a place for more moderate forms of action, they feel an obligation toward forms of extreme direct actions such as physically sabotaging pipelines. This sympathy comes from the idea that when environmental destruction directly and physically harms people and communities, real nonviolence requires removing these violent forces by any means necessary. Beyoncé expressed some ambivalence when asked about her position on extreme action. She later explained that she thinks the best approach is for everyone to engage in the pro-environmental activism they feel most comfortable with. Beyoncé also referenced the Martin vs Malcolm dichotomy, and while Ocean arrived at a conclusion that leaned toward extreme action and Beyoncé leaned toward moderate action, they both concluded by suggesting that both extreme and palatable action have their places within movements for social justice. Beyonce reported:

I don't believe in destroying anything you hate. It never does anything but produce more hate. I'm reading the autobiographies of Malcolm X and Martin Luther King, which is really fascinating because Martin Luther King was all about nonviolence... Malcolm X was much more about the military and creating a separate Black community based on dignity, not trying to be integrated into a white community. And he felt like militarism was the way to achieve that. Here are these two national figures taking totally different standpoints. And before each of them was assassinated, they were becoming a little bit like the other.

Fern also expressed the importance of both moderate and radical strategies, suggesting that extreme/radical activism is needed to provide an anchor point to "make the moderates seem normal." This is sometimes described as the left-flanking effect. Fern explained:

I definitely follow the "eat the rich, kill corporations" end of the spectrum. However, I'm not actively portraying that in my life right now, mostly because of where I live. But that's where my head is most of the time, and I think we always need the radicals so that the moderates seem normal.

Forest similarly expressed that he lies on the radical end of the spectrum but sees space for many different strategies, stressing the importance of coexistence between moderate and radical wings of the movement. He uses the example of how the radical right tends to successfully "push the bounds of what is acceptable" which benefits both the radical and moderate right, as it brings radical right-wing ideas into the mainstream and makes the moderate right-wing ideas seem more centrist. Where moderate conservatives have largely refrained from criticizing extreme conservatives because they recognize how they benefit them, moderate progressives tend to criticize the extreme left for "alienating" centrists and conservatives. Forest suggests progressives would benefit from encouraging, rather than alienating, radical leftists.

We need a diversity of tactics. It's beneficial if there is a super radical strain. It makes the other side seem moderate and reasonable. I think the right is really good at that by pushing the bounds of what is acceptable. I think it would behoove the left to do some of that as well.

Forest later highlighted an issue that arises when there isn't any space for radical leftist ideas in electoral politics. Forest suggests that when the only powerful left-ish party is committed to morally decrepit policies it paints as centrist and reasonable, it's difficult for organizations to justify endorsing them and for people to justify voting for them. Forest applied this idea specifically to democratic support of the genocide of Palestinians, suggesting that their own support for genocide and the alienation it causes to their base is a bigger threat to the democratic party than "alienating conservatives" with radical ideas ever could be. Forest framed this as a point of division within environmental organizations and explained his organizations' difficulty figuring out how to respond to the democratic party's moral failures, saying:

Right now there's this issue of what the fuck do we do about this next election? Like, do we endorse Joe Biden? Do we endorse a third-party candidate? Do we not endorse anybody? Do we not endorse Biden but still carry water for him because we think Trump is so much worse?

As Forest's comments suggest, existing within a political structure that has very little radical leftist representation makes it difficult to engage electorally for some participants.

Along these lines, several activists also expressed that they felt pressure to appear more moderate. While Fern ideologically falls within an extreme/radical category, she doesn't tend to express those values publicly because she lives in a location where expressing those ideas could make it difficult to be respected in their workplace and community. Here, the institution of work/employment gets in the way of radical activism once again. Fern explained:

I'm definitely on the farther side of the spectrum. I think it's necessary to get the more moderate proposals through... I live in [a small town]. So there's not a lot of opportunity to express that except in my own household, where it's definitely shared. And I have a job. I live in the community, and I need to be respected here... I feel the need to appear more moderate than I am.

Iris expressed a similar sentiment about fearing being perceived as "too radical" despite having radical political views.

I think that a lot of people think more similarly than they let on, but they have a fear of being labeled as too left-wing or too radical. And I think that a lot of people really believe in a lot of radical ideas, but they're afraid of talking about them.

Here, Iris and Fern frame fear of social consequences for their radical beliefs as a barrier to radical leftist political expressions and actions.

While palatable activism seems to paint environmental issues as apolitical for the purpose of appealing to a wider variety of people, all participants in this study framed environmental issues as political. Many activists reported that when people opposed environmental solutions on political grounds, this compelled them to adopt political frameworks to support their environmental solutions. This implies that a political ecology framework may sometimes develop through exposure to the material political forces preventing environmental justice, rather than through the theoretical "science isn't enough" framework frequently presented in environmental literature which frames political ecology as a response to apolitical ecology. ²⁹¹ One example of this is Ocean, who reported that growing up within a conservative family and Catholic school created a dissonance between their environmental values and their community's political values. On top of that, watching the impact corporations were having on the environment meant "it always sort of felt political." Another example was Cliff, who began his interview by framing capitalism as a root cause of environmental destruction and then stated "in America where it's treated as a political issue, I do have some anger with the disregard for climate change." Cliff takes issue here with the political decision to ignore climate change while acknowledging that environment and politics are intertwined.

Despite expressing that a political framing of the environment was crucial to their environmentalism, several participants advocated for an apolitical, moderate framing of their more radical environmental ideas when speaking with people who aren't already familiar with these ideas. For example, Iris suggested that while environmental issues are inherently political, avoiding political labels can encourage people with different political views to support environmental solutions. She illustrated this point through arguing it's relatively easy to get people on board with most communist ideas, but "if you frame it within a political label, then it's like 'let me stop you there because I'm not a communist." Ocean similarly described the process of helping people who are disengaged but ideologically sympathetic. They emphasized the importance of using language that resonates with others, highlighting any commonalities in their values and goals. Despite differing perspectives, Ocean believes that centering shared desires for positive change can bridge ideological gaps and foster understanding. Ocean explained:

I find that people relate to it in their own way...you just need to use the right word, like... OK, you care about all these things and I care about all these things, but those things are like kind of the same. So sometimes I just had to remind myself that like I'm approaching it from this angle, they're approaching it from that angle, but we all want the same things.

Ocean also seemed to agree with Iris's statements about the dangers of using slogans or labels that might turn away people who aren't already on board. Instead, he emphasizes the importance of presenting alternative ideas for a just world.

When you're saying we need to go out and say, "Abolish the military, abolish capitalism," while I believe in both those things, in terms of messaging, I don't think that's very effective. Because it's like, "and then what?" You can't just go up to a kid and be like, "Abolish your mom and abolish your dad because they're making you go to bed at six pm." Because it's like, "and then what?" People need alternatives. And what I've been the most interested in recently is what would that actually look like? And trying to not even just imagine alternatives, but to see where they already are and build them.

These participants suggested it's most effective to present radical solutions in ways that are concrete, easy to understand and agree with, and rooted in shared values.

Tension between a desire to frame issues as you legitimately see them and a desire to be seen as respectable and objective for the purpose of appealing to those who aren't already familiar with your ideas is central to the extreme/palatable split, which the extreme/palatable sections of the lit review discuss further. An issue in this framing is the idea of centrism as equal to objectivity. Jeff Cohen, founder of FAIR (a nonprofit focused on highlighting bias in mainstream news) critiques the mainstream conception "that while there is propaganda of the left and propaganda of the right, there is no such thing as propaganda of the center." In addition, feminist theorists frequently critique how the perspective viewed as "objective" is typically the perspective of whoever has the social power to claim objectivity. This makes the effort to market pro-environmental or leftist perspectives as reasonable/respectable/objective/centrist-in-a-just-society politically and ethically complicated. To complicate this further, some people take moderate stances and work within existing systems of power not because they're deceiving people in power or infiltrating these systems, but because they hope to uphold these systems, make a living, and/or find political or professional success within these systems.

This section suggests that conflict between extreme and palatable frameworks and tactics exists within environmental justice movements, organizations, and individual activists. Activists frequently expressed feelings of internal conflict and ambivalence about radical tactics but tended to believe sabotage of destructive property (such as pipelines) is morally defendable, while violence against people is not. Several participants explained that moderate/palatable/centrist positions are perceived in their communities as more reasonable and respectable than extreme/radical perspectives. While they personally have extreme/radical

frameworks, these participants reported that they don't frequently express these frameworks or engage in corresponding action, typically due to fear of how it might impact them socially within their communities. They also explained that they sometimes strategically hold back from using extreme/radical language when communicating with people who opposed extreme/radical solutions. This prevents the moderates and conservatives they're speaking with from shutting down and enables them to communicate their full message in more easily understandable terms, which is sometimes effective in convincing people to agree with these radical/extreme perspectives. Participants frequently expressed that the coexistence of moderate/palatable and extreme/radical tactics and arguments is necessary to construct a strong movement. One reason for this is the left-flanking effect, where radical leftist ideas make moderate leftist ideas seem more approachable while normalizing the previously "out there" radical ideas. Activists expressed that continuing moderate/palatable advocacy simultaneously can help advance small, realistic "wins" in the meantime. Activists in general expressed positive feelings about extreme/radical environmentalism, but suggested that it's difficult to be publicly extreme/radical, and emphasized the importance of a diversity of tactics.

Intersectional and Single-Issue Environmentalism

Participants proposed several different perspectives on issues of intersectional and single-issue environmentalism. Ocean explained that they'd encountered conflict within organizations they've been involved with about whether it's best to address environmental issues through a single-issue or intersectional lens, indicating that this is a prevalent divide outside of the literature. One participant explained that the ability to work simultaneously on various movements he cared deeply about was motivating and sustaining to his activism, whereas other participants reported that they felt overwhelmed and unable to address all social justice issues at

once, preferring to focus on the specific single issue they care most about. Other activists suggested that because the same systems of power cause each of these issues, and due to the inherently connected nature of environmental and social justice issues, these struggles are inseparable, and it's impossible to engage in an activism that doesn't have intersectional implications. All participants expressed care for a wide range of social justice issues, but they approached them in very different ways.

Forest framed intersectionality as feeding his activism and explained that he reached an intersectional understanding through caring about many different issues and seeing the connections between them, rather than through caring about one issue and being forced to address other issues due to their inherently intersectional nature. Forest explained:

Having all of these things that I cared about and thought were important to pursue, and then hearing the idea of bringing all of these together in intersectional movements was most inspiring and activating for me, rather than like, "Oh, I cared about the environment so much and then I realized we need to care about people too in order for the environment to be protected."

Brooke similarly cited experiences witnessing the intersectional nature of environmental and social issues as a significant and encouraging "lightbulb moment" for her. Brooke recalled:

My lightbulb moment was probably seeing that if I went to a protest, and it was about reproductive rights, or if it was an anti-war protest or whatever, it was all the same people. Those people also cared about the environment. Those people also had all those other issues that they were thinking about.

Silas shared several contrasting experiences of witnessing non-intersectional (or, intersectionally oppressive) environmentalism rooted in colonialism. One of these experiences involved a fundraiser with their childhood synagogue to plant trees in Israel. As a child, Silas accepted this uncritically, but after learning more, Silas developed a critical approach to environmental

actions, considering the role of systems of power such as capitalism and colonialism. Silas reported:

I definitely follow the more radical side. I'm Jewish, and it just reminds me of when I was a kid, at synagogue, they would be raising money to plant trees in Israel. And I thought "oh, that's so great. Trees are wonderful. I'm five years old and this is so nice!" And then later, feeling like when I learned where the trees are going — in settlements and shit—I was like, "oh, that's not environmentalism, that's colonialism." I think if the right can coopt something like planting trees, then what do we have?

In addition to this experience, Silas recounted experiences with conservation-oriented environmental organizations which didn't fully consider the colonial context of their conservation actions. Childhood experiences with these organizations left a bad taste in their mouth and prompted them to seek a more intersectional environmentalism. For these participants, seeing real examples in which environmental and other social justice issues intersected prompted them to explore intersectional environmentalism further. This intersectional awareness seemed to encourage curiosity about these issues and contribute to their mobilization.

Nearly every participant framed colonization and imperialism as root causes of environmental crises, and many participants referenced colonization and imperialism as turning points in sparking activism. Fern framed an issue that intersected with the environment as prompting her interest in the environment, recalling the beginning of her activist journey when she became concerned about the first Gulf War. Fern recounted:

The one turning point I can think of was when I was 13 or 14 and the first Gulf War started. There were these reports on how horrible war was for the environment, like oil spills, and oil fields on fire and wild things like that and depleted uranium munitions, and contamination of water supplies. I followed that conflict closely because my uncle was in the navy at the time, so I was worried about him. So I kind of became a news junkie and read a lot of stuff about what war does to the ecosystems.

When asked how he became interested in environmental issues, Cliff reported he gained this interest through working for a conservation organization as a young teenager "doing hands-on stuff for the environment—a lot of removing invasive species and stuff like that," and became further interested in the environment through seeing "the government and corporations doing their very best to disregard the environment as long as they can make a quick buck." When asked how he discovered the connection between governments, corporations, and the environment, Cliff replied:

I don't know if there was a specific time period. It was just learning over time about the environment, learning the kind of things people were doing and who they were going up against. Seeing like, "Oh, the government's approving like a pipeline," or "This corporation is putting out hundreds of thousands of tons of CO2 in the air" and stuff like that. Looking at when people are trying to help the environment who they're up against.

In other words, he became an environmentalist through direct experience with nature and became radicalized by seeing that governments and corporations tended to be behind environmental destruction and blocking environmental progress. Cliff further explained that rhetoric of individual responsibility fell apart during Covid, when people were staying home and reducing their consumption, but environmental issues weren't being resolved. This understanding of the capitalism-environment contradiction contributed to his radicalization as well. Cliff explained:

I'd hear from all these corporations, "watch your personal carbon footprint" and "if everybody does these things it make a huge impact," and then everybody was staying home because of Covid. People weren't driving much, and things didn't really change, you know, because corporations were still outputting way too much, so even if we do all these things, it wouldn't matter much because we're up against corporate waste and stuff like that. There was some stuff about "nature is healing," but that was all just animals out in cities because there weren't as many people outside. It wasn't like our carbon emissions have dramatically lowered - there was still increasingly bad weather and forest fires and stuff like that. So I figured there's no way that just like common people taking personal accountability will change much if corporations aren't changing.

In addition to framing colonization and imperialism as central to environmental work, participants mentioned gender as an intersectional element influencing their activism. Sky highlighted a study done in 1990 by Hungerford and Volk which framed androgyny as being associated with PEB. Sky read the following section of Hungerford and Volk's study:

"Androgyny [in a psychological sense] is a variable that is often associated with individuals who are active in helping resolve environmental issues. Androgyny refers to those human beings who tend to reflect nontraditional sex-role characteristics. For example, an androgynous male may be a very sympathetic individual and able to cry in a sad situation (a traditional female characteristic). An androgynous female, for example, may exhibit certain male characteristics such as assertive behavior." ²⁹³

This finding is notable given the demographics of this study, with seven of the eleven participants identifying as either not cisgender, not heterosexual, or nonbinary. Notably, Silas explained that being queer and organizing mostly in groups of other queer people has made it difficult to get cishets to feel comfortable joining their groups because they didn't want to be associated with queerness. Silas explained:

Because I'm queer and I've been in groups where there's a lot of queer people, we found it sometimes difficult to bring new people in who maybe weren't queer because they were very uncomfortable with the rest of us being gay. I think that can be a hindrance, but that just goes back to how it's all connected. If there's a group that's almost entirely white, for example, there's probably some racism happening there.

Where the research Sky cited suggests that diverging from cishet gender norms is associated with higher PEB, Silas suggested that opposition to the queerness of environmental activists kept some people from engaging in activism.

In contrast to the activists who framed intersectionality as motivating or energizing, Iris and Beyonce explained that limited time and energy were a barrier to intersectional thought and action. Iris reported:

There was the burnout, and having a life outside of activism complicates things. There's this big culture in the organizations I was in, of being aware of every single problem that was going on in the world and the need to be knowledgeable and outspoken about everything. That put a lot of pressure to spend all my time learning about all of these things that are really emotionally draining to be trying to keep on your mind at all times... it was overwhelming because you couldn't be specialized in any one area of activism.

When asked about addressing the interconnectedness of all social justice issues in their action, Beyoncé replied:

I don't think that's possible because it's too big. It takes all of our little county's energy to look at the issues around factory farming. If we tried to take on larger issues, I really think that people would become overwhelmed... There needs to be education about the interconnectedness. But if you try to fight that on all fronts, there's so much grunt work.

Despite these statements, Iris and Beyoncé both brought up intersectional issues related to environmentalism. For instance, when asked what the biggest environmental issue was right now. Iris said:

In terms of environmental issues, the clock is really ticking on climate change if it's even still ticking at all... But there are more immediate things, like Israel's current bombing of Gaza.

Similarly, when asked about the issues she feels most called to, Beyoncé stated "all the above is pretty much my answer because they're all interconnected." In this way, every activist in this study was engaged in some kind of intersectional thought, despite reporting barriers to reaching an intersectional understanding.

Supporting this finding, several activists expressed that they don't think it's possible to focus on environmental issues without also touching other social justice issues. Fern linked intersectionality with solidarity, and suggested that while she can understand the desire to focus your attention on one issue, she sees so many connections between similarly disparate issues that she views them as inseparable. Fern explained:

A lot of my work these days is as a labor activist. Sometimes people tell me "you should stick to wages and benefits, don't talk about whatever else," and actually today our union put out a statement calling for a ceasefire in Gaza because that's really important. We're showing solidarity with health care workers across the world. I understand to a certain degree why folks would want to just focus on environmentalism, but I don't think it's possible. We're too interconnected. All those issues are all these issues. There's all these threads connecting everything, and we have to we have to see them in order to fix things.

Several other activists expressed that intersectionality is inherent to environmental organizing due to the nature of environmental issues. For instance, Silas explained how environmentalism is inherently intersects with colonization and the Land Back movement.⁴ Silas suggested:

It's all intermingled and it's all tied together. Any environmentalism we're doing is on stolen land. So even if you think you're not engaged with an intersectional struggle, you are.

Similarly, Ocean explained how even specific single-issue organizing efforts tend to represent and address a wider range of environmental and social justice issues due to the way the world is arranged. While they were engaged in and prefer intersectional activism, they also appreciate people who focus on one issue. Ocean explained:

I think single issue things can become really fantastic when it's like a material thing that sort of represents all those other things that you need to address as well. I think if people are like, "look, I know there's so much going on, but I'm like, dedicating my life to shutting down this coal plant," I'd be, like, "cool. The coal plant needs to go, so that's great."

This research indicates activists sometimes encounter conflict between intersectional and single-issue wings of the environmental movement. Some activists felt that due to the inherently intersectional nature of all environmental issues, it's almost impossible not to incorporate intersectionality into their environmentalism. On the flip side, others felt that their limited time

⁴ "Land Back" is a movement advocating for decolonization which frequently intersects with the environmental justice movement, as the right to care for the land in accordance with traditional stewardship practices and protect land from capitalist and colonial interests are central to the movement's goals.

and energy made it difficult to feel educated enough to speak on the wide variety of issues that intersect with environmentalism. Acouple of activists also suggested that intersectionality acted as a gateway to their environmentalism. Intersectionality was an effective gateway in that it prompted interest in the common structures of power creating such a wide variety of issues. Intersectionality also felt freeing for some activists, as it allowed them to work on the many issues they cared about simultaneously, rather than feeling nailed down to one issue. In addition to discussing their feelings about intersectionality of struggles as a framework and tactic, participants also discussed many issues they view as intersecting with environmentalism at its core (such as colonization, imperialism, militarism, and racism), and sometimes discussed how their intersecting identities (such as queerness, age, disability, race, and class) impacted their activism.

Individual and Systemic Activism

Individual environmental solutions often take the form of personal lifestyle ²⁹⁴ and consumption adjustments ²⁹⁵ and are sometimes framed as a means to an end for systemic change, ²⁹⁶ for instance through the demand-side arguments that individual consumption choices influence corporate environmental decisions. This rhetoric sometimes results in informal adjustments in lifestyle, but can also include organized boycotts of unsustainable products, in which individuals collectively adjust their personal lifestyle choices to push for systemic changes. ²⁹⁷ Additional research indicates that because modeling personal pro-environmental actions shapes attitudes and actions of those around us, these behaviors are more than individual. ²⁹⁸ One study showed that individual actions such as recycling increases likelihood of participation in environmental movement organizations, indicating that personal actions can translate to systemic and political actions. ²⁹⁹ In other cases, individual environmental lifestyle

changes are framed as necessary for creating resilient communities, ³⁰⁰ for becoming self-sufficient, ³⁰¹ or simply for creating a harmonious personal connection to nature. ³⁰² Other scholars argue that individual pro-environmental behaviors (such as biking rather than driving) are only possible when sustainable systems (like safe bike lanes) are established. ³⁰³

Several activists, including Cliff, expressed preference for engaging in systemic action because they view it as more effective. Cliff went on to explain that he does see the value in personal choices and wouldn't want to discourage them.

I think personal choices are important. But my main point is that big systemic changes will lead to changes in personal behavior. So, I wouldn't discourage anyone from going vegan or anything like that. But systemic changes are going to change it even for people who don't want to go through the effort of changing what they're doing.

Prakrit similarly stressed the importance of picking appropriate systemic targets for environmental demands, while also encouraging personal environmentally friendly behavior. For instance, he critiqued a group of environmental activists at his high school who targeted street vendors who had very little money or power. He suggested that instead of shaming and harming these individuals, they could have adjusted their own environmental practices (such as through taking the easily accessible metro in his city rather than driving their own personal cars, and through having conversations with their parents, who happened to be industrialists with significant social and political power). He recommended that activists target larger corporations, such as fast fashion companies, rather than small businesses and low-income people.

They would do these protests and stuff, and they wouldn't do anything to people who have power or anything. And they would just go to the roadside vendors who make sugarcane juice or something using a kerosene-powered makeshift engine to squeeze the sugar cane into juice, and it's bad for the environment, but it's just a small engine, and this street vendor doesn't have anything. That's all his operating capital. And without providing any better solution., they would just harass that guy, break his engine like they're doing something great... So instead of going after a huge fast fashion factory that's

polluting the environment, they're going to a low-income person who's trying to make a living. And at the same time, their parents are industrialists letting untreated water into the lakes and polluting. They just wanted to take pictures to use in university.

Silas similarly stressed the importance of choosing systemic targets for activist demands while letting people with little power off the hook for their individual behavior. They suggested that while wealthy people who are creating exorbitant pollution should adjust their behavior and face consequences if they don't, it's not particularly effective to pressure people with less power to focus their limited energy on decreasing their already small environmental impact. They also suggested that because systems make it easier for people to make better individual choices, changing systems also changes individual behaviors, but the inverse isn't always true.

I would rather focus on systems and try to inconvenience individuals as little as possible. People that are making an outsize impact should face an outsize responsibility; people whose jets are emitting tons of carbon should change their behavior before regular people have to. Also, when you change systems, you set up individuals to make better choices and to have a lower climate impact. If we changed our transportation system, for example, then people who need to go places, which is mostly everyone, would have less climate impact from going places. That can't happen just because some more people ride bikes.

Brooke made a similar suggestion that changing systems makes the biggest impact, and critiqued individual solutions to environmental crises on the grounds that they're often focused on capitalist consumption, but also noted that she tries not to discourage people from trying to improve their environmental impact if that's the kind of change they feel most comfortable with.

It all comes down to these ideas of regulation and corporations... but I do think it's one of those things where an individual can say "this is what I have the time, energy, and means to do," That's what I'm going to contribute to. Let's say you're talking about high school or college students; their entry point into thinking about the environment might be individual localized things that they can do.

If our answers are always market-driven and capitalist, we can't fix it. I don't need an electric car; I need a bus. I don't need reusable water containers; I need safe drinking water from my faucet... But I would never want to discourage someone from their boycott or discourage someone from saying "I see this one thing that I can do and this is

how I'm going to contribute." You can do that thing and still make these larger connections.

In line with Brooke's suggestion, Iris highlighted barriers to systemic environmental action which have caused her to engage in individual environmental action. The first barrier to participation in systems-based activism was the time it takes to learn about policy-based issues and to organize ways to advocate for them. Iris explained:

I decided to leave most of the environmental activism, mostly because of other factors in my life, like school, and the amount of time I had to dedicate to things... There's also just a bunch of availability needs with policy activism. There are lots of meetings and planning that goes into it that I just personally could not handle...I had a really hard time figuring out what I needed to know and what I didn't.

The second barrier for Iris was the social aspect of systems-based action. Collective action typically requires spending significant time interacting with people socially, which can be difficult for introverts.

I realized that the policy side did not work well with my own personality and my strengths... A lot of that policy stuff is a lot of networking. I am just not as socially inclined in that way. I like to focus on what I can do on an individual level, even though I realize that to have a greater impact, policy is really important.

JD similarly highlighted the powerlessness that can arise when people focus on systemic solutions.

I feel really skeptical about government intervention and solution. I realize on one hand that addressing climate breakdown is much larger than individuals and it's systemic, so systems have to change. But systems are so abstract, and that's where people begin to feel powerless. People feel empowered when they are out on the street. But then you go home, and there you are again, and it still goes on.

Activists like Fern and Ocean critiqued the idea of a divide between individual and systemic action. When asked about her preference, Fern suggested "I don't think we have to choose one or the other." Similarly, Ocean replied:

The division between those two things is a result of propaganda...regardless of how much impact the individual thing has, it's a way to show that you care about this and have

it impact other people's lives around you. Some individual changes are difficult ... But ideally, there would be a community network of people supporting one another in that change.

At the same time, there are systems that are massive and encompassing like capitalism, and I think capitalism needs to go away for real fundamental climate work to be done. But even creating those communal networks involves an *individual* trying to alter the broader system of capitalism. If I had to choose one or the other, it would be systemic. But we're part of a system, and I don't really think there's truly any such thing as an individual.

Both Ocean and Fern explain that there is a place for both individual and systemic action, that both individual and systemic action can create opportunities for the other, and that in many circumstances, specific actions can be both individual and systemic.

Throughout their discussions of these divisions within the environmental movement, participants consistently critiqued black-and-white thinking about effective activist approaches and promoted the idea of dual power and playing to your strengths as a crucial strategy for sustaining social movement activism. Theo LeQuesne applies the concept of dual power to the climate justice movement, describing a dual power strategy as featuring "simultaneous engagement with existing regimes of governance, while establishing alternative institutions that prefigure the political reality that will ultimately replace those dominant institutions." This concept is relevant to the strategic combination of moderate and radical strategies participants applied in this study. Along these lines, Beyoncé suggests that infighting within movements about the correct way to approach these issues is a barrier to progress and recommends that everyone do what they find most effective and let other activists take their own approaches, even when we have conflicting feelings about those approaches.

The other thing I think is really destructive, as a tangent to your question, is how much infighting there is in environmental movements, Black Lives Matter movements, etc. There's the idea that my way is the right way to do this. I think we all have to choose what fits best for us. Not to judge the other person and just stay on our own path. I don't

know how I can judge them because I'm not in their shoes. But I have got reactions to it. I love artwork and then people putting paint on the artwork or whatever they're doing, it's hard for me to find okay. But well, is artwork worth destroying the world for? No, of course not. But anyway, I think that's a very knotty question. But I think you take your path and you stay on it with dedication. There's room for us all.

Forest similarly emphasized the importance of making space for a diversity of tactics and expressed appreciation for when organizations have allowed him to participate in the ways he feels comfortable and excited about.

I've appreciated when groups have made space for me to be involved in whatever way I wanna be... I used to be super quiet and introverted. I appreciated when it could be "you can do the work that doesn't require being so outgoing." I wanna try to, as much as possible, make space for people in whatever way that they want to be involved. If they come in interested in making art or doing research or organizing protests or attending protests, whatever it may be, doing electoral work, doing direct action, etc., etc. We should be open to everything --this diversity of tactics and diversity of people—we'll be better off for it. Because we truly need everybody.

Participants had several perspectives on extreme vs palatable activism, intersectional and single-issue activism, and individual and systemic activism. On the whole, participants were most sympathetic to extreme, intersectional, and systemic activism. Still, they frequently acknowledged that issues like social acceptability, time constraints, and employment made it difficult for them to take these radical actions. Participants blurred the lines between these dichotomies and recommended a diversity of tactics to achieve environmental justice.

Conclusion

This thesis provides insight on effective strategies to prompt, sustain, and protect radical environmental justice activism. I gained these insights through interviewing radical environmental justice activists on the experiences that have encouraged and discouraged their current environmental activist perspectives and strategies. These interviews revealed several experiences that consistently prompted environmental care and action among participants, and

that contributed to the radicalized orientation of participants' activism. They also revealed several more nuanced factors participants consistently reported as influencing their activism, but had more complicated and conflicting perspectives on. In addition, this study investigated several barriers participants reported as making their activism difficult, along with their strategies for overcoming these barriers and for sustaining their activism. The results of this study indicated that while there is no single universal recipe to create a radical environmental justice activist, there are many factors that radical EJ activists frequently attribute to the formation of their political and environmental stances and actions.

These interviews revealed several experiences that consistently prompted environmental care and action among participants. Direct experiences with nature, its destruction, and its protection were one set of factors, with participants reporting that direct experiences with nature led them to feel a sense of connection to nature. Bearing witness to environmental degradation, particularly when it is geographically near their homes, tended to spark motivation to act around it. In addition, watching environmental destruction helped some participants discover the systems of power behind this destruction, which contributed to their radicalization. Learning about environmental and social issues and action strategies was another frequently cited contributor to radical EJ activism. This learning frequently occurred through either hands-on experience or through college-level education. It seemed to be particularly activating when it enabled participants to attribute environmental crises to systems of power like capitalism, colonialism, and imperialism. Participants also cited a need for environmental education on effective action strategies in addition to techniques and concrete steps to carry out these tactics, explaining that lack of access to these tools inhibited their activism. In addition, seeing examples of other activists' efforts around environmental issues seemed to help participants visualize ways

they could get involved. Social support of activism, social invitations to participate in activism, and social connections formed and sustained through activism were also significant contributors to radical environmental activism. Several participants reported that they engaged in their first experiences of environmental activism when friends invited them to join their activist efforts. These invitations opened the door for future action. Future research could benefit this field through investigating specific systems and programs that could be implemented for the purpose of encouraging these experiences, and studying whether these programs are effective in radicalizing and activating people interacting with them.

This thesis also discusses moral emotions as a set of more nuanced factors influencing participants' activism. Activists had complicated and conflicting perspectives on moral emotions relating to anger, guilt, shame, responsibility, complacency, and moral obligation versus delegation. Some moral emotions, such as anger, were typically viewed as prompting and sustaining activists' actions. Other moral emotions, such as shame, were sometimes viewed as uncomfortable and difficult to work through. In one case, this contributed to disengagement in activism entirely. Participants had much more mixed feelings on the roles of responsibility, moral obligation versus delegation, and the "complacency is complicity" frame in prompting their action. Most participants seemed to express some feelings of responsibility and moral obligation as motivating, while believing systems of power were ultimately responsible for the current crises. One participant more strongly framed inaction as bad action, linked complacency with complicity, and expressed incredibly motivating feelings of responsibility to address environmental and social injustices.

Participants were also somewhat ambivalent about the role of hope and trust, with some participants maintaining that they have very little to no hope for a just future, and others framing

hope as a necessary practice to fuel activism. Despite this variation, these activists overwhelmingly had little to no trust in the current political system, in the idea that powerful systems would fix environmental and social problems, or in the idea that they as individuals would fix these problems alone. They did, however, tend to have some hope that the collective actions of many people together might move the future toward environmental justice. Participants also indicated that psychological constructs such as hope and trust are situation- and issue-specific, rather than exclusively person-specific. Notably, participants spent very little time discussing feelings of fear or anxiety about environmental destruction, and some participants explained their critiques of climate anxiety as a construct which sometimes censors the activists and educators who want to provide accurate and realistic information about the state of the world. Since the roles of these emotions varied strongly from person to person, useful future research could investigate the similarities and differences between people who report factors like anger, hope/trust, guilt/shame, and responsibility to activate or discourage their activism. This research might provide a better map of the contexts in which encouraging these factors might be effective. Investigating responses to the "complacency is complicity" lens and feelings of moral obligation might be particularly fruitful, given the strong responses to these frames.

In addition, this study investigated several barriers participants reported as making their activism difficult, along with their strategies for overcoming these barriers and for sustaining their activism. Encountering activist failure, frequently due to institutional backlash and cooptation, seemed to cause participants to adjust their expectations, often away from the idea that they alone would change the world and toward the idea that they could be part of a larger world-changing movement. These instances of institutional backlash and cooptation also served to radicalize several participants, who had initially assumed that institutions were on their side,

and quickly realized through encouraging these institutions to support social and environmental justice initiatives that the institutions had very few interests beyond their own profit. Unfortunately, these failures were sometimes so disappointing that they discouraged activists from engaging in the future. In addition, this institutional backlash and cooptation prevented the environmental change participants were working toward, ultimately slowing the movement. Institutional backlash against other activists (particularly by their universities) was particularly demobilizing for some activists who feared that they would be the next victims, and therefore began to disengage. Participants framed cooptation of performative environmental values by systems of power (such as through implementing small, surface level environmental adjustments while actively suppressing and slandering radical environmental activists pushing for larger systemic change) as a particularly insidious form of institutional suppression of their activism, as it allowed institutions to preserve their public image while enacting environmental injustice. Given how participants reported that institutional backlash for their activism radicalized them, it's worth investigating whether making this backlash public (so as to expose more people to this radicalizing situation) or keeping it private (in-line with participants' strategy of finding common ground, and for the purpose of maintaining relationships with people in power to increase the chance that they rule in activists' favor) is more effective in creating concrete environmental change.

Participants also frequently listed limited time, energy and money as barriers to their participation in activism. They often linked this scarcity to their employment, and explained that they needed a job to survive, but had enormous difficulty balancing employment with activism while meeting their basic needs. Several activists stressed the high cost of rent and healthcare as a significant contributor to this financial stress. Some activists suggested that keeping the

working class too busy to engage in activism is an intentional component of capitalism which is essential to its continuation. This reinforces the connection between capitalism and the environment and highlights the importance of labor and tenant organizing in equipping communities with the capacity for activism. A lack of physical access to activist spaces was another barrier for some participants. Reasons for this lack of physical access ranged from lack of public transportation, the Covid-19 pandemic, and finding that some activist spaces are not accessible for their disabilities. On the flip side, one participant reported that meeting through Zoom during the pandemic enabled him to begin participating in activism, since he didn't need to leave his room. Willingness to ask proactively about disability accommodations and make adjustments when necessary, provision of virtual meeting options, and expanded public transportation might help mitigate these barriers. On the flip side, one participant reported that meeting through zoom during the pandemic enabled him to begin participating in activism, since he didn't need to leave his room. Willingness to ask proactively about disability accommodations and make adjustments when necessary, provision of zoom options, and expanded public transportation might help mitigate these barriers.

Participants also discussed their opinions and experiences related to the intersectional, systemic, and open-to-extreme orientation of radical environmental justice activism. Participants at large supported intersectional change-making, with a couple of participants reporting that the realization that environmental issues are intersectional prompted their engagement in environmental activism. A couple of other participants reported that they think it's easier for them to engage in single-issue changemaking, and that intersectional changemaking is overwhelming to them. Those participants did still frequently bring up other social justice issues and seemed to have a broadly intersectional frame, indicating that participants tended to be

intersectional. In addition, some participants argued that activism can never be truly single-issue, as every single environmental issue interacts with other social justice issues, making it inherently intersectional. Participants also had ambivalent feelings about the sustainability of individual versus systemic environmental activism, with some participants suggesting individual action is overly stressful for its low impact, and others suggesting that systemic activism is less approachable to the average person in comparison to individual action. Activists blurred the lines between individual and systemic activism as well, emphasizing how systems create circumstances that encourage and/or discourage pro-environmental individual behaviors, and that modeling pro-environmental individual behaviors and engaging in them on a mass scale (such as in a boycott) can influence systems. Activists also blurred the lines between extreme and palatable activism, with most activists reporting extreme ideologies but engaging in moderate actions. They also tended to express that they find it effective to communicate their extreme ideologies using moderate language rooted in shared values.

In addition to reviewing some of the factors which directly influenced their environmental framework and actions, participants had several recommendations for strategies to encourage others to engage in environmental justice activism. Among the most prevalent of these strategies was to use a diversity of tactics which can be employed based on the situation and the activists' skillset. Another prominent and repeated piece of advice is to build strong social communities with fellow activists, through which you can find social connection and support. Participants in this study generously shared their invaluable and varying experiences with radical EJ activism, and I feel immensely grateful for their contributions to this study and to the movement. I hope this information is useful to current and future activists and researchers trying to prompt, sustain, and protect radical environmental justice activism.

Appendices

Appendix A: Aggregated Participant Demographic Data

Political Beliefs/Ideology	Count	Percentage
Socialist	5	45%
Communist, Socialist	4	36%
Anarchist	1	9%
Communist	1	9%

Ethnicity	Count	Percentage
Not Hispanic or Latino	8	73%
Hispanic or Latino	2	18%
Not Listed	1	9%

Gender	Count	Percentage
Woman	4	36%
Man	3	27%
Nonbinary/Genderqueer	3	27%
Man/Nonbinary/Genderqueer	1	9%

Disability Status	Count	Percentage
Not Disabled	9	82%
Disabled	2	18%

Religion	Count	Percentage
Atheist or Agnostic	3	27%
Spiritual, Not		
Affiliated With a		
Religion	2	18%
Islam	2	18%
Buddhism	1	9%
Jainism	1	9%
Judaism	1	9%
No Religious		
Affiliation	1	9%

Economic Class	Count	Percentage
Upper-Middle Class	4	36%
Low Income	3	27%
Middle Class	2	18%
Lower-Middle Class	1	9%
High Income	1	9%

Race	Count	Percentage
White	6	55%
Not Listed	3	27%
Asian	1	9%
Black	1	9%

(Trans/Cis) Gender	Count	Percentage
Cisgender	7	64%
Transgender	3	27%
Not Listed	1	9%

Age	Years
Average	32.3
Standard Deviation	17
Minimum	20
Maximum	72

Sexuality	Count	Percentage
Straight	4	36%
Bi/Pan/ Multi-		
Sexual	3	27%
Gay/Lesbian	2	18%
Not Listed	2	18%

Appendix B: Individual Participant Demographics Responses

		Cis / Trans							Political	
JD	Non- binary / Gender- queer	Not Listed	Age Not Listed	Race White	Ethnicity Not Listed	Gay / Lesbian	Disability No	Upper- Middle Class	ideology Socialist	Religion Jainism
Forest	Man	Cis	21	White	Not Hispanic or Latino	Straight	No	Upper- Middle Class	Socialist	No Religious Affiliation
Cliff	Man	Trans	20	White	Not Hispanic or Latino	Bi / Pan / Omni / Multi- Sexual	No	Low Income	Communist, Socialist	Atheist or Agnostic
Beyoncé	Woman	Cis	72	Not Listed	Not Hispanic or Latino	Straight	No	High Income	Socialist	Buddhism
Fern	Woman	Cis	47	White	Not Hispanic or Latino	Straight	No	Low Income	Socialist	Atheist or Agnostic
Iris	Woman	Cis	20	White	Not Hispanic or Latino	Gay / Lesbian	No	Lower- Middle Class	Communist, Socialist	Islam
Ocean	Man, Non- binary / Gender- queer	Cis	24	White	Hispanic or Latino	Bi / Pan / Omni / Multi- Sexual	Yes	Middle Class	Communist, Socialist	Spiritual
Prakrit	Man	Cis	22	Asian	Not Hispanic or Latino	Straight	No	Upper- Middle Class	Socialist	Atheist or Agnostic
Brooke	Woman	Cis	46	Not Listed	Not Hispanic or Latino	Not listed	Yes	Middle Class	Communist	Islam
Silas	Non- binary / Gender- queer	Trans	26	Not Listed	Hispanic or Latino	Bi / Pan / Omni / Multi- Sexual	No	Upper- Middle Class	Communist, Socialist	Judaism
Sky	Non- binary / Gender- queer	Trans	25	Black or African American	Not Hispanic or Latino	Not Listed	No	Low Income	Anarchist	Spiritual

Appendix C: Consent Form and Demographics Survey

Consent Form

Introduction

We invite you to participate in a research study about perspectives and experiences of environmental activists. Researchers seek 5-10 participants with experience with environmental action. Ava Corey-Gruenes, a graduate student at Minnesota State University, Mankato in the department of History and Gender Studies is conducting this research under the supervision of Laura Harrison, professor at Minnesota State University, Mankato in the department of History and Gender Studies.

Purpose of the Research

The purpose of this research is to provide insights on perspectives of environmental activists on intersectional, systems-based, and radical environmental action and on the experiences that have led them to these perspectives. These insights are intended to provide theoretical frameworks for future research on experiential factors related to environmental action. To participate in this research study, you must be:

- 18+ years of age, and
- Someone who has engaged in environmental activist activities. This could (but does not have to) include activities such as:
 - Volunteering at events related to environmental or social issues (like community clean-ups, community gardens, and soup kitchens),

- o Circulating petitions around environmental justice issues,
- o Participating in protests against environmental inequalities, and
- Research or environmental education (like publishing papers about the environment or running public awareness campaigns).

The Minnesota State University, Mankato Institutional Review Board has approved this study. (IRBNet Id Number: 2132855).

Procedures

If you agree to join this study, the student researcher will ask you to complete an interview in addition to a few brief demographics-based survey questions.

In total, you can expect interviews to last about 60 minutes. In a guided interview format, the researcher will ask questions and ask follow-up questions. The researcher will ask about your key ideas related to the environment and the experiences that have helped you reach these understandings. The researcher will record the meeting on Zoom and will have a rough transcript of the meeting. They will check the rough transcript with the meeting recording to make sure it is correct. The researchers will store recordings on a password protected MediaSpace account. The researchers will erase all recordings within one year after finishing all interviews. Audio and video recording of the interview is required for participation in this study. You are welcome to turn off your zoom camera during the virtual interview at any time.

You can expect the demographics-based survey questions to take roughly five minutes to complete. Results will be stored in a password protected qualtrics account, and all identifiable data will be removed within three months after finishing all interviews.

Voluntary Participation

Participation in this research study is completely voluntary. Your decision whether to participate will not affect your relationship with Minnesota State University, Mankato, and refusal to participate will involve no penalty or loss of benefits. If you begin to participate but then decide that you would like to stop, you can discontinue your participation at any point without penalty or loss of benefits. To do so, please tell the student researcher or research advisors at any time via email or while completing the meeting. If requested, all data already collected on the participant will be deleted within three business days.

Risks

The risks you will encounter as a participant in this research are not more than experienced in your everyday life. To decrease this risk, you may choose how much to share. The researchers will follow up via email once after the data is collected and once before publication of the final paper to provide an opportunity for the participants to retract any statements they have made. To ensure confidentiality, the researcher will refer to participants with a pseudonym chosen by the participant. Excluding the signing of this document, the informed consent, and the identification key, your name will not appear in the research. To protect these documents, the student researcher will keep informed consent forms and the identification key in a password protected OneDrive folder. There is always a security risk in storing confidential materials digitally. However, utilizing college accounts that are password protected decreases this risk. If

you would like more information about the specific privacy and anonymity risks posed by online surveys, please contact the Minnesota State University, Mankato Information and Technology Services Help Desk (507-389-6654) and ask to speak to the Information Security Manager.

After removal of identifiers from the dataset, researchers may use the dataset for future research studies or distributed to other investigators for future research studies without additional informed consent from the subject or the legally authorized representative.

Benefits

There are no direct tangible benefits to the participant.

Because you have been invited to participate in this research study, you have a right to a copy of this informed consent page. To receive a copy by email, please contact Ava Corey-Gruenes at ava.corey-gruenes@mnsu.edu

If you have any questions about this research study, contact Ava Corey-Gruenes at ava.corey-gruenes@mnsu.edu. If you have any questions about participants' rights and for research-related injuries, please contact the Administrator of the Institutional Review Board at 507-389-1242.

Before proceeding with the survey, please confirm that you have read the information above.

	I have read the informed consent page for this research study.
Please	also confirm that you are 18 years of age or older.
	I am 18 years of age or older.

I am under 18 years of age.

Audio and video recording of the zoom interview is required for participation in this study. You are welcome to turn off your zoom camera during the virtual interview at any time. Please confirm whether we have consent to take audio and video recording of the zoom meeting. Yes, I consent to audio and visual recording of the zoom meeting. No. I do not consent. П Participation in this research study is voluntary, as described above. You have the right to decline to be in this study, or to withdraw from it at any point without penalty or loss of benefits to which you are otherwise entitled. To terminate participation, you may ask to stop. Leaving the interview, leaving the consent form unsubmitted, and terminating communication will all be understood as a request to terminate participation. Any significant new findings developed during the course of the research that may influence a participants' willingness to continue will be provided to you. Now that you have read all of the above information and confirmed that you are 18 years old or older, please choose one of the following: П I agree to participate in this study. I do not wish to participate in this study. Note: If a participant selects an answer that deems them ineligible, they are given the following response: Based on your response, you are not eligible for this study. If you believe you entered

inaccurate information, please revise it. If you understand you are ineligible, please exit the

Demographics Survey

survey.

How do you identify your gender?

	Man	
	Woman	
	Non-binary/Genderqueer	
	Not Listed:	
Do you	u identify as cisgender or transgender?	
	Cisgender	
	Transgender	
What is your age?		
How w	vould you describe your race?	
	Asian	
	Black or African American	
	Middle Eastern or North African	
	Native American or Alaska Native	
	Native Hawaiian or Pacific Islander	
	White	
	Not Listed:	
How v	would you describe your ethnicity?	
	Hispanic or Latino	
	Not Hispanic or Latino	
How v	would you describe your sexuality?	
	Straight	

	Gay/Lesbian	
	Bisexual/Pansexual/Omnisexual/Multisexual	
	Asexual	
	Not Listed:	
Do you have any disabilities?		
	V	
	Yes	
	No	
What is your religion, if any?		
	Christianity	
	Islam	
	Judaism	
	Hinduism	
	Buddhism	
	Sikhism	
	Other major world religion (Jainism, Taoism, Shintoism, Confucianism, etc.)	
	Indigenous or Folk Religions (specify if applicable)	
	Athiest or Agnostic	
	Spiritual, not affiliated with a religion	
	No religious affiliation	
	Other:	
How would you describe your economic class?		
	T .	
Ш	Low income	

	Lower-Middle Class	
	Middle Class	
	Upper-Middle Class	
	High Income	
What	best describes your political beliefs or ideology?	
	Communist	
	Socialist	
	Liberal	
	Libertarian	
	Centrist	
	Conservative	
	Far-Right	
	Other:	
Contac	et Information	
If you	are interested in participating in an interview as described in the beginning of this survey,	
please	provide your contact information.	
- 4		
Email	Email Address:	
Phone	Number:	
First a	nd Last Name:	
End of	f Survey	
To sch	edule your interview, please visit this bookings page. Thank you for completing this	
survey	,1	

Appendix D: Interview Questionnaire Guide

Introduction:

I am working to help get people excited and engaged in different kinds of environmental justice activism. I'm hoping to get a feel for the different perspectives that environmental activists have and the experiences that helped them reach those perspectives. I'm looking forward to speaking with you!

- 1. How are you doing?
- 2. Can we record this conversation?

Objective 1: Understanding Their Work:

- 1. Have you been thinking about any fun plans or projects lately?
- 2. Can you tell me a little bit about what kind of environmental work you've done?

Examples might include...

- a. Volunteering at events related to environmental justice issues,
- b. Circulating petitions around environmental justice issues,
- c. Participating in environmental justice protests, and
- d. Research or environmental justice education.

Objective 2: Understanding Their Formative Environmental Experiences:

- 1. What got you interested in environmental issues?
- 2. Were there any turning points or lightbulb moments you had that inspired you to do environmental action?
- 3. Have you had any realizations that have caused you to adjust the type of environmental action you do?

4. People often talk about emotions that have inspired or deterred them from doing activism.

There are different narratives about how people feel angry or worried about environmental problems and hopeful that they can make a change, or that people feel scared of going to protests, or would feel guilty if they didn't engage. What has the role of emotions been in your path to environmental action?

Objective 3: Understanding Barriers to Their Environmental Action

- 1. What kind of challenges have you faced in your environmental action?
- 2. Have there been any barriers hindering your environmental activism?
- 3. What are some things you would like to accomplish, but have not yet accomplished because of barriers? (not enough money, no support in community, etc.)
 - a. What are those barriers?
 - b. How might those barriers be overcome?

Objective 4: Understanding Their Environmental Approach

- 1. What do you see as the most important environmental issues?
- 2. What are the key ideas people should know about environmental issues?

Individual vs Systemic

3. There's a split within environmental movements between making individual choices to protect the environment, like going vegan or recycling, and doing advocacy around changing systems. Where do you think you fall within that split?

Extreme vs Moderate

4. Activists have different stances on how to achieve their goals. Some participate in actions like physically sabotaging construction of an oil pipeline, calling for an end to capitalism and the military. Others advocate for things like volunteering at community gardens, or sharing fundraisers for tree planting programs. Where do you think you fall on that spectrum of action?

Single issue vs intersectional activism

- 5. Another split within the environmental movement seems to be the idea that since we'll all die if the planet is destroyed, environmentalism needs to be the top priority, versus environmentalism that's also involved in other social justice issues things like decolonization, opposing militarism, and focusing on issues like environmental racism. What are your thoughts on that?
- 6. Do you see any other major splits or divisions in the environmental movement?

Closing:

- 7. In what ways do you hope the environmental movement changes in the future?
- 8. Is there anything that you'd like to add that I haven't asked you about?

Bibliography (Chicago Notes/Bibliography)

- Abdul Latif, Saripah, Mohd Shukri Omar, Yeop Hussin Bidin, and Zainudin Awang. "Role of Environmental Knowledge in Creating Pro-Environmental Residents." *Procedia Social and Behavioral Sciences* 105 (December 2013): 866–74. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sbspro.2013.11.088.
- Adams, Carol, and Lori Gruen. *Ecofeminism: Feminist Intersections with Other Animals and the Earth*, 2014.
- Adams, Ian, Kristin Hurst, and Nicole D. Sintov. "Experienced Guilt, but Not Pride, Mediates the Effect of Feedback on pro-Environmental Behavior." *Journal of Environmental Psychology* 71 (October 2020): 101476. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvp.2020.101476.
- A.E. Kings. "Intersectionality and the Changing Face of Ecofeminism." *Ethics and the Environment* 22, no. 1 (2017): 63. https://doi.org/10.2979/ethicsenviro.22.1.04.
- Agarwal, Anil, and Sunita Narain. "Global Warming in an Unequal World: A Case of Environmental Colonialism (Selected Excerpts)." In *Handbook of Climate Change and India: Development, Politics, and Governance*, edited by Navroz K. Dubash, 81–88. Earthscan, 2012.
- Ajzen, Icek. "The Theory of Planned Behavior." *Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Processes* 50, no. 2 (1991): 179–211. https://doi.org/10.1016/0749-5978(91)90020-T.
- Ajzen, Icek, and M. Fishbein. *Belief, Attitude, Intention, and Behavior: An Introduction to Theory and Research.* Reading, MA: Addison-Wesley, 1975.
- Alexander, George A. "Ecoterrorism and Nontraditional Military Threats." *Military Medicine* 165, no. 1 (January 1, 2000): 1–5. https://doi.org/10.1093/milmed/165.1.1.
- Alpas, Hami, Simon M. Berkowicz, and Irina Ermakova, eds. *Environmental Security and Ecoterrorism*. NATO Science for Peace and Security Series C: Environmental Security. Dordrecht: Springer Netherlands, 2011. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-007-1235-5.
- Amaral Junior, Alberto Do, Lucila De Almeida, and Luciane Klein Vieira, eds. *Sustainable Consumption: The Right to a Healthy Environment*. Cham: Springer International Publishing, 2020. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-16985-5.
- Amster, Randall. "Perspectives on Ecoterrorism: Catalysts, Conflations, and Casualties." *Contemporary Justice Review* 9, no. 3 (September 2006): 287–301. https://doi.org/10.1080/10282580600827991.
- Antonetti, Paolo, and Stan Maklan. "Feelings That Make a Difference: How Guilt and Pride Convince Consumers of the Effectiveness of Sustainable Consumption Choices." *Journal of Business Ethics* 124, no. 1 (September 2014): 117–34. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-013-1841-9.

- Ateş, Hüseyin. "Merging Theory of Planned Behavior and Value Identity Personal Norm Model to Explain Pro-Environmental Behaviors." *Sustainable Production and Consumption* 24 (October 1, 2020): 169–80. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.spc.2020.07.006.
- Axelrod, Joshua. "Corporations Have the Biggest Impact on Climate Change." In *Sustainable Consumption*, edited by Bridey Heing. Greenhaven Publishing LLC, 2022.
- Bamberg, Sebastian, and Guido Möser. "Twenty Years after Hines, Hungerford, and Tomera: A New Meta-Analysis of Psycho-Social Determinants of pro-Environmental Behaviour." *Journal of Environmental Psychology* 27, no. 1 (March 2007): 14–25. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvp.2006.12.002.
- Bandura, Albert. *Self-Efficacy: The Exercise of Control*. New York: W.H. Freeman and Company, 1997.
- Barbosa, Luiz C. "The People of the Forest against International Capitalism." In *Environmental Sociology: From Analysis to Action*, edited by Leslie King and Deborah McCarthy, 29–42. United States: Rowman & Littlefield Publishers, 2005.
- Bazilchuk, Nancy. "Individual Household Practices Have a Substantial Impact on Consumption." In *Sustainable Consumption*, edited by Bridey Heing. Greenhaven Publishing LLC, 2022.
- Beder, Sharon. *Global Spin: The Corporate Assault on Environmentalism*. Rev. ed. Dartington, Totnes, Devon, UK: White River Junction, Vt: Green Books; Chelsea Green Pub, 2002.
- Benton, Ted. *Natural Relations: Ecology, Animal Rights, and Social Justice*. London; New York: Verso, 1993.
- Best, Steven, and Anthony J. Nocella, eds. *Igniting a Revolution: Voices in Defense of the Earth*. Edinburgh: AK Press, 2006.
- Bissing-Olson, Megan, Kelly Fielding, and Aarti Iyer. "Experiences of Pride, Not Guilt, Predict pro-Environmental Behavior When pro-Environmental Descriptive Norms Are More Positive." *Journal of Environmental Psychology* 45 (March 31, 2016). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvp.2016.01.001.
- Black Flag Sydney. "Indigenous Struggles against Capitalism in 'Australia,'" 2021.
- Blaikie, P, and H Brookfield. *Land Degradation and Society*. London and New York: Methuen and Co. Ltd., 1987.
- Bomb, Flower. "Egoist Vegan: Some Thoughts on an Individualist Animal Liberation." *Anarchist Library*, 2021. https://theanarchistlibrary.org/library/flower-bomb-egoist-vegan-some-thoughts-on-an-individualist-animal-liberation.
- Bookchin, Murray. "Open Letter to the Ecology Movement." In *Toward an Ecological Society*, 76–78, 82–83. Montreal: Black Rose Books, 1980.

- Börner, Susanne, Peter Kraftl, and Leandro Luiz Giatti. "Blurring the '-Ism' in Youth Climate Crisis Activism: Everyday Agency and Practices of Marginalized Youth in the Brazilian Urban Periphery." *Children's Geographies* 19, no. 3 (May 4, 2021): 275–83. https://doi.org/10.1080/14733285.2020.1818057.
- Bullard, Robert D. *Dumping in Dixie: Race, Class, and Environmental Quality*. 3rd ed. Boulder, Colo: Westview Press, 2000.
- ———. Race, Place, and Environmental Justice after Hurricane Katrina: Struggles to Reclaim, Rebuild, and Revitalize New Orleans and the Gulf Coast. Edited by Robert D. Bullard and Beverly Wright. 1st ed. Routledge, 2018. https://doi.org/10.4324/9780429497858.
- Carducci, Annalaura, Maria Fiore, Antonio Azara, Guglielmo Bonaccorsi, Martina Bortoletto, Giuseppina Caggiano, Andrea Calamusa, et al. "Pro-Environmental Behaviors: Determinants and Obstacles among Italian University Students." *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health* 18, no. 6 (March 23, 2021): 3306. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph18063306.
- Carrier, James G. "Protecting the Environment the Natural Way: Ethical Consumption and Commodity Fetishism." *Antipode* 42, no. 3 (2010): 672–89. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8330.2010.00768.x C.
- Cassegård, Carl. "Activism without Hope? Four Varieties of Postapocalyptic Environmentalism." *Environmental Politics*, June 21, 2023, 1–21. https://doi.org/10.1080/09644016.2023.2226022.
- Chawla, Louise. "Life Paths Into Effective Environmental Action." *The Journal of Environmental Education* 31, no. 1 (January 1999): 15–26. https://doi.org/10.1080/00958969909598628.
- Chowdhury, Elora Halim. "Development." In *Oxford Handbook of Feminist Theory*, edited by Mary Hawkesworth and Lisa Disch, 143–63, 2015.
- Cockburn, A, and J Ridgeway, eds. *Political Ecology*. New York: New York Times Book Company, 1979.
- Cohen, Jeff. "Propaganda from the Middle of the Road." *FAIR* (blog), October 1, 1989. https://fair.org/extra/propaganda-from-the-middle-of-the-road/.
- Cole, Luke, and Sheila Foster. From the Ground Up: Environmental Racism and the Rise of the Environmental Justice Movement. New York: New York University Press, 2000.
- Collins, Andrea, Alessandro Galli, Tara Hipwood, and Adeline Murthy. "Living within a One Planet Reality: The Contribution of Personal Footprint Calculators." *Environmental Research Letters* 15, no. 2 (February 1, 2020): 025008. https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/ab5f96.

- Commoner, B. "The Environment." In *Crossroads: Environmental Priorities for the Future*, edited by P Borelli, 121–69. Washington DC: Island Press, 1988.
- Commoner, Barry. *The Closing Circle: Nature, Man, and Technology*. Mineola, New York: Dover Publications, Inc, 2020.
- Conner, Jerusha Osberg, Emily Greytak, Carly D. Evich, and Laura Wray-Lake. "Burnout and Belonging: How the Costs and Benefits of Youth Activism Affect Youth Health and Wellbeing." *Youth* 3, no. 1 (January 19, 2023): 127–45. https://doi.org/10.3390/youth3010009.
- Crenshaw, Kimberle. "Demarginalizing the Intersection of Race and Sex: A Black Feminist Critique of Antidiscrimination Doctrine, Feminist Theory and Antiracist Politics,." *University of Chicago Legal Forum:* 1989, no. 1, Article 8 (1989). http://chicagounbound.uchicago.edu/uclf/vol1989/iss1/8.
- CrimethInc. "To Change Everything." The Anarchist Library, 2016.
- Crosby, Alfred W. *Ecological Imperialism*. Cambridge, New York, Melbourne, Madrid, Cape Town, Singapore, Sao Paulo, Delhi, Dubai, Tokyo: Cambridge University Press, 1986.
- Cruger, Katherine M. "Greenwashing." Britannica Academic. Accessed November 20, 2023. https://academic-eb-com.ezproxy.mnsu.edu/levels/collegiate/article/greenwashing/607195.
- Curran, Giorel. 21st Century Dissent Anarchism, Anti-Globalization, Environmentalism. Edited by Timothy M Shaw, 2007.
- Das, Manoj, and Mahesh Ramalingam. "Does Knowledge Translate into Action? Impact of Perceived Environmental Knowledge on Ecologically Conscious Consumer Behavior." *Theoretical Economics Letters* 09, no. 05 (2019): 1338–52. https://doi.org/10.4236/tel.2019.95087.
- Daskolia, Maria, Athanasios Dimos, and Panagiotis G Kampylis. "Secondary Teachers' Conceptions of Creative Thinking within the Context of Environmental Education." *International Journal of Environmental & Science Education* 7, no. 2 (2012): 269–90.
- Davis, Angela Y. Freedom Is a Constant Struggle: Ferguson, Palestine, and the Foundations of a Movement. Chicago, Illinois: Haymarket Books, 2016.
- ——. *Women, Culture, and Politics*. New York, NY: Vintage Books; Random House Inc., 1990.
- Davis, Mark H. "Measuring Individual Differences in Empathy: Evidence for a Multidimensional Approach." *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology* 44, no. 1 (1993): 113–26.
- Delacote, Philippe. "Are Consumer Boycotts Effective?," n.d.

- Delmas, Magali A, and Vanessa Cuerel Burbano. "The Drivers of Greenwashing" 54, no. 1 (2011): 64–87.
- Diani, Mario. "The Italian Ecology Movement: From Radicalism to Moderation." In *Green Politics One*, edited by Rudig Wolfgang, 153–76. Carbondale and Edwardsville: Southern Illinois University Press, 1990.
- Dolgoff, Esther. "Letter to Soil of Liberty." The Anarchist Library. Accessed February 16, 2024. https://theanarchistlibrary.org/library/esther-dolgoff-letter-to-soil-of-liberty.
- Downey, Dennis. "Elaborating Consensus: Strategic Orientations and Rationales in Wartime Intergroup Relations." *Mobilization: An International Quarterly* 11, no. 3 (December 4, 2006): 337–56. https://doi.org/10.17813/maiq.11.3.gmx237247506n401.
- Duron-Ramos, Maria Fernanda, Silvia Collado, Fernanda Inéz García-Vázquez, and Maria Bello-Echeverria. "The Role of Urban/Rural Environments on Mexican Children's Connection to Nature and Pro-Environmental Behavior." *Frontiers in Psychology* 11 (March 20, 2020): 514. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2020.00514.
- Eckersley, Robyn. *Environmentalism and Political Theory: Toward an Ecocentric Approach*. London: UCL Press, 1992.
- "Eco-Terrorism and Lawlessness on the National Forests: Oversight Hearing." Washington: U.S. G.P.O., February 12, 2002.
- Ehrlich, Paul. *The Population Bomb*. New York, NY: Ballantine Books, 1968.
- Elkington, John, and Julia Hailes. The Green Consumer Guide. London: Gollancz, 1988.
- Erakat, Noura. "Boycott, Divestment, Sanctions: The Global Struggle for Palestinian Rights." *Journal of Palestine Studies* 42, no. 2 (April 1, 2013): 95–97. https://doi.org/10.1525/jps.2013.42.2.95.
- Escobar, Arturo. "Constructing Nature: Elements for a Poststructural Political Ecology." In *Liberation Ecologies: Environment, Development, Social Movements*, edited by Richard Peet and Michael Watts, 1st ed., 46–68. London and New York: Routledge, 1996.
- Evans, Gary W., Siegmar Otto, and Florian G. Kaiser. "Childhood Origins of Young Adult Environmental Behavior." *Psychological Science* 29, no. 5 (May 2018): 679–87. https://doi.org/10.1177/0956797617741894.
- Featherstone, David. "Introduction: Thinking Solidarity Politically." In *Solidarity: Hidden Histories and Geographies of Internationalism*, 5–7. London, UK: Zed Books, 2012.
- Feldman, David, ed. *Boycotts Past and Present: From the American Revolution to the Campaign to Boycott Israel*. Cham: Springer International Publishing, 2019. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-94872-0.

- Feldman, Hannah R. "Who's Striking, and Who's Not? Avoiding and Acknowledging Bias in Youth Climate Activism Research." *Australian Journal of Environmental Education* 38, no. 1 (March 2022): 112–18. https://doi.org/10.1017/aee.2022.2.
- Fietkau, Hans-Joachim, and Hans Kessel. *Umweltlernen: Veränderungensmöglichkeiten Des Umweltbewusstseins. Modelle, Erfahrungen.* Koenigstein: Hain, 1981.
- Fliegenschnee, M, and M Schelakovsky. *Umweltpsychologie Und Umweltbildung : Eine Einführung Aus Humanökologischer Sicht*, 1998.
- Frayne, Carl Tobias. "The Anarchist Diet: Vegetarianism and Individualist Anarchism in Early 20th-Century France." *Journal of Animal Ethics* 11, no. 2 (October 1, 2021): 83–96. https://doi.org/10.5406/janimalethics.11.2.0083.
- Freiling, Isabelle, and Jörg Matthes. "Correcting Climate Change Misinformation on Social Media: Reciprocal Relationships between Correcting Others, Anger, and Environmental Activism." *Computers in Human Behavior* 145 (August 2023): 107769. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2023.107769.
- Friedman, Monroe. Consumer Boycotts: Effecting Change Through the Marketplace and Media. London, UNITED STATES: Taylor & Francis Group, 1999. http://ebookcentral.proquest.com/lib/mnsu/detail.action?docID=170236.
- Gaarder, Emily. "Risk & Reward: The Impact of Animal Rights Activism on Women." *Society & Animals* 16, no. 1 (2008): 1–22. https://doi.org/10.1163/156853008X269863.
- Gamson, William A. "Constructing Social Protest." In *Social Movements and Culture*, edited by Hank Johnston and Bert Klandermans, 85–106. Social Movements, Protest, and Contention, v. 4. Minneapolis, Minn: University of Minnesota Press, 1995.
- Gardner, Charlie J., Aaron Thierry, William Rowlandson, and Julia K. Steinberger. "From Publications to Public Actions: The Role of Universities in Facilitating Academic Advocacy and Activism in the Climate and Ecological Emergency." *Frontiers in Sustainability* 2 (May 31, 2021): 679019. https://doi.org/10.3389/frsus.2021.679019.
- Garrett, Dennis E. "The Effectiveness of Marketing Policy Boycotts: Environmental Opposition to Marketing." *Journal of Marketing* 51, no. 2 (April 1987): 46–57. https://doi.org/10.2307/1251128.
- Garrow, David J. Bearing the Cross: Martin Luther King, Jr., and the Southern Christian Leadership Conference. New York, New York: William Morrow, 1986.
- Geiger, Nathaniel, Caitlin R. Bowman, Tracy L. Clouthier, Anthony J. Nelson, and Reginald B. Adams. "Observing Environmental Destruction Stimulates Neural Activation in Networks Associated with Empathic Responses." *Social Justice Research* 30, no. 4 (December 2017): 300–322. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11211-017-0298-x.

- Ghosh, Amitav. *The Great Derangement: Climate Change and the Unthinkable*. University of Chicago Press, 2016.
- Giraldo, Omar Felipe. *Political Ecology of Agriculture: Agroecology and Post-Development*. Cham: Springer International Publishing, 2019. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-11824-2.
- Goddard, Mark A., Andrew J. Dougill, and Tim G. Benton. "Why Garden for Wildlife? Social and Ecological Drivers, Motivations and Barriers for Biodiversity Management in Residential Landscapes." *Ecological Economics* 86 (February 2013): 258–73. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolecon.2012.07.016.
- Goldsmith, Elizabeth B. *Social Influence and Sustainable Consumption*. Switzerland: Springer, 2015.
- Gorski, Paul C., and Cher Chen. "Frayed All Over:' The Causes and Consequences of Activist Burnout Among Social Justice Education Activists." *Educational Studies* 51, no. 5 (September 3, 2015): 385–405. https://doi.org/10.1080/00131946.2015.1075989.
- Gorski, Paul C, and Noura Erakat. "Racism, Whiteness, and Burnout in Antiracism Movements: How White Racial Justice Activists Elevate Burnout in Racial Justice Activists of Color in the United States." *Ethnicities* 19, no. 5 (October 2019): 784–808. https://doi.org/10.1177/1468796819833871.
- Gould, Kenneth Alan, and Allan Schnaiberg. "Treadmill Predispositions and Social Responses Population, Consumption, and Technological Change." In *Environmental Sociology*, edited by Leslie King and Deborah McCarthy, 61–70. United States: Rowman & Littlefield Publishers, 2005.
- Grant, John. Greener Marketing. West Sussex, England: Wiley, 2020.
- ——. *The Green Marketing Manifesto*, 2007. https://www.amazon.com/Green-Marketing-Manifesto-John-Grant/dp/0470723246.
- Greenberg, J. B, and T. K Park. "Political Ecology." *Journal of Political Ecology* 1 (1994): 1–12.
- Gregersen, Thea, Gisle Andersen, and Endre Tvinnereim. "The Strength and Content of Climate Anger." *Global Environmental Change* 82 (September 2023): 102738. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2023.102738.
- Grob, Alexander. "A Structural Model of Environmental Attitudes and Behaviour." *Journal of Environmental Psychology* 15, no. 3 (September 1995): 209–20. https://doi.org/10.1016/0272-4944(95)90004-7.
- Guha, Ramachandra. "Radical American Environmentalism and Wilderness Preservation: A Third World Critique." *Environmental Ethics* 11, no. 1 (1989): 71–83.

- ------. "The Authoritarian Biologist and the Arrogance of Anti-Humanism," 1997. https://drive.google.com/file/u/2/d/1jzTILdkAxE68tOTVjUlBp4NYrC8iJQoj/view?usp=sharing&usp=embed facebook.
- Hardin, Garret. "The Tragedy of the Commons." In *Managing the Commons*, edited by Garrett Hardin and John Baden, 1. publ., 20, 28–29. San Francisco, Calif: W H Freeman and Co., 1977.
- Hawken, Paul. "Ecology of Commerce." Executive Excellence 9, no. 10 (October 1992): 3.
- Hayes, Kelly, and Mariame Kaba. *Let This Radicalize You: Organizing and the Revolution of Reciprocal Care*. La Vergne, UNITED STATES: Haymarket Books, 2023. http://ebookcentral.proquest.com/lib/mnsu/detail.action?docID=7220009.
- Heilbroner, Robert L. An Inquiry Into the Human Prospect. New York: Norton, 1974.
- Heing, Bridey. Sustainable Consumption. Greenhaven Publishing LLC, 2022.
- Helvarg, David. The War Against the Greens: The "Wise-Use" Movement, the New Right, and Anti-Environmental Violence. San Fransisco: Sierra Club Books, 1994.
- Hilbig, Benjamin E., Ingo Zettler, Morten Moshagen, and Timo Heydasch. "Tracing the Path from Personality *via* Cooperativeness to Conservation." *European Journal of Personality* 27, no. 4 (July 2013): 319–27. https://doi.org/10.1002/per.1856.
- Hines, J, H.R Hungerford, and A.N. Tomera. "Analysis and Synthesis of Research on Responsible Environmental Behaviour: A Metaanalysis." *Journal of Environmental Education*, 1986.
- Horwitz, Wendy A. "Developmental Origins of Environmental Ethics: The Life Experiences of Activists." *Ethics & Behavior* 6, no. 1 (March 1996): 29–53. https://doi.org/10.1207/s15327019eb0601 3.
- Huebner, Robert B, and Mark W Lipsey. "The Relationship of Three Measures of Locus of Control to Environmental Activism," n.d.
- Hungerford, Harold R., and Trudi L. Volk. "Changing Learner Behavior Through Environmental Education." *The Journal of Environmental Education* 21, no. 3 (March 1990): 8–21. https://doi.org/10.1080/00958964.1990.10753743.
- Iris Allan, Jen. *The New Climate Activism: NGO Authority and Participation in Climcate Change Governance*. Toronto; Buffalo; London: University of Toronto Press, 2020.
- Irvine, Sandy. Beyond Green Consumerism. London: Friends of the Earth, 1989.
- James, Katherine. "Making Change: Recognizing Culture." *Journal of Experiential Education* 19, no. 3 (December 1996): 127–34. https://doi.org/10.1177/105382599601900305.

- James, Kathy. A Qualitative Study of Factors Influencing Racial Diversity in Environmental Education. Unpublished Doctoral Dissertation. Minneapolis, Minnesota: University of Minnesota, 1993.
- Kaiser, Florian G., and Urs Fuhrer. "Ecological Behavior's Dependency on Different Forms of Knowledge." *Applied Psychology* 52, no. 4 (October 2003): 598–613. https://doi.org/10.1111/1464-0597.00153.
- Kashwan, Prakash, and Vaishnavi Behl. "Intersectional Water Justice in India: At the Confluence of Gender, Caste, and Climate Change." In *Climate Justice in India*, edited by Prakash Kashwan, 183–206. New York, NY: Cambridge University Press, 2022.
- Kaur, Raminder. "Nuclear Necropower: The Engineering of Death Conditions around a Nuclear Power Plant in South India." *Political Geography* 85 (March 2021): 102315. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.polgeo.2020.102315.
- Kelly, Petra. "Fighting for Hope," 17–23. London: Chatto and Windus, The Hogarth Press, 1984.
- Kempton, W, J.S Boster, and J.A Hartley. *Environmental Values in American Culture*. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press, 1995.
- Keppens, Gil. "School Outcomes of the School Strikers for Climate: Evidence from Administrative School Attendance Data." *SSRN Electronic Journal*, 2022. https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.4166353.
- Kesenheimer, Jana S., and Tobias Greitemeyer. "Going Green (and Not Being Just More Pro-Social): Do Attitude and Personality Specifically Influence Pro-Environmental Behavior?" *Sustainability* 13, no. 6 (March 23, 2021): 3560. https://doi.org/10.3390/su13063560.
- King, Leslie, and Deborah McCarthy, eds. "Introduction: Environmental Problems Require Social Solutions." In *Environmental Sociology: From Analysis to Action*. Lanham, Md: Rowman & Littlefield Publishers, 2005.
- Klein, Naomi. This Changes Everything: Capitalism vs. The Climate. Simon & Schuster, 2014.
- Kleres, Jochen. "Fear, Hope, Anger, and Guilt in Climate Activism," 2017, 14.
- Kollmuss, A, and J Agyeman. "Mind the Gap: Why Do People Act Environmentally and What Are the Barriers to pro-Environmental Behavior?" *Environmental Education Research* 8, no. 3 (2002): 239–60.
- Kovel, Joel. *The Enemy of Nature: The End of Capitalism or the End of the World?* New York: Zed Books, 2017.
- Kraus, Stephen J. "Attitudes and the Prediction of Behavior: A Meta-Analysis of the Empirical Literature." Accessed February 12, 2024. https://doi.org/10.1177/0146167295211007.

- Kretz, Lisa. "Hope in Environmental Philosophy." *Journal of Agricultural and Environmental Ethics* 26, no. 5 (October 2013): 925–44. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10806-012-9425-8.
- Laduke, Winona. *The Winona LaDuke Reader: A Collection of Essential Writings*. Voyageur Press, 2002.
- LaDuke, Winona. "Traditional Ecological Knowledge and Environmental Futures." *Colo. Journal of Environmental Law and Policy* 5 (1994): 127–48.
- Lambon-Quayefio, Monica P. "Walking for Water and Fuelwood: Welfare Implications for Women and Children in Ghana," June 15, 2023, 1–33. https://doi.org/10. 1002/jid.3818.
- Lawton, J., N. Ahmad, L. Hanna, M. Douglas, and N. Hallowell. "I Can't Do Any Serious Exercise': Barriers to Physical Activity amongst People of Pakistani and Indian Origin with Type 2 Diabetes." *Health Education Research* 21, no. 1 (February 1, 2006): 43–54. https://doi.org/10.1093/her/cyh042.
- Le Billon, Philippe, and Päivi Lujala. "Environmental and Land Defenders: Global Patterns and Determinants of Repression." *Global Environmental Change* 65 (November 2020): 102163. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2020.102163.
- Lee, Yung-Jaan, Chuan-Ming Tung, Piin-Rong Lee, and Shih-Chien Lin. "Personal Water Footprint in Taiwan: A Case Study of Yunlin County." *Sustainability* 8, no. 11 (October 31, 2016): 1112. https://doi.org/10.3390/su8111112.
- LeQuesne, Theo. "From Carbon Democracy to Carbon Rebellion: Countering Petro-Hegemony on the Frontlines of Climate Justice." *Journal of World-Systems Research* 25, no. 1 (March 25, 2019): 15–27. https://doi.org/10.5195/jwsr.2019.905.
- Levine, Debra Siegel, and Michael J Strube. "Environmental Attitudes, Knowledge, Intentions and Behaviors Among College Students." *The Journal of Social Psychology* 152, no. 3 (January 1, 2012): 308–26. https://doi.org/10.1080/00224545.2011.604363.
- Lewis, Martin W. *Green Delusions: An Environmentalist Critique of Radical Encironmentalism.* Durham, NC: Duke University Press, 1992.
- Li, Yanwei. "Governing Environmental Conflicts in China: Lessons Learned from the Case of the Liulitun Waste Incineration Power Plant in Beijing." *Public Policy and Administration* 34, no. 2 (April 2019): 189–209. https://doi.org/10.1177/0952076717709521.
- Linder, Chris, Stephen John Quaye, Alex C. Lange, Ricky Ericka Roberts, Marvette C. Lacy, and Wilson Kwamogi Okello. "'A Student Should Have the Privilege of Just Being a Student': Student Activism as Labor." *The Review of Higher Education* 42, no. 5 (2019): 37–62. https://doi.org/10.1353/rhe.2019.0044.
- Liu, Jiaman, Lichen Yuan, Meiyun Li, Shang-Jen Li, Yulu Sun, and Jiangang Yuan. "Ecological Experiential Learning and Tourists' pro-Environmental Behavior Intentions: The

- Mediating Roles of Awe and Nature Connection." *Heliyon* 10, no. 1 (January 2024): e23410. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.heliyon.2023.e23410.
- Liu, Pihui, Minmin Teng, and Chuanfeng Han. "How Does Environmental Knowledge Translate into Pro-Environmental Behaviors?: The Mediating Role of Environmental Attitudes and Behavioral Intentions." *Science of The Total Environment* 728 (August 2020): 138126. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.138126.
- Lloréns, Hilda. *Making Livable Worlds: Afro-Puerto Rican Women Building Environmental Justice*. University of Washington Press, 2021. https://www.jstor.org/stable/j.ctv22rth5c.
- Lofland, John. "Consensus Movements: City Twinning and Derailed Dissent in the American Eighties." In *Research in Social Movements, Conflicts and Change*, 11:163–96. Greenwich, 1981.
- Long, Douglas. Ecoterrorism. Library in a Book. New York, NY: Facts on File, 2004.
- Lorde, Audre. "The Master's Tools Will Never Dismantle the Master's House." In *This Bridge Called My Back: Writings by Radical Women of Color.*;, edited by Cherrie Moraga and Gloria Anzaldua. Boston, MA: Persephone Press, 1981.
- Maathai, Wangari. *The Green Belt Movement: Sharing the Approach and the Experience*. Rev. ed. New York: Lantern Books, 2003.
- ——. *Unbowed*. New York: Anchor Books, Random House, Inc, 2006.
- Mackay, Caroline M.L., and Michael T. Schmitt. "Do People Who Feel Connected to Nature Do More to Protect It? A Meta-Analysis." *Journal of Environmental Psychology* 65 (October 2019): 101323. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvp.2019.101323.
- Malthus, Thomas. *An Essay on the Principle of Population (Selected and Introduced by D. Winch)*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1992.
- Matejova, Miriam, Stefan Parker, and Peter Dauvergne. "The Politics of Repressing Environmentalists as Agents of Foreign Influence." *Australian Journal of International Affairs* 72, no. 2 (March 4, 2018): 145–62. https://doi.org/10.1080/10357718.2017.1421141.
- Mattheis, Nikolas. "Unruly Kids? Conceptualizing and Defending Youth Disobedience." *European Journal of Political Theory* 21, no. 3 (July 2022): 466–90. https://doi.org/10.1177/1474885120918371.
- McCarthy, D, and Mark Wolfson. "Consensus Movements, Conflict Movements, and the Cooptation of Civic and State Infrastructures." In *Frontiers in Social Movement Theory*, edited by Aldon D. Morris and Carol McClurg Mueller, 273–98. New Haven and London: Yale University Press, 1992.

- McCright, Aaron M., and Riley E. Dunlap. "Cool Dudes: The Denial of Climate Change among Conservative White Males in the United States." *Global Environmental Change* 21, no. 4 (October 2011): 1163–72. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2011.06.003.
- McGregor, Deborah. "Indigenous Feminism Perspectives on Environmental Justice." In *Gendering Globalization, Globalizing Gender: Postcolonial Perspectives*, 113–25. Canada: Oxford University Press, 2020.
- Menton, Mary, and Philippe Le Billon. *Environmental Defenders: Deadly Struggles for Life and Territory*. Routledge Explorations in Environmental Studies. Abingdon, Oxon; Routledge, 2021.
- Michaelson, Marc. "Wangari Maathai and Kenya's Green Belt Movement: Exploring the Evolution and Potentialities of Consensus Movement Mobilization." *Social Problems* 41, no. 4 (1994): 540–61.
- Mies, Maria, and Vandana Shiva. Ecofeminism. 2nd ed. London; New York: Zed Books, 2014.
- Moore, Melissa M., and Janet Z. Yang. "Using Eco-Guilt to Motivate Environmental Behavior Change." *Environmental Communication* 14, no. 4 (May 18, 2020): 522–36. https://doi.org/10.1080/17524032.2019.1692889.
- Moore, Mike. "Coalition Building between Native American and Environmental Organizations in Opposition to Development." In *Environmental Sociology*, edited by Leslie King and Deborah McCarthy, 371–93. United States: Rowman & Littlefield Publishers, 2005.
- Mostafanezhad, Mary (Editor), Roger Norum, Eric J Shelton, and Anna Thompson-Carr. Political Ecology of Tourism: Community, Power and the Environment. New York, NY: Routledge, 2016.
- Murphy-Greene, Celeste. *Environmental Justice and Resiliency in an Age of Uncertainty*. 1st ed. New York: Routledge, 2022. https://doi.org/10.4324/9781003186076.
- Naber, Nadine. "Arab and Black Feminisms: Joint Struggle and Transnational Anti-Imperialist Activism." *Departures in Critical Qualitative Research* 5, no. 3 (September 1, 2016): 116–25. https://doi.org/10.1525/dcqr.2016.5.3.116.
- Næss, Arne. "The Eight Points of Deep Ecology." Earth First!; Tucson 31, no. 1 (2010): 1.
- ——. "The Shallow and the Deep, Long-Range Ecology Movement: A Summary." In *The Selected Works of Arne Naess*, edited by A Drengson. Dordrecht: Springer, 2005. https://doi-org.ezproxy.mnsu.edu/10.1007/978-1-4020-4519-6_85.
- Newton, Huey. "Speech at Boston College." November 18, 1970. www.itsabouttimebpp.com/Huey_P_Newton/pdf/Huey.pdf.
- Nisa, Claudia F., Jocelyn J. Bélanger, Birga M. Schumpe, and Edyta M. Sasin. "Secure Human Attachment Can Promote Support for Climate Change Mitigation." *Proceedings of the*

- National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 118, no. 37 (September 14, 2021): e2101046118. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.2101046118.
- Niță, Mihai R., Denisa L. Badiu, Diana A. Onose, Athanasios A. Gavrilidis, Simona R. Grădinaru, Irina I. Năstase, and Raffaele Lafortezza. "Using Local Knowledge and Sustainable Transport to Promote a Greener City: The Case of Bucharest, Romania." *Environmental Research* 160 (January 2018): 331–38. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2017.10.007.
- Nixon, Rob. *Slow Violence and the Environmentalism of the Poor*. First Harvard University Press paperback edition. Cambridge, Massachusetts London, England: Harvard University Press, 2013.
- Nocella, Anthony J. II, Amber E. George, and J.L. Schatz, eds. *The Intersectionality of Critical Animal, Disability, and Environmental Studies Toward Eco-Ability, Justice, and Liberation*. Lexington Books, 2017.
- Norgaard, Kari Marie. "People Want to Protect Themselves a Little Bit': Emotions, Denial, and Social Movement Nonparticipation." *Sociological Inquiry* 76, no. 3 (2006): 372–96.
- Norgaard, Kari Marie, and Ron Reed. "Emotional Impacts of Environmental Decline: What Can Native Cosmologies Teach Sociology about Emotions and Environmental Justice?" *Theory and Society* 46, no. 6 (December 2017): 463–95. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11186-017-9302-6.
- "Off-Grid Living: Towards Personal Self-Sufficiency," 2024.
- Ojala, Maria. "Confronting Macrosocial Worries: Worry about Environmental Problems and Proactive Coping among a Group of Young Volunteers." *Futures* 39, no. 6 (August 2007): 729–45. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.futures.2006.11.007.
- ——. "Hope and Climate Change: The Importance of Hope for Environmental Engagement among Young People." *Environmental Education Research* 18, no. 5 (October 1, 2012): 625–42. https://doi.org/10.1080/13504622.2011.637157.
- Olander, F, and J Thogerson. "Understanding Consumer Behavior as a Prerequisite for Environmental Protection." *Journal of Consumer Policy* 18, no. 4 (1995): 345–85.
- Ophuls, William. *Ecology and the Politics of Scarcity: Prologue to a Political Theory of the Steady State*. San Francisco: W. H. Freeman & Company, 1977.
- Packard, Vance. The Waste Makers. Harmondsworth, Middlesex: Penugin Books, 1960.

- Paço, Arminda, and Ricardo Gouveia Rodrigues. "Environmental Activism and Consumers' Perceived Responsibility." *International Journal of Consumer Studies* 40, no. 4 (2016): 466–74. https://doi.org/10.1111/ijcs.12272.
- Parampathu, ph. *Veganarchism*. Accessed February 16, 2024. https://theanarchistlibrary.org/library/joseph-parampathu-veganarchism-philosophy-praxis-self-criticism.
- Pavalache-Ilie, Mariela, and Ana-Maria Cazan. "Personality Correlates of Pro-Environmental Attitudes." *International Journal of Environmental Health Research* 28, no. 1 (January 2, 2018): 71–78. https://doi.org/10.1080/09603123.2018.1429576.
- Pellow, David Naguib. "The Animal Enterprise Terrorism Act and the Assault on Academic Freedom." *Earth First!*; *Tucson* 31, no. 1 (2010): 30–31.
- Ponton, Alec, and Sandy Irvine. A Green Manifesto. London: Macdonald Optim, 1988.
- Prendergast, Kate, Bronwyn Hayward, Midori Aoyagi, Kate Burningham, M Mehedi Hasan, Tim Jackson, Vimlendu Jha, et al. "Youth Attitudes and Participation in Climate Protest: An International Cities Comparison Frontiers in Political Science Special Issue: Youth Activism in Environmental Politics." *Frontiers in Political Science* 3 (September 13, 2021): 696105. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpos.2021.696105.
- Rahman, Shazia. "Place and Postcolonial Ecofeminism: Pakistani Women's Literary and Cinematic Fictions." *University of Nebraska Press / Lincoln*, 2019.
- Rajeswar, Jonnalagadda. "Population Perspectives and Sustainable Development." *Sustainable Development* 8, no. 3 (August 2000): 135–41. https://doi.org/10.1002/1099-1719(200008)8:3<135::AID-SD138>3.0.CO;2-K.
- Redclift, Michael. "Sustainable Development (1987–2005): An Oxymoron Comes of Age." Sustainable Development 13, no. 4 (October 2005): 212–27. https://doi.org/10.1002/sd.281.
- Rees, Jonas H., Sabine Klug, and Sebastian Bamberg. "Guilty Conscience: Motivating pro-Environmental Behavior by Inducing Negative Moral Emotions." *Climatic Change* 130, no. 3 (June 2015): 439–52. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10584-014-1278-x.
- Reisch, Lucia A., John Thøgersen, E Matthies, and H Wallis, eds. "Family Socialization and Sustainable Consumption." In *Handbook of Research on Sustainable Consumption*. Cheltenham, UK: Edward Elgar Publishing, 2015.
- Rhodes, Edwardo Lao. *Environmental Justice in America: A New Paradigm*. 1. paperback ed. Bloomington, Ind: Indiana University Press, 2005.
- Rifkin, Jeremy and Greenhouse Crisis Foundation. *The Green Lifestyle Handbook*. 1st ed. New York: H. Holt, 1990.

- Robbins, Paul. "The Hatchet and the Seed." In *Political Ecology: A Critical Introduction*, 3–16. Critical Introductions to Geography. Malden, MA: Blackwell Pub, 2004.
- Rotter, Julian B. "Generalized Expectancies for Internal versus External Control of Reinforcement." *Psychological Monographs* 80, no. 1 (1966): 1–28. https://doi.org/10.1037/h0092976.
- Roussopoulos, Dimitrios I. *Political Ecology: System Change Not Climate Change*. Revised and Expanded. Montréal: Black Rose Books, 2019.
- Rowell, Andrew. *Green Backlash: Global Subversion of the Environmental Movement*. Routledge, 1996.
- Saito, Kohei. Karl Marx's Ecosocialism: Capital, Nature, and the Unfinished Critique of Political Economy. New York: Monthly Review Press, 2017.
- Salazar, Helen Arce, Leon Oerlemans, and Saskia Van Stroe-Biezen. "Social Influence on Sustainable Consumption: Evidence from a Behavioural Experiment." *International Journal of Consumer Studies* 37, no. 2 (March 2013): 172–80. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1470-6431.2012.01110.x.
- Samir, Amin. *Imperialism and Unequal Development*. New York, NY: Monthly Review Press, 1977.
- Saraiva, Artur, Emília Fernandes, and Moritz von Schwedler. "The Green Identity Formation Process in Organic Consumer Communities: Environmental Activism and Consumer Resistance." *Qualitative Market Research: An International Journal* 23, no. 1 (January 8, 2020): 69–86. https://doi.org/10.1108/QMR-05-2018-0048.
- Schmitt, Michael T., Caroline M.L. Mackay, Lisa M. Droogendyk, and Daphne Payne. "What Predicts Environmental Activism? The Roles of Identification with Nature and Politicized Environmental Identity." *Journal of Environmental Psychology* 61 (February 2019): 20–29. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvp.2018.11.003.
- Schultz, P. Wesley. "New Environmental Theories: Empathizing With Nature: The Effects of Perspective Taking on Concern for Environmental Issues." *Journal of Social Issues* 56, no. 3 (January 2000): 391–406. https://doi.org/10.1111/0022-4537.00174.
- Schussman, A., and S. A. Soule. "Process and Protest: Accounting for Individual Protest Participation." *Social Forces* 84, no. 2 (December 1, 2005): 1083–1108. https://doi.org/10.1353/sof.2006.0034.
- Schwartz, Michael, and Shuva Paul. "Resource Mobilization Versus the Mobilization of People: Why Consensus Movements Connot Be Instruments of Social Change." In *Frontiers in Social Movement Theory*, edited by Aldon D. Morris and Carol McClurg Mueller. New Haven and London: Yale University Press, 1992.

- Séguin, Chantal, Luc G. Pelletier, and John Hunsley. "Toward a Model of Environmental Activism." *Environment and Behavior* 30, no. 5 (September 1998): 628–52. https://doi.org/10.1177/001391659803000503.
- Shadaan, Reena. "'I Know My Own Body ... They Lied': Race, Knowledge, and Environmental Sexism in Institute, WV and Old Bhopal, India." In *Climate Chaos: Ecofeminism and the Land Question*, edited by Ana Isla. New York: Inanna Publications & Education Inc., 2019.
- Shiva, Vandana. *Staying Alive: Women, Ecology, and Survival in India*. New Delhi: Kali for Women, 1988.
- ——. "The Vandana Shiva Reader," n.d.
- Simpson, Adam. "Challenging Hydropower Development in Myanmar (Burma): Cross-Border Activism under a Regime in Transition." *The Pacific Review* 26, no. 2 (May 2013): 129–52. https://doi.org/10.1080/09512748.2012.759264.
- Sircar, Srilata. "Reimagining Climate Justice as Caste Justice." In *Climate Justice in India*, edited by Prakash Kashwan, 162–82. New York, NY: Cambridge University Press, 2022.
- Skillington, Tracey. *Climate Justice and Human Rights*. New York: Palgrave Macmillan US, 2017. https://doi.org/10.1057/978-1-137-02281-3.
- Sloot, Daniel, Maja Kutlaca, Vanja Medugorac, and Petra Carman. "Recycling Alone or Protesting Together? Values as a Basis for Pro-Environmental Social Change Actions." *Frontiers in Psychology* 9 (July 26, 2018): 1229. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2018.01229.
- Smartt Gullion, Jessica. Fracking the Neighborhood: Reluctant Activists and Natural Gas Drilling. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press, 2015.
- Smith, Jackie. "Building Political Will After UNCED." In *Transnational Social Movements and Global Politics: Solidarity Beyond the State*, edited by Charles Chatfield, Jackie Smith, and Ron Pagnucco, 175–91. Syracuse, New York: Syracuse University Press, 1997.
- Smith, Rebecca K. "Ecoterrorism'?: A Critical Analysis of the Vilification of Radical Environmentalists as Terrorists." *Environmental Law* 38, no. 2 (2008): 537–76.
- Soutter, Alistair Raymond Bryce, Timothy C. Bates, and René Mõttus. "Big Five and HEXACO Personality Traits, Proenvironmental Attitudes, and Behaviors: A Meta-Analysis." *Perspectives on Psychological Science* 15, no. 4 (July 2020): 913–41. https://doi.org/10.1177/1745691620903019.
- Stables, Andrew. "The Unsustainability Imperative? Problems with 'Sustainability' and 'Sustainable Development' as Regulative Ideals." *Environmental Education Research* 19, no. 2 (April 2013): 177–86. https://doi.org/10.1080/13504622.2012.729813.

- Steg, Linda, Judith I. M. De Groot, Lieke Dreijerink, Wokje Abrahamse, and Frans Siero. "General Antecedents of Personal Norms, Policy Acceptability, and Intentions: The Role of Values, Worldviews, and Environmental Concern." *Society & Natural Resources* 24, no. 4 (February 18, 2011): 349–67. https://doi.org/10.1080/08941920903214116.
- Stern, Mark, and Amy Brown. "'It's 5:30. I'm Exhausted. And I Have to Go All the Way to F*%#ing Fishtown.': Educator Depression, Activism, and Finding (Armed) Love in a Hopeless (Neoliberal) Place." *The Urban Review* 48, no. 2 (June 2016): 333–54. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11256-016-0357-x.
- Stern, Paul C., T Dietz, T Abel, GA Guagnano, and L Kalof. "A Value-Belief-Norm Theory of Support for Social Movements: The Case of Environmentalism." *Hum Ecol Rev* 6, no. 2 (1999): 81–97.
- Taylor, Dorceta. "American Environmentalism." In *Environmental Sociology*, edited by Leslie King and Deborah McCarthy, 87–106. United States: Rowman & Littlefield Publishers, 2005.
- Taylor, Dorceta E. "The Rise of the Environmental Justice Paradigm: Injustice Framing and the Social Construction of Environmental Discourses." *American Behavioral Scientist* 43, no. 4 (January 1, 2000): 508–80. https://doi.org/10.1177/0002764200043004003.
- Teixeira, Andreia, Ronaldo Gabriel, José Martinho, Mário Santos, Aurélio Faria, Irene Oliveira, and Helena Moreira. "Pro-Environmental Behaviors: Relationship With Nature Visits, Connectedness to Nature and Physical Activity." *American Journal of Health Promotion* 37, no. 1 (January 2023): 12–29. https://doi.org/10.1177/08901171221119089.
- Thomas, Leah. *The Intersectional Environmentalist: How to Dismantle Systems of Oppression To Protect People and Planet*. New York, NY: Voracious / Little, Brown and Company; Hachette Book Group, 2022.
- Thompson, Ki'Amber. "Prisons, Policing, and Pollution: Toward an Abolitionist Framework within Environmental Justice." Claremont, 2018. https://scholarship.claremont.edu/pomona_theses/185.
- Toro, Francisco J. "Stateless Environmentalism: The Criticism of State by Eco-Anarchist Perspectives," 2021.
- Trainer, Ted. Abandon Affluence! Zed Books Ltd., 1985) Pp. 1--9, 176--8, n.d.
- Tripp, Winston. "Recycling Behavior as a Gateway to Environmental Movement Participation: Ideational Participation and Recruitment into Environmental Movement Organizations." *Pennsylvania State University*, 2008.
- Tsuru, Shigeto. "In Place of GNP." In *In Place of GNP*, 11–26. De Gruyter Mouton, 2019. https://doi.org/10.1515/9783110891041-002.

- Tutu, Desmond. "We Do Not Need Climate Change Apartheid in Adaptation." In *Fighting Climate Change: Human Solidarity in a Divided World*, edited by UNDP, 166. Human Development Report 2007/08. Houndmills: Palgrave Macmillan, 2007.
- United Nations Children's Fund (UNICEF). "Children Displaced in a Changing Climate," 2023. https://www.unicef.org/reports/children-displaced-changing-climate.
- United Nations Population Fund and Queen Mary University of London. "Taking Stock: Sexual and Reproductive and Health and Rights in Climate Commitments a Global Review." New York: United Nations Population Fund, 2023.
- Vora, Neha. "A Transnational Feminist Critique of the March for Science (New)." In *Feminist and Queer Theory: An Intersectional and Transnational Reader*, edited by L. Ayu Saraswati and Barbara L. Shaw, 128–33. New York: Oxford University Press, 2021.
- Wagner, Travis. "Reframing Ecotage as Ecoterrorism: News and the Discourse of Fear." *Environmental Communication* 2, no. 1 (March 2008): 25–39. https://doi.org/10.1080/17524030801945617.
- Wesselink, Renate, Vincent Blok, and Jarno Ringersma. "Pro-Environmental Behaviour in the Workplace and the Role of Managers and Organisation." *Journal of Cleaner Production* 168 (December 2017): 1679–87. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2017.08.214.
- Westlake, Steve. "A Counter-Narrative to Carbon Supremacy: Do Leaders Who Give Up Flying Because of Climate Change Influence the Attitudes and Behaviour of Others?" SSRN Scholarly Paper. Rochester, NY, October 2, 2017. https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.3283157.
- ——. "The Power of Leading by Example with High-Impact Low-Carbon Behaviour: Emulation, Trust, Credibility, Justice." Phd, Cardiff University, 2022. https://orca.cardiff.ac.uk/id/eprint/159995/.
- Wilkinson, Carrie, and Leah Gibbs. "Beyond Mains Water: A Survey of Households That Are Self-Sufficient for Water in Regional Australia." *Australasian Journal of Environmental Management* 28, no. 2 (April 3, 2021): 149–68. https://doi.org/10.1080/14486563.2021.1919233.
- Woodhouse, Keith Makoto. "Radical Environmentalism and Ecoterrorism in the United States." In *The Oxford Handbook of the History of Terrorism*, by Keith Makoto Woodhouse, 483–500. edited by Carola Dietze and Claudia Verhoeven. Oxford University Press, 2022. https://doi.org/10.1093/oxfordhb/9780199858569.013.025.
- Zhou, Yanfeng, John Thøgersen, Yajing Ruan, and Guang Huang. "The Moderating Role of Human Values in Planned Behavior: The Case of Chinese Consumers' Intention to Buy Organic Food." *Journal of Consumer Marketing* 30, no. 4 (June 21, 2013): 335–44. https://doi.org/10.1108/JCM-02-2013-0482.
- Zibenberg, Alexander, Itay Greenspan, Tally Katz-Gerro, and Femida Handy. "Environmental Behavior Among Russian Youth: The Role of Self-Direction and Environmental

Concern." *Environmental Management* 62, no. 2 (August 2018): 295–304. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00267-018-1032-7.

¹ Davis, Women. Culture. and Politics, 14.

² Le Billon and Lujala, "Environmental and Land Defenders," 1.

³ Le Billon and Lujala, 1.

⁴ United Nations Children's Fund (UNICEF), "Children Displaced in a Changing Climate."

⁵ Bullard, Race, Place, and Environmental Justice after Hurricane Katrina, 120, 127, 254; Ghosh, The Great Derangement: Climate Change and the Unthinkable; Murphy-Greene, Environmental Justice and Resiliency in an Age of Uncertainty; Skillington, Climate Justice and Human Rights.

⁶ Adams and Gruen, *Ecofeminism: Feminist Intersections with Other Animals and the Earth*; A.E. Kings, "Intersectionality and the Changing Face of Ecofeminism"; Bullard, *Dumping in Dixie*; Cole and Foster, *From the Ground Up*; Crenshaw, "Demarginalizing the Intersection of Race and Sex: A Black Feminist Critique of Antidiscrimination Doctrine, Feminist Theory and Antiracist Politics,"; Crosby, *Ecological Imperialism*; Davis, *Freedom Is a Constant Struggle*; Guha, "Radical American Environmentalism and Wilderness Preservation: A Third World Critique"; Guha, "The Authoritarian Biologist and the Arrogance of Anti-Humanism"; Kashwan and Behl, "Intersectional Water Justice in India: At the Confluence of Gender, Caste, and Climate Change"; Laduke, *The Winona LaDuke Reader: A Collection of Essential Writings*; Lambon-Quayefio, "Walking for Water and Fuelwood: Welfare Implications for Women and Children in Ghana"; McGregor, "Indigenous Feminism Perspectives on Environmental Justice"; Mies and Shiva, *Ecofeminism*; Nixon, *Slow Violence and the Environmentalism of the Poor*; Sircar, "Reimagining Climate Justice as Caste Justice"; Taylor, "The Rise of the Environmental Justice Paradigm: Injustice Framing and the Social Construction of Environmental Discourses"; Thomas, *The Intersectional Environmentalist*.

⁷ Barbosa, "The People of the Forest against International Capitalism"; Davis, Women, Culture, and Politics.

⁸ Amster, "Perspectives on Ecoterrorism"; Best and Nocella, *Igniting a Revolution*; Lewis, *Green Delusions: An Environmentalist Critique of Radical Encironmentalism.*; Long, *Ecoterrorism*; Næss, "The Shallow and the Deep, Long-Range Ecology Movement: A Summary."; Smith, "Ecoterrorism'?: A Critical Analysis of the Vilification of Radical Environmentalists as Terrorists"; Wagner, "Reframing Ecotage as Ecoterrorism."

⁹ King and McCarthy, "Introduction: Environmental Problems Require Social Solutions."

- ¹⁴ Bullard, *Dumping in Dixie*. ¹⁴ See Appendix A of *From the Ground Up* for "An Annotated Bibliography of Studies and Articles That Document and Describe the Disproportionate Impact of Environmental Hazards by Race and Income" (Cole and Foster 2000).
- ¹⁵ Agarwal and Narain, "Global Warming in an Unequal World: A Case of Environmental Colonialism (Selected Excerpts)"; Crosby, *Ecological Imperialism*; Guha, "Radical American Environmentalism and Wilderness Preservation: A Third World Critique"; Guha, "The Authoritarian Biologist and the Arrogance of Anti-Humanism"; Laduke, *The Winona LaDuke Reader: A Collection of Essential Writings*; McGregor, "Indigenous Feminism Perspectives on Environmental Justice"; Rahman, "Place and Postcolonial Ecofeminism: Pakistani Women's Literary and Cinematic Fictions."

 $^{^{10}}$ Agarwal and Narain, "Global Warming in an Unequal World: A Case of Environmental Colonialism (Selected Excerpts)."

¹¹ Benton, Natural Relations.

¹² Lambon-Quayefio, "Walking for Water and Fuelwood: Welfare Implications for Women and Children in Ghana"; Mies and Shiva, *Ecofeminism*; Shadaan, "I Know My Own Body ... They Lied': Race, Knowledge, and Environmental Sexism in Institute, WV and Old Bhopal, India"; United Nations Population Fund and Queen Mary University of London., "Taking Stock: Sexual and Reproductive and Health and Rights in Climate Commitments – a Global Review."

¹³ Nocella, George, and Schatz, *The Intersectionality of Critical Animal, Disability, and Environmental Studies Toward Eco-Ability, Justice, and Liberation.*

¹⁶ Kashwan and Behl, "Intersectional Water Justice in India: At the Confluence of Gender, Caste, and Climate Change"; Sircar, "Reimagining Climate Justice as Caste Justice."

¹⁷ Nixon, *Slow Violence and the Environmentalism of the Poor*.

¹⁸ Tutu, "We Do Not Need Climate Change Apartheid in Adaptation," 166.

¹⁹ Taylor, "The Rise of the Environmental Justice Paradigm: Injustice Framing and the Social Construction of Environmental Discourses."

²⁰ Rhodes, Environmental Justice in America, 14.

²¹ Taylor, "American Environmentalism," 102.

²² Crenshaw, "Demarginalizing the Intersection of Race and Sex: A Black Feminist Critique of Antidiscrimination Doctrine, Feminist Theory and Antiracist Politics,."

²³ Davis, Freedom Is a Constant Struggle.

- ²⁷ Moore, "Coalition Building between Native American and Environmental Organizations in Opposition to Development."
- ²⁸ Thompson, "Prisons, Policing, and Pollution: Toward an Abolitionist Framework within Environmental Justice."
- ²⁹ Davis, *Freedom Is a Constant Struggle*; Naber, "Arab and Black Feminisms: Joint Struggle and Transnational Anti-Imperialist Activism."
- ³⁰ Thomas, *The Intersectional Environmentalist*.
- ³¹ Eckersley, *Environmentalism and Political Theory*.
- ³² Næss, "The Shallow and the Deep, Long-Range Ecology Movement: A Summary."
- ³³ Eckersley, Environmentalism and Political Theory, 28.
- ³⁴ Robbins, "The Hatchet and the Seed."
- ³⁵ Rajeswar, "Population Perspectives and Sustainable Development."
- ³⁶ Ehrlich, *The Population Bomb*; Heilbroner, *An Inquiry Into the Human Prospect*; Malthus, *An Essay on the Principle of Population (Selected and Introduced by D. Winch)*; Ponton and Irvine, *A Green Manifesto*.
- $^{37}\ Curran,\ 21st\ Century\ Dissent\ Anarchism,\ Anti-Globalization,\ Environmentalism.$
- ³⁸ Hardin, "The Tragedy of the Commons."
- ³⁹ Ophuls, *Ecology and the Politics of Scarcity: Prologue to a Political Theory of the Steady State.*
- ⁴⁰ Ehrlich, *The Population Bomb*.
- ⁴¹ Commoner, *The Closing Circle: Nature, Man, and Technology*.
- ⁴² Heilbroner, An Inquiry Into the Human Prospect.
- ⁴³ Diani, "The Italian Ecology Movement: From Radicalism to Moderation," 170.

²⁴ Taylor, "American Environmentalism."

²⁵ Naber, "Arab and Black Feminisms: Joint Struggle and Transnational Anti-Imperialist Activism."

²⁶ Featherstone, "Introduction: Thinking Solidarity Politically," 5.

- ⁴⁸ Tutu, "We Do Not Need Climate Change Apartheid in Adaptation," 166.
- ⁴⁹ Guha, "The Authoritarian Biologist and the Arrogance of Anti-Humanism," 20.
- ⁵⁰ Chawla, "Life Paths Into Effective Environmental Action."
- ⁵¹ Barbosa, "The People of the Forest against International Capitalism."
- ⁵² Davis, Women, Culture, and Politics, 14.
- ⁵³ Collins et al., "Living within a One Planet Reality."
- ⁵⁴ Taylor, "The Rise of the Environmental Justice Paradigm: Injustice Framing and the Social Construction of Environmental Discourses," 521.
- ⁵⁵ Lee et al., "Personal Water Footprint in Taiwan."
- ⁵⁶ Tsuru, "In Place of GNP."
- ⁵⁷ Axelrod, "Corporations Have the Biggest Impact on Climate Change."
- ⁵⁸ Goldsmith, *Social Influence and Sustainable Consumption*; Salazar, Oerlemans, and Van Stroe-Biezen, "Social Influence on Sustainable Consumption"; Reisch et al., "Family Socialization and Sustainable Consumption."
- ⁵⁹ Elkington and Hailes, *The Green Consumer Guide*.
- ⁶⁰ Carrier, "Protecting the Environment the Natural Way: Ethical Consumption and Commodity Fetishism"; Irvine, *Beyond Green Consumerism*.
- ⁶¹ Hawken, "Ecology of Commerce."
- ⁶² Goldsmith, Social Influence and Sustainable Consumption.
- ⁶³ Grant, The Green Marketing Manifesto; Grant, Greener Marketing.

⁴⁴ Næss, "The Shallow and the Deep, Long-Range Ecology Movement: A Summary."

⁴⁵ Næss, "The Eight Points of Deep Ecology."

⁴⁶ Commoner, "The Environment"; Gould and Schnaiberg, "Treadmill Predispositions and Social Responses Population, Consumption, and Technological Change"; Robbins, "The Hatchet and the Seed"; Trainer, *Abandon Affluence! Zed Books Ltd.*, 1985) Pp. 1--9, 176--8.

⁴⁷ Diani, "The Italian Ecology Movement: From Radicalism to Moderation."

- ⁶⁴ Cruger, "Greenwashing."
- 65 Packard, The Waste Makers.
- ⁶⁶ Delmas and Burbano, "The Drivers of Greenwashing," 64.
- ⁶⁷ Beder, Global Spin.
- ⁶⁸ Amaral Junior, Almeida, and Klein Vieira, Sustainable Consumption.
- ⁶⁹ Bookchin, "Open Letter to the Ecology Movement"; Lloréns, *Making Livable Worlds: Afro-Puerto Rican Women Building Environmental Justice*.
- ⁷⁰ Klein, This Changes Everything: Capitalism vs. The Climate.
- ⁷¹ Escobar, "Constructing Nature: Elements for a Poststructural Political Ecology," 328.
- ⁷² Redclift, "Sustainable Development (1987–2005)."
- ⁷³ Stables, "The Unsustainability Imperative?"
- ⁷⁴ Samir, *Imperialism and Unequal Development*.
- ⁷⁵ Guha, "The Authoritarian Biologist and the Arrogance of Anti-Humanism," 17.
- ⁷⁶ Escobar, "Constructing Nature: Elements for a Poststructural Political Ecology."
- ⁷⁷ Chowdhury, "Development."
- ⁷⁸ Shiva, "The Vandana Shiva Reader."
- ⁷⁹ Shiva, *Staying Alive*.
- ⁸⁰ Lewis, Green Delusions: An Environmentalist Critique of Radical Encironmentalism.
- ⁸¹ Vora, "A Transnational Feminist Critique of the March for Science (New)."
- 82 Toro, "Stateless Environmentalism: The Criticism of State by Eco-Anarchist Perspectives."
- 83 Newton, "Speech at Boston College."
- 84 Samir, Imperialism and Unequal Development, 1.
- ⁸⁵ Diani, "The Italian Ecology Movement: From Radicalism to Moderation"; Robbins, "The Hatchet and the Seed"; Escobar, "Constructing Nature: Elements for a Poststructural Political Ecology"; Roussopoulos, *Political Ecology*; Cockburn and Ridgeway, *Political Ecology*; Blaikie and Brookfield, *Land Degradation and Society*; Greenberg and Park, "Political Ecology";

Mostafanezhad et al., *Political Ecology of Tourism: Community, Power and the Environment*; Giraldo, *Political Ecology of Agriculture*.

- ⁸⁶ Diani, "The Italian Ecology Movement: From Radicalism to Moderation"; Robbins, "The Hatchet and the Seed"; Roussopoulos, *Political Ecology*.
- ⁸⁷ Escobar, "Constructing Nature: Elements for a Poststructural Political Ecology."
- 88 Diani, "The Italian Ecology Movement: From Radicalism to Moderation."
- 89 Diani.
- 90 Beder, Global Spin.
- 91 Smith, "Building Political Will After UNCED."
- ⁹² Best and Nocella, *Igniting a Revolution*, 10; Trainer, *Abandon Affluence! Zed Books Ltd.*, 1985) Pp. 1--9, 176--8; Iris Allan, *The New Climate Activism: NGO Authority and Participation in Climcate Change Governance*, 95.
- 93 Beder, Global Spin.
- ⁹⁴ Iris Allan, *The New Climate Activism: NGO Authority and Participation in Climcate Change Governance*; "Eco-Terrorism and Lawlessness on the National Forests: Oversight Hearing."
- ⁹⁵ McCarthy and Wolfson, "Consensus Movements, Conflict Movements, and the Cooptation of Civic and State Infrastructures."
- ⁹⁶ Michaelson, "Wangari Maathai and Kenya's Green Belt Movement: Exploring the Evolution and Potentialities of Consensus Movement Mobilization."
- ⁹⁷ McCarthy and Wolfson, "Consensus Movements, Conflict Movements, and the Cooptation of Civic and State Infrastructures."
- ⁹⁸ Lofland, "Consensus Movements: City Twinning and Derailed Dissent in the American Eighties."; Schwartz and Paul, "Resource Mobilization Versus the Mobilization of People: Why Consensus Movements Connot Be Instruments of Social Change."
- 99 Downey, "Elaborating Consensus."
- 100 Gamson, "Constructing Social Protest."
- ¹⁰¹ CrimethInc, "To Change Everything," 5.
- 102 Lorde, "The Master's Tools Will Never Dismantle the Master's House."

- ¹⁰³ Black Flag Sydney, "Indigenous Struggles against Capitalism in 'Australia.""
- ¹⁰⁴ Bookchin, "Open Letter to the Ecology Movement."
- ¹⁰⁵ Kelly, "Fighting for Hope."
- ¹⁰⁶ Saito, Karl Marx's Ecosocialism: Capital, Nature, and the Unfinished Critique of Political Economy, 13.
- ¹⁰⁷ Kovel, The Enemy of Nature: The End of Capitalism or the End of the World?
- ¹⁰⁸ Luxemburg, *The Accumulation of Capital*, 398.
- ¹⁰⁹ Samir, *Imperialism and Unequal Development*, 137–41.
- ¹¹⁰ Shiva, "The Vandana Shiva Reader."
- ¹¹¹ LaDuke, "Traditional Ecological Knowledge and Environmental Futures," 145–47.
- ¹¹² Taylor, "The Rise of the Environmental Justice Paradigm: Injustice Framing and the Social Construction of Environmental Discourses," 521.
- ¹¹³ Frayne, "The Anarchist Diet."
- ¹¹⁴ Parampathu, Veganarchism.
- ¹¹⁵ Curran, 21st Century Dissent Anarchism, Anti-Globalization, Environmentalism.
- ¹¹⁶ Dolgoff, "Letter to Soil of Liberty."
- ¹¹⁷ Bomb, "Egoist Vegan: Some Thoughts on an Individualist Animal Liberation."
- ¹¹⁸ Grob, "A Structural Model of Environmental Attitudes and Behaviour."
- ¹¹⁹ Kaiser and Fuhrer, "Ecological Behavior's Dependency on Different Forms of Knowledge."
- ¹²⁰ Fliegenschnee and Schelakovsky, *Umweltpsychologie Und Umweltbildung: Eine Einführung Aus Humanökologischer Sicht*; Grob, "A Structural Model of Environmental Attitudes and Behaviour."
- ¹²¹ Levine and Strube, "Environmental Attitudes, Knowledge, Intentions and Behaviors Among College Students."
- ¹²² Hines, Hungerford, and Tomera, "Analysis and Synthesis of Research on Responsible Environmental Behaviour: A Metaanalysis."

¹²³ Abdul Latif et al., "Role of Environmental Knowledge in Creating Pro-Environmental Residents"; Bamberg and Möser, "Twenty Years after Hines, Hungerford, and Tomera."

- ¹²⁵ Ajzen and Fishbein, *Belief, Attitude, Intention, and Behavior: An Introduction to Theory and Research*; Liu, Teng, and Han, "How Does Environmental Knowledge Translate into Pro-Environmental Behaviors?"
- ¹²⁶ Das and Ramalingam, "Does Knowledge Translate into Action?"
- ¹²⁷ McCright and Dunlap, "Cool Dudes."
- ¹²⁸ Grob, "A Structural Model of Environmental Attitudes and Behaviour"; Kollmuss and Agyeman, "Mind the Gap: Why Do People Act Environmentally and What Are the Barriers to pro-Environmental Behavior?"
- ¹²⁹ Horwitz, "Developmental Origins of Environmental Ethics."
- 130 Fliegenschnee and Schelakovsky, $\it Umweltpsychologie~Und~Umweltbildung$: Eine Einführung Aus Humanökologischer Sicht.
- ¹³¹ Kleres, "Fear, Hope, Anger, and Guilt in Climate Activism," 511.
- ¹³² Ojala, "Confronting Macrosocial Worries."
- ¹³³ Norgaard and Reed, "Emotional Impacts of Environmental Decline," 464.
- ¹³⁴ Ojala, "Recycling and Ambivalence."
- ¹³⁵ Ojala, "Hope and Climate Change."
- ¹³⁶ Kleres, "Fear, Hope, Anger, and Guilt in Climate Activism," 517.
- ¹³⁷ Kretz, "Hope in Environmental Philosophy."
- ¹³⁸ Cassegård, "Activism without Hope?"
- ¹³⁹ Moore and Yang, "Using Eco-Guilt to Motivate Environmental Behavior Change."
- ¹⁴⁰ Adams, Hurst, and Sintov, "Experienced Guilt, but Not Pride, Mediates the Effect of Feedback on pro-Environmental Behavior."
- ¹⁴¹ Ojala, "Confronting Macrosocial Worries," 735.
- ¹⁴² Rees, Klug, and Bamberg, "Guilty Conscience."

¹²⁴ Kempton, Boster, and Hartley, *Environmental Values in American Culture*.

- ¹⁴³ Bissing-Olson, Fielding, and Iyer, "Experiences of Pride, Not Guilt, Predict pro-Environmental Behavior When pro-Environmental Descriptive Norms Are More Positive."
- ¹⁴⁴ Gregersen, Andersen, and Tvinnereim, "The Strength and Content of Climate Anger."
- ¹⁴⁵ Freiling and Matthes, "Correcting Climate Change Misinformation on Social Media."
- ¹⁴⁶ Kleres, "Fear, Hope, Anger, and Guilt in Climate Activism."
- ¹⁴⁷ Norgaard, "'People Want to Protect Themselves a Little Bit': Emotions, Denial, and Social Movement Nonparticipation."
- ¹⁴⁸ Cassegård, "Activism without Hope?"
- ¹⁴⁹ Rotter, "Generalized Expectancies for Internal versus External Control of Reinforcement."
- ¹⁵⁰ Ajzen, "The Theory of Planned Behavior."
- ¹⁵¹ Bandura, Self-Efficacy.
- ¹⁵² Grob, "A Structural Model of Environmental Attitudes and Behaviour."
- ¹⁵³ Antonetti and Maklan, "Feelings That Make a Difference"; Hines, Hungerford, and Tomera, "Analysis and Synthesis of Research on Responsible Environmental Behaviour: A Metaanalysis"; Carducci et al., "Pro-Environmental Behaviors."
- ¹⁵⁴ Kollmuss and Agyeman, "Mind the Gap: Why Do People Act Environmentally and What Are the Barriers to pro-Environmental Behavior?"
- ¹⁵⁵ Norgaard and Reed, "Emotional Impacts of Environmental Decline," 483.
- ¹⁵⁶ Daskolia, Dimos, and Kampylis, "Secondary Teachers' Conceptions of Creative Thinking within the Context of Environmental Education"; Grob, "A Structural Model of Environmental Attitudes and Behaviour"; Hilbig et al., "Tracing the Path from Personality *via* Cooperativeness to Conservation"; Pavalache-Ilie and Cazan, "Personality Correlates of Pro-Environmental Attitudes"; Soutter, Bates, and Mõttus, "Big Five and HEXACO Personality Traits, Proenvironmental Attitudes, and Behaviors"; Zhou et al., "The Moderating Role of Human Values in Planned Behavior"; Zibenberg et al., "Environmental Behavior Among Russian Youth."
- ¹⁵⁷ Davis, "Measuring Individual Differences in Empathy: Evidence for a Multidimensional Approach."
- 158 Geiger et al., "Observing Environmental Destruction Stimulates Neural Activation in Networks Associated with Empathic Responses."

- ¹⁵⁹ Moore and Yang, "Using Eco-Guilt to Motivate Environmental Behavior Change."
- ¹⁶⁰ Nisa et al., "Secure Human Attachment Can Promote Support for Climate Change Mitigation"; Schultz, "New Environmental Theories."
- ¹⁶¹ Kollmuss and Agyeman, "Mind the Gap: Why Do People Act Environmentally and What Are the Barriers to pro-Environmental Behavior?"
- ¹⁶² Prendergast et al., "Youth Attitudes and Participation in Climate Protest"; Sloot et al., "Recycling Alone or Protesting Together?"
- ¹⁶³ Kollmuss and Agyeman, "Mind the Gap: Why Do People Act Environmentally and What Are the Barriers to pro-Environmental Behavior?"
- ¹⁶⁴ Kollmuss and Agyeman.
- ¹⁶⁵ Sloot et al., "Recycling Alone or Protesting Together?"
- ¹⁶⁶ Steg et al., "General Antecedents of Personal Norms, Policy Acceptability, and Intentions."
- ¹⁶⁷ Ajzen and Fishbein, *Belief, Attitude, Intention, and Behavior: An Introduction to Theory and Research*; Hines, Hungerford, and Tomera, "Analysis and Synthesis of Research on Responsible Environmental Behaviour: A Metaanalysis"; Olander and Thogerson, "Understanding Consumer Behavior as a Prerequisite for Environmental Protection."
- ¹⁶⁸ Bissing-Olson, Fielding, and Iyer, "Experiences of Pride, Not Guilt, Predict pro-Environmental Behavior When pro-Environmental Descriptive Norms Are More Positive"; Grob, "A Structural Model of Environmental Attitudes and Behaviour"; Kesenheimer and Greitemeyer, "Going Green (and Not Being Just More Pro-Social)"; Pavalache-Ilie and Cazan, "Personality Correlates of Pro-Environmental Attitudes"; Kraus, "Attitudes and the Prediction of Behavior"; Fietkau and Kessel, *Umweltlernen: Veränderungensmöglichkeiten Des Umweltbewusstseins. Modelle, Erfahrungen*; Stern et al., "A Value-Belief-Norm Theory of Support for Social Movements: The Case of Environmentalism."
- ¹⁶⁹ Steg et al., "General Antecedents of Personal Norms, Policy Acceptability, and Intentions."
- ¹⁷⁰ Stern et al., "A Value-Belief-Norm Theory of Support for Social Movements: The Case of Environmentalism.," 92.
- ¹⁷¹ Chawla, "Life Paths Into Effective Environmental Action"; Horwitz, "Developmental Origins of Environmental Ethics."
- ¹⁷² Evans, Otto, and Kaiser, "Childhood Origins of Young Adult Environmental Behavior"; James, *A Qualitative Study of Factors Influencing Racial Diversity in Environmental Education*.

- Unpublished Doctoral Dissertation; Kraus, "Attitudes and the Prediction of Behavior"; Liu et al., "Ecological Experiential Learning and Tourists' pro-Environmental Behavior Intentions."
- ¹⁷³ Chawla, "Life Paths Into Effective Environmental Action"; Horwitz, "Developmental Origins of Environmental Ethics."
- ¹⁷⁴ Smartt Gullion, Fracking the Neighborhood.
- ¹⁷⁵ Olander and Thogerson, "Understanding Consumer Behavior as a Prerequisite for Environmental Protection."
- ¹⁷⁶ Fietkau and Kessel, *Umweltlernen: Veränderungensmöglichkeiten Des Umweltbewusstseins. Modelle, Erfahrungen.*
- ¹⁷⁷ Stern et al., "A Value-Belief-Norm Theory of Support for Social Movements: The Case of Environmentalism."
- ¹⁷⁸ James, "Making Change."
- ¹⁷⁹ Gaarder, "Risk & Reward"; Keppens, "School Outcomes of the School Strikers for Climate"; Maathai, *The Green Belt Movement*; Maathai, *Unbowed*; Matejova, Parker, and Dauvergne, "The Politics of Repressing Environmentalists as Agents of Foreign Influence."
- 180 Kollmuss and Agyeman, "Mind the Gap: Why Do People Act Environmentally and What Are the Barriers to pro-Environmental Behavior?"
- ¹⁸¹ Fietkau and Kessel, *Umweltlernen: Veränderungensmöglichkeiten Des Umweltbewusstseins. Modelle, Erfahrungen.*
- ¹⁸² Carducci et al., "Pro-Environmental Behaviors."
- ¹⁸³ Lawton et al., "'I Can't Do Any Serious Exercise.""
- 184 Linder et al., "A Student Should Have the Privilege of Just Being a Student."
- ¹⁸⁵ Conner et al., "Burnout and Belonging."
- ¹⁸⁶ Das and Ramalingam, "Does Knowledge Translate into Action?"
- ¹⁸⁷ Carducci et al., "Pro-Environmental Behaviors."
- ¹⁸⁸ Conner et al., "Burnout and Belonging"; Gorski and Chen, ""Frayed All Over"; Gorski and Erakat, "Racism, Whiteness, and Burnout in Antiracism Movements"; Stern and Brown, ""It's 5."

- ¹⁸⁹ Carducci et al., "Pro-Environmental Behaviors"; Kaiser and Fuhrer, "Ecological Behavior's Dependency on Different Forms of Knowledge."
- ¹⁹⁰ Chawla, "Life Paths Into Effective Environmental Action"; Horwitz, "Developmental Origins of Environmental Ethics."
- ¹⁹¹ Evans, Otto, and Kaiser, "Childhood Origins of Young Adult Environmental Behavior."
- ¹⁹² Norgaard, "'People Want to Protect Themselves a Little Bit': Emotions, Denial, and Social Movement Nonparticipation."
- ¹⁹³ Linder et al., "A Student Should Have the Privilege of Just Being a Student."
- ¹⁹⁴ Conner et al., "Burnout and Belonging."
- ¹⁹⁵ Kaur, "Nuclear Necropower."
- ¹⁹⁶ Carducci et al., "Pro-Environmental Behaviors," 8.
- ¹⁹⁷ Wesselink, Blok, and Ringersma, "Pro-Environmental Behaviour in the Workplace and the Role of Managers and Organisation," 1679.
- ¹⁹⁸ Mattheis, "Unruly Kids?," 468.
- ¹⁹⁹ Linder et al., "A Student Should Have the Privilege of Just Being a Student."
- ²⁰⁰ Gardner et al., "From Publications to Public Actions."
- ²⁰¹ Kaur, "Nuclear Necropower."
- ²⁰² Kaur; Helvarg, *The War Against the Greens*; Le Billon and Lujala, "Environmental and Land Defenders"; Menton and Le Billon, *Environmental Defenders*; Rowell, *Green Backlash: Global Subversion of the Environmental Movement*.
- ²⁰³ Li, "Governing Environmental Conflicts in China."
- ²⁰⁴ Helvarg, The War Against the Greens.
- $^{\rm 205}$ Kaur, "Nuclear Necropower."
- 206 Menton and Le Billon, *Environmental Defenders*.
- ²⁰⁷ Le Billon and Lujala, "Environmental and Land Defenders," 1.
- 208 Alpas, Berkowicz, and Ermakova, $\it Environmental~Security~and~Ecoterrorism;$ Long, $\it Ecoterrorism.$

- ²⁰⁹ Alexander, "Ecoterrorism and Nontraditional Military Threats."
- ²¹⁰ Alpas, Berkowicz, and Ermakova, *Environmental Security and Ecoterrorism*.
- ²¹¹ Alpas, Berkowicz, and Ermakova.
- ²¹² Long, *Ecoterrorism*.
- ²¹³ Alpas, Berkowicz, and Ermakova, Environmental Security and Ecoterrorism.
- ²¹⁴ Long, *Ecoterrorism*; Smith, "Ecoterrorism'?: A Critical Analysis of the Vilification of Radical Environmentalists as Terrorists."
- ²¹⁵ Le Billon and Lujala, "Environmental and Land Defenders," 1.
- ²¹⁶ Li, "Governing Environmental Conflicts in China."
- ²¹⁷ Pellow, "The Animal Enterprise Terrorism Act and the Assault on Academic Freedom."
- ²¹⁸ Simpson, "Challenging Hydropower Development in Myanmar (Burma)."
- ²¹⁹ Davis, Women, Culture, and Politics, 14.
- ²²⁰ Börner, Kraftl, and Giatti, "Blurring the '-Ism' in Youth Climate Crisis Activism"; Feldman, "Who's Striking, and Who's Not?"
- ²²¹ Hesse-Biber, Feminist Research Practice.
- ²²² Kurisu, *Pro-Environmental Behaviors*, 83.
- ²²³ Hesse-Biber, Feminist Research Practice.
- 224 Suen, Huang, and Hao-Hsien, "A Comparison of Convenience Sampling and Purposive Sampling."
- ²²⁵ de Groot and Maynard, Women's Studies in the 1990s Doing Things Differently?
- ²²⁶ Koyama, "A Transfeminist Manifesto."
- ²²⁷ Agarwal and Narain, "Global Warming in an Unequal World: A Case of Environmental Colonialism (Selected Excerpts)."
- ²²⁸ Benton, Natural Relations.
- ²²⁹ Lambon-Quayefio, "Walking for Water and Fuelwood: Welfare Implications for Women and Children in Ghana"; Mies and Shiva, *Ecofeminism*; Shadaan, "I Know My Own Body ... They Lied': Race, Knowledge, and Environmental Sexism in Institute, WV and Old Bhopal, India";

United Nations Population Fund and Queen Mary University of London., "Taking Stock: Sexual and Reproductive and Health and Rights in Climate Commitments – a Global Review."

- ²³⁰ Nocella, George, and Schatz, *The Intersectionality of Critical Animal, Disability, and Environmental Studies Toward Eco-Ability, Justice, and Liberation.*
- ²³¹ Bullard, *Dumping in Dixie*. ²³¹ See Appendix A of *From the Ground Up* for "An Annotated Bibliography of Studies and Articles That Document and Describe the Disproportionate Impact of Environmental Hazards by Race and Income" (Cole and Foster 2000).
- ²³² Agarwal and Narain, "Global Warming in an Unequal World: A Case of Environmental Colonialism (Selected Excerpts)"; Crosby, *Ecological Imperialism*; Guha, "Radical American Environmentalism and Wilderness Preservation: A Third World Critique"; Guha, "The Authoritarian Biologist and the Arrogance of Anti-Humanism"; Laduke, *The Winona LaDuke Reader: A Collection of Essential Writings*; McGregor, "Indigenous Feminism Perspectives on Environmental Justice"; Rahman, "Place and Postcolonial Ecofeminism: Pakistani Women's Literary and Cinematic Fictions."
- ²³³ Kashwan and Behl, "Intersectional Water Justice in India: At the Confluence of Gender, Caste, and Climate Change"; Sircar, "Reimagining Climate Justice as Caste Justice."
- ²³⁴ Nixon, Slow Violence and the Environmentalism of the Poor.
- ²³⁵ Luxemburg, *The Accumulation of Capital*, 398.
- ²³⁶ Lenin, Imperialism: The Highest Stage of Capitalism.
- ²³⁷ Samir, *Imperialism and Unequal Development*, 12.
- ²³⁸ Garrow, Bearing the Cross: Martin Luther King, Jr., and the Southern Christian Leadership Conference.
- ²³⁹ Flores and Greenwood, "The Future of Public Health Must Be Radical," 474.
- ²⁴⁰ Rocheleau and Nirmal, "31 Feminist Political Ecologies: Grounded, Networked and Rooted on Earth \square ."
- ²⁴¹ Tutu, "We Do Not Need Climate Change Apartheid in Adaptation," 166.
- ²⁴² Commission for Racial Justice, United Church of Christ and Chavis, "Toxic Wastes and Race In the United States: A National Report on the Racial and Socio-Economic Characteristics of Communities with Hazardous Waste Sites.," 10.
- ²⁴³ Guha, "The Authoritarian Biologist and the Arrogance of Anti-Humanism," 20.

- ²⁴⁴ Long, *Ecoterrorism*, 21.
- ²⁴⁵ Sovacool et al., "Pluralizing Energy Justice."
- ²⁴⁶ Kurisu, *Pro-Environmental Behaviors*.
- ²⁴⁷ Reger, "What's so Feminist about Feminist Archival Research?"
- ²⁴⁸ Hesse-Biber, Feminist Research Practice.
- ²⁴⁹ Maruyama, "Deconstructive Ecofeminism: A Japanese Critical Interpretation."
- ²⁵⁰ Lorentzen, "Indigenous Feet: Ecofeminism, Globalization, and the Case of Chiapas."
- ²⁵¹ King, "The Ecology of Feminism and the Feminism of Ecology | Libcom.Org."
- ²⁵² Griffin, "Ecofeminism and Meaning."
- ²⁵³ Rao, "Dominant Constructions of Women and Nature in Social Science Literature," 18.
- ²⁵⁴ Hill Collins, *Black Feminist Thought*.
- ²⁵⁵ Haraway, "Situated Knowledges: The Science Question in Feminism and the Privilege of Partial Perspective."
- ²⁵⁶ Harding, The Feminist Standpoint Theory Reader: Intellectual and Political Controversies.
- ²⁵⁷ Mohanty, "Under Western Eyes: Feminist Scholarship and Colonial Discourses."
- 258 Spivak, Nelson, and Grossberg, "4 $\scriptstyle\square$ Can the Subaltern Speak?"
- ²⁵⁹ Chazan and Baldwin, "Grannies, Rockers, and Oil Rigs."
- ²⁶⁰ Harding, *The Feminist Standpoint Theory Reader : Intellectual and Political Controversies*, 136.
- ²⁶¹ Chawla, "Life Paths Into Effective Environmental Action"; Evans, Otto, and Kaiser, "Childhood Origins of Young Adult Environmental Behavior"; Horwitz, "Developmental Origins of Environmental Ethics"; James, *A Qualitative Study of Factors Influencing Racial Diversity in Environmental Education. Unpublished Doctoral Dissertation*; Kraus, "Attitudes and the Prediction of Behavior"; Liu et al., "Ecological Experiential Learning and Tourists' pro-Environmental Behavior Intentions"; Smartt Gullion, *Fracking the Neighborhood*.
- ²⁶² Adams, Hurst, and Sintov, "Experienced Guilt, but Not Pride, Mediates the Effect of Feedback on pro-Environmental Behavior"; Moore and Yang, "Using Eco-Guilt to Motivate

Environmental Behavior Change"; Ojala, "Confronting Macrosocial Worries"; Rees, Klug, and Bamberg, "Guilty Conscience."

- ²⁶³ Bissing-Olson, Fielding, and Iyer, "Experiences of Pride, Not Guilt, Predict pro-Environmental Behavior When pro-Environmental Descriptive Norms Are More Positive."
- ²⁶⁴ Kollmuss and Agyeman, "Mind the Gap: Why Do People Act Environmentally and What Are the Barriers to pro-Environmental Behavior?"
- ²⁶⁵ Antonetti and Maklan, "Feelings That Make a Difference."
- ²⁶⁶ Hines, Hungerford, and Tomera, "Analysis and Synthesis of Research on Responsible Environmental Behaviour: A Metaanalysis."
- ²⁶⁷ {Citation}
- ²⁶⁸ Kleres, "Fear, Hope, Anger, and Guilt in Climate Activism."
- ²⁶⁹ Cassegård, "Activism without Hope?"
- ²⁷⁰ Hayes and Kaba, Let This Radicalize You, 121.
- ²⁷¹ Ojala, "Confronting Macrosocial Worries," 737.
- ²⁷² Grob, "A Structural Model of Environmental Attitudes and Behaviour."
- ²⁷³ Kleres, "Fear, Hope, Anger, and Guilt in Climate Activism."
- ²⁷⁴ Séguin, Pelletier, and Hunsley, "Toward a Model of Environmental Activism."
- ²⁷⁵ Huebner and Lipsey, "The Relationship of Three Measures of Locus of Control to Environmental Activism."
- ²⁷⁶ Carducci et al., "Pro-Environmental Behaviors"; Hines, Hungerford, and Tomera, "Analysis and Synthesis of Research on Responsible Environmental Behaviour: A Metaanalysis."
- ²⁷⁷ Daskolia, Dimos, and Kampylis, "Secondary Teachers' Conceptions of Creative Thinking within the Context of Environmental Education"; Grob, "A Structural Model of Environmental Attitudes and Behaviour"; Hilbig et al., "Tracing the Path from Personality *via* Cooperativeness to Conservation"; Pavalache-Ilie and Cazan, "Personality Correlates of Pro-Environmental Attitudes"; Soutter, Bates, and Mõttus, "Big Five and HEXACO Personality Traits, Proenvironmental Attitudes, and Behaviors"; Zhou et al., "The Moderating Role of Human Values in Planned Behavior"; Zibenberg et al., "Environmental Behavior Among Russian Youth."
- ²⁷⁸ Zibenberg et al., "Environmental Behavior Among Russian Youth."

- ²⁷⁹ Grob, "A Structural Model of Environmental Attitudes and Behaviour"; Zhou et al., "The Moderating Role of Human Values in Planned Behavior."
- ²⁸⁰ Grob, "A Structural Model of Environmental Attitudes and Behaviour."
- ²⁸¹ Zibenberg et al., "Environmental Behavior Among Russian Youth."
- ²⁸² Daskolia, Dimos, and Kampylis, "Secondary Teachers' Conceptions of Creative Thinking within the Context of Environmental Education."
- ²⁸³ Olander and Thogerson, "Understanding Consumer Behavior as a Prerequisite for Environmental Protection."
- ²⁸⁴ Nisa et al., "Secure Human Attachment Can Promote Support for Climate Change Mitigation"; Schultz, "New Environmental Theories."
- ²⁸⁵ Schussman and Soule, "Process and Protest," 1083.
- ²⁸⁶ Conner et al., "Burnout and Belonging."
- ²⁸⁷ Fliegenschnee and Schelakovsky, *Umweltpsychologie Und Umweltbildung*: *Eine Einführung Aus Humanökologischer Sicht*; Grob, "A Structural Model of Environmental Attitudes and Behaviour."
- ²⁸⁸ Hines, Hungerford, and Tomera, "Analysis and Synthesis of Research on Responsible Environmental Behaviour: A Metaanalysis."
- ²⁸⁹ Woodhouse, "Radical Environmentalism and Ecoterrorism in the United States."
- ²⁹⁰ Haves and Kaba, Let This Radicalize You, 153.
- ²⁹¹ Robbins, "The Hatchet and the Seed."
- ²⁹² Cohen, "Propaganda from the Middle of the Road."
- ²⁹³ Hungerford and Volk, "Changing Learner Behavior Through Environmental Education," 261.
- ²⁹⁴ Rifkin and Greenhouse Crisis Foundation, *The Green Lifestyle Handbook*.
- ²⁹⁵ Gould and Schnaiberg, "Treadmill Predispositions and Social Responses Population, Consumption, and Technological Change"; Carrier, "Protecting the Environment the Natural Way: Ethical Consumption and Commodity Fetishism"; Goldsmith, *Social Influence and Sustainable Consumption*; Amaral Junior, Almeida, and Klein Vieira, *Sustainable Consumption*; Heing, *Sustainable Consumption*; Antonetti and Maklan, "Feelings That Make a Difference"; Bazilchuk, "Individual Household Practices Have a Substantial Impact on Consumption"; Amaral Junior, Almeida, and Klein Vieira, *Sustainable Consumption*; Ateş, "Merging Theory of

Planned Behavior and Value Identity Personal Norm Model to Explain Pro-Environmental Behaviors"; Elkington and Hailes, *The Green Consumer Guide*; Paço and Gouveia Rodrigues, "Environmental Activism and Consumers' Perceived Responsibility"; Saraiva, Fernandes, and von Schwedler, "The Green Identity Formation Process in Organic Consumer Communities."

- ²⁹⁶ Olander and Thogerson, "Understanding Consumer Behavior as a Prerequisite for Environmental Protection."
- ²⁹⁷ Delacote, "Are Consumer Boycotts Effective?"; Elkington and Hailes, *The Green Consumer Guide*; Erakat, "Boycott, Divestment, Sanctions"; Feldman, *Boycotts Past and Present*; Friedman, *Consumer Boycotts*; Garrett, "The Effectiveness of Marketing Policy Boycotts"; Rifkin and Greenhouse Crisis Foundation, *The Green Lifestyle Handbook*.
- ²⁹⁸ Westlake, "A Counter-Narrative to Carbon Supremacy"; Westlake, "The Power of Leading by Example with High-Impact Low-Carbon Behaviour."
- ²⁹⁹ Tripp, "Recycling Behavior as a Gateway to Environmental Movement Participation: Ideational Participation and Recruitment into Environmental Movement Organizations."
- ³⁰⁰ Goddard, Dougill, and Benton, "Why Garden for Wildlife?"
- ³⁰¹ "Off-Grid Living: Towards Personal Self-Sufficiency"; Wilkinson and Gibbs, "Beyond Mains Water."
- ³⁰² Duron-Ramos et al., "The Role of Urban/Rural Environments on Mexican Children's Connection to Nature and Pro-Environmental Behavior"; Liu et al., "Ecological Experiential Learning and Tourists' pro-Environmental Behavior Intentions"; Mackay and Schmitt, "Do People Who Feel Connected to Nature Do More to Protect It?"; Schmitt et al., "What Predicts Environmental Activism?"; Teixeira et al., "Pro-Environmental Behaviors."
- ³⁰³ Niță et al., "Using Local Knowledge and Sustainable Transport to Promote a Greener City."
- ³⁰⁴ LeQuesne, "From Carbon Democracy to Carbon Rebellion," 21.